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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements

THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets

September 27, December 28,
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2018 2017
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,346 $ 16,248
Restricted cash 5,283 4,499
Accounts and notes receivable, net of reserves of $232 and $161, respectively 26,006 27,230
Refundable income taxes 3,531 15,335
Other current assets 15,202 13,409
Total current assets 57,368 76,721
Property and equipment:
Land and improvements 149,172 146,887
Buildings and improvements 768,384 759,166
Leasehold improvements 98,665 93,451
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 362,853 351,879
Construction in progress 9,224 5,269
Total property and equipment 1,388,298 1,356,652
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 541,161 496,588
Net property and equipment 847,137 860,064
Other assets:
Investments in joint ventures 4,751 4,239
Goodwill 43,388 43,492
Other 34,042 33,281
Total other assets 82,181 81,012
TOTAL ASSETS $ 986,686 $ 1,017,797

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.




THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets

September 27, December 28,
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2018 2017
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 23,108 $ 51,541
Taxes other than income taxes 17,675 19,638
Accrued compensation 16,732 15,627
Other accrued liabilities 46,269 53,291
Current portion of capital lease obligations 7,120 7,570
Current maturities of long-term debt 10,077 12,016
Total current liabilities 120,981 159,683
Capital lease obligations 22,989 28,282
Long-term debt 262,149 289,813
Deferred income taxes 38,374 38,233
Deferred compensation and other 59,157 56,662
Equity:
Shareholders’ equity attributable to The Marcus Corporation
Preferred Stock, $1 par; authorized 1,000,000 shares; none issued = =
Common Stock, $1 par; authorized 50,000,000 shares; issued 22,841,846 shares at September 27, 2018 and
22,655,517 shares at December 28, 2017 22,842 22,656
Class B Common Stock, $1 par; authorized 33,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 8,347,667 shares at
September 27, 2018 and 8,533,996 shares at December 28, 2017 8,348 8,534
Capital in excess of par 63,138 61,452
Retained earnings 433,022 403,206
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (6,749) (7,425)
520,601 488,423
Less cost of Common Stock in treasury (2,861,396 shares at September 27, 2018 and 3,335,745 shares at
December 28, 2017) (37,670) (43,399)
Total shareholders' equity attributable to The Marcus Corporation 482,931 445,024
Noncontrolling interest 105 100
Total equity 483,036 445,124
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 986,686 $ 1,017,797

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.




THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(in thousands, except per share data)
Revenues:

Theatre admissions

Rooms

Theatre concessions

Food and beverage

Other revenues

Cost reimbursements
Total revenues

Costs and expenses:
Theatre operations
Rooms
Theatre concessions
Food and beverage
Advertising and marketing
Administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Rent
Property taxes
Other operating expenses
Reimbursed costs
Total costs and expenses

Operating income

Other income (expense):
Investment income
Interest expense
Other expense
Loss on disposition of property, equipment and other assets
Equity earnings (losses) from unconsolidated joint ventures, net

Earnings before income taxes

Income taxes

Net earnings

Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net earnings attributable to The Marcus Corporation

Net earnings per share — basic:
Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

Net earnings per share — diluted:
Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

Dividends per share:
Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.

September 27, 2018 September 28, 2017
13 Weeks 39 Weeks 13 Weeks 39 Weeks
52,422 $ 185,035 50,246 $ 166,222
34,467 84,256 32,785 82,844
35,476 123,687 33,290 109,365
19,333 53,972 18,670 52,487
19,813 59,362 18,827 53,629
161,511 506,312 153,818 464,547
9,088 25,776 8,557 23,424
170,599 532,088 162,375 487,971
48,644 164,452 44,403 145,844
10,958 31,026 10,658 30,117
10,168 35,105 9,567 30,666
14,966 43,930 15,125 44,093
6,178 17,317 6,296 17,880
16,813 52,653 16,448 50,370
14,569 42,899 12,993 37,544
2,815 8,351 3,113 9,718
5,018 15,011 5,052 14,575
8,969 27,032 8,300 24,255
9,088 25,776 8,557 23,424
148,186 463,552 140,512 428,486
22,413 68,536 21,863 59,485
442 433 119 229
(3,180) (10,000) (3,367) (9,454)
(497) (1,489) (428) (1,284)
(359) (767) (449) (420)
30 282 (12) 75
(3,564) (11,541) (4,137) (10,854)
18,849 56,995 17,726 48,631
2,626 12,254 6,908 18,571
16,223 44,741 10,818 30,060
(8) 70 (160) (495)
16,231 $ 44,671 10,978 § 30,555
060 § 1.65 041 $ 1.14
052 § 1.47 036 $ 1.02
056 § 1.56 039 $ 1.08
051 § 1.44 037 $ 1.01
0.150 $ 0.450 0.125 § 0.375
0.136 $ 0.409 0.114 $ 0.341




THE MARCUS CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Change in unrealized gain on available for sale investments, net of tax
benefit of $0, $0, $0 and $9, respectively

Amortization of the net actuarial loss and prior service credit related to
the pension, net of tax effect of $42, $125, $35 and $106, respectively

Fair market value adjustment of interest rate swap, net of tax effect of

$70, $70, $0 and $0, respectively

Reclassification adjustment on interest rate swap included in interest
expense, net of tax effect of $17, $49, $0 and $0, respectively

Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive income attributable to The Marcus Corporation

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.

September 27, 2018 September 28, 2017
13 Weeks 39 Weeks 13 Weeks 39 Weeks

16,223  $ 44,741 10,818 § 30,060
- - - (14)

113 340 54 161

192 191 - -

46 134 - -

351 665 54 147
16,574 45,406 10,872 30,207
(8) 70 (160) (495)
16,582 $ 45,336 11,032 § 30,702




THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands )

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:

Earnings on investments in joint ventures
Distributions from joint ventures
Loss on disposition of property, equipment and other assets
Amortization of favorable lease right
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Shared-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Deferred compensation and other
Contribution of the Company’s stock to savings and profit-sharing plan
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and notes receivable
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Income taxes
Taxes other than income taxes
Accrued compensation
Other accrued liabilities
Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from disposals of property, equipment and other assets
Decrease (increase) in other assets

Contribution in joint venture

Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Debt transactions:
Proceeds from borrowings on revolving credit facilities
Repayment of borrowings on revolving credit facilities
Proceeds from borrowings on long-term debt
Principal payments on long-term debt
Debt issuance costs
Repayments of capital lease obligations
Equity transactions:
Treasury stock transactions, except for stock options
Exercise of stock options
Dividends paid
Distributions to noncontrolling interest
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

Supplemental Information:
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized
Income taxes paid (refunded)
Change in accounts payable for additions to property and equipment

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.

39 Weeks Ended
September 27, September 28,
2018 2017

$ 44741 § 30,060
(282) (75)

65 351

767 420

250 250

42,899 37,544

216 209

1,950 1,867

1 4,231

2,949 1,682

1,130 1,024
1,224 (7,896)
(1,793) (2,220)
(18,620) 1
12,749 (8,680)
(1,963) 286
1,105 (1,036)
(10,318) (7,076)
32,329 20,876
77,070 50,936
(45,144) (87,265)

86 4,558

(743) 584

(295) —
(46,096) (82,123)
159,000 254,000
(177,000) (236,500)

— 65,000
(11,711) (35,894)
— (370)
(1,375) (782)
(2,566) (463)

6,902 2,083
(12,277) (10,122)

(65) —

(39,092) 36,952
(8,118) 5,765
20,747 8,705

$ 12,629 $ 14,470
$ 10,321 $ 9,354
(448) 23,025

(9,813) 8,942






THE MARCUS CORPORATION

CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE 13 AND 39 WEEKS ENDED SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

1. General

Basis of Presentation — The unaudited consolidated financial statements for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018 and September 28, 2017 have been
prepared by the Company. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the unaudited
interim financial information at September 27, 2018, and for all periods presented, have been made. The results of operations during the interim periods are not
necessarily indicative of the results of operations for the entire year or other interim periods. However, the unaudited consolidated financial statements should be
read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 28, 2017.

Immaterial Restatement of Prior Year Financial Statements — Beginning in the fiscal 2018 first quarter, the Company began appropriately presenting cost
reimbursements and reimbursed costs on a gross basis and presented two new line items in the consolidated statements of earnings. These cost reimbursements and
reimbursed costs were previously reported on a net basis. Reimbursed costs primarily consist of payroll and related expenses at managed properties where the
Company is the employer and may include certain operational and administrative costs as provided for in the Company's contracts with owners. These costs are
reimbursed back to the Company. As these costs have no added markup, the revenue and related expense have no impact on operating income or net earnings. Cost
reimbursements and reimbursed costs, which totaled $8,557,000 and $23,424,000 for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017, respectively, have been
separately presented in the prior year statement of earnings to correct the prior year presentation. The Company believes this correction is immaterial to the
consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Policies — Refer to the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements (including footnotes) for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2017,
contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year, for a description of the Company’s accounting policies.

During the 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018, there were no significant changes made to the Company’s significant accounting policies other than the changes
attributable to the adoption of the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ,
which was adopted on December 29, 2017. These revenue recognition policy updates are applied prospectively in the Company’s financial statements from
December 29, 2017 forward. Reported financial information for the historical comparable period was not revised and continues to be reported under the accounting
standards in effect during the historical periods.




Depreciation and Amortization — Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment are provided using the straight-line method over the shorter of the
estimated useful lives of the assets or any related lease terms. Depreciation expense totaled $14,556,000 and $43,037,000 for the 13 and 39 weeks ended
September 27, 2018, respectively, and $12,946,000 and $37,368,000 for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017, respectively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss — Accumulated other comprehensive loss presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consists of the
following, all presented net of tax:

Accumulated
Interest Available Other
Rate for Sale Pension Comprehensive
Swaps Investments Obligation Loss
(in thousands)
Balance at December 28, 2017 $ - 3 (1) $ (7,414) $ (7,425)
Amount reclassified to retained earnings on December 29, 2017 in
connection with the adoption of ASU No. 2016-01 - 11 - 11
Balance at December 29, 2017 - - (7,414) (7,414)
Amortization of the net actuarial loss and prior service credit - - 340 340
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 191 - - 191
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 134(1) — - 134
Other comprehensive income 325 - 340 665
Balance at September 27, 2018 $ 325 $ -3 (7,074) $ (6,749)
(1)  Amount is included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of earnings.
Accumulated
Available Other
for Sale Pension Comprehensive
Investments Obligation Loss
(in thousands)

Balance at December 29, 2016 $ 3 3 (5,069) $ (5,066)
Change in unrealized gain on available for sale investments (14) - (14)
Amortization of net actuarial loss and prior service credit — 161 161

Net other comprehensive income (loss) (14) 161 147

Balance at September 28, 2017 $ (1 1) $ (4,908) $ (4,919)

Earnings Per Share - Net earnings per share (EPS) of Common Stock and Class B Common Stock is computed using the two class method. Basic net earnings per
share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted net earnings per share is computed by dividing
net earnings by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for the effect of dilutive stock options using the treasury method.
Convertible Class B Common Stock is reflected on an if-converted basis. The computation of the diluted net earnings per share of Common Stock assumes the
conversion of Class B Common Stock, while the diluted net earnings per share of Class B Common Stock does not assume the conversion of those shares.




Holders of Common Stock are entitled to cash dividends per share equal to 110% of all dividends declared and paid on each share of Class B Common Stock. As
such, the undistributed earnings for each period are allocated based on the proportionate share of entitled cash dividends. The computation of diluted net earnings
per share of Common Stock assumes the conversion of Class B Common Stock and, as such, the undistributed earnings are equal to net earnings for that
computation.

The following table illustrates the computation of Common Stock and Class B Common Stock basic and diluted net earnings per share for net earnings and
provides a reconciliation of the number of weighted-average basic and diluted shares outstanding:

13 Weeks 13 Weeks 39 Weeks 39 Weeks
Ended Ended Ended Ended
September 27, September 28, September 27, September 28,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(in thousands, except per share data)

Numerator:
Net earnings attributable to

The Marcus Corporation $ 16,231 $ 10,978 § 44671 $ 30,555
Denominator:

Denominator for basic EPS 28,180 27,825 28,028 27,7173

Effect of dilutive employee stock options 638 525 606 637
Denominator for diluted EPS 28,818 28,350 28,634 28,410
Net earnings per share - basic:

Common Stock $ 0.60 $ 041 $ 1.65 § 1.14

Class B Common Stock $ 052 $ 036 $ 147 § 1.02
Net earnings per share - diluted:

Common Stock $ 056 §$ 039 $ 1.56  § 1.08

Class B Common Stock $ 051 $ 037 $ 144 $ 1.01
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Equity — Activity impacting total sharecholders’ equity attributable to The Marcus Corporation and noncontrolling interests for the 39 weeks ended September 27,
2018 and September 28, 2017 was as follows:

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
Attributable to
The Marcus Noncontrolling
Corporation Interests
(in thousands)

Balance at December 28, 2017 $ 445,024 $ 100
Net earnings attributable to The Marcus Corporation 44,671 -
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests - 70
Distributions to noncontrolling interests - (65)
Cash dividends (12,277) -
Exercise of stock options 6,902 -
Savings and profit sharing contribution 1,130 -
Treasury stock transactions, except for stock options (2,566) -
Share-based compensation 1,950 -
Cumulative effect of adopting ASU No. 2014-09, net of tax (2,568) -
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 665 —

Balance at September 27, 2018 $ 482931 $ 105

Total
Shareholders’
Equity
Attributable to
The Marcus Noncontrolling
Corporation Interests
(in thousands)

Balance at December 29, 2016 $ 390,112 $ 1,535
Net earnings attributable to The Marcus Corporation 30,555 -
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests - (495)
Cash dividends (10,122) -
Exercise of stock options 2,083 -
Savings and profit sharing contribution 1,024 -
Treasury stock transactions, except for stock options (463) -
Share-based compensation 1,867 -
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 147 -

Balance at September 28, 2017 $ 415,203 $ 1,040

Fair Value Measurements — Certain financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. Some are measured on a
recurring basis while others are measured on a non-recurring basis. Financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis are those that are adjusted to fair
value each time a financial statement is prepared. Financial assets and liabilities measured on a non-recurring basis are those that are adjusted to fair value when a
significant event occurs. A fair value measurement assumes that a transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or
liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
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The Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in one of the following categories:

Level 1 — Assets or liabilities for which fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments as of the reporting date. At
September 27, 2018 and December 28, 2017, respectively, the Company’s $5,762,000 and $4,053,000 of debt and equity securities were valued using Level
1 pricing inputs and were included in other current assets.

Level 2 — Assets or liabilities for which fair value is based on pricing inputs that were either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. At
September 27, 2018 and December 28, 2017, respectively, the $444,000 and $13,000 asset related to the Company’s interest rate swap contracts was valued
using Level 2 pricing inputs.

Level 3 — Assets or liabilities for which fair value is based on valuation models with significant unobservable pricing inputs and which result in the use of
management estimates. At September 27, 2018 and December 28, 2017, none of the Company’s fair value measurements were valued using Level 3 pricing

inputs.

Defined Benefit Plan — The components of the net periodic pension cost of the Company’s unfunded nonqualified, defined-benefit plan are as follows:

13 Weeks 13 Weeks 39 Weeks 39 Weeks
Ended Ended Ended Ended
September 27, September 28, September 27, September 28,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(in thousands)
Service cost $ 231 $ 192§ 694 $ 574
Interest cost 341 339 1,023 1,017
Net amortization of prior service cost and actuarial loss 156 89 466 267
Net periodic pension cost $ 728 $ 620 $ 2,183 § 1,858

Service cost is included in Administrative expense while all other components are recorded within Other expense outside of operating income in the consolidated
statements of earnings.

New Accounting Pronouncements - In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016~
02, Leases (Topic 842) , intended to improve financial reporting related to leasing transactions. ASU No. 2016-02 requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability for most operating leases with lease terms of more than 12 months. The new guidance will also require disclosures to help investors and other
financial statement users better understand the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from the leases. In July 2018, the FASB also issued ASU No.
2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, which amends ASU No. 2016-02 and allows entities the option to initially apply Topic 842 at the adoption
date and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. The Company plans to adopt the new
accounting standard in fiscal 2019 using the optional transition method to apply the new guidance as of the first day of fiscal 2019 rather than as of the earliest
period presented.

In conjunction with the adoption of the new standard, companies are able to elect several practical expedients to aid in the transition to Topic 842. The following
three practical expedients must all be elected together, and the Company intends to elect these practical expedients upon adoption:

e An entity need not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases.
e An entity need not reassess the lease classification for any expired or existing leases.
e An entity need not reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases.

The Company continues to finalize its inventory of leases, assess the additional practical expedients and analyze financial reporting implications. Upon adoption,
the most significant impact of the amendments in ASU No. 2016-02 will be the recognition of the new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for assets currently
subject to operating leases. The Company believes that the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02 will have a material impact on its consolidated balance sheet, but the
adoption is not expected to have a material effect on its consolidated results of operations or cash flows.
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In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) - Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment , which
eliminates Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test that had required a hypothetical purchase price allocation. Rather, entities should apply the same impairment
assessment to all reporting units and recognize an impairment loss for the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, without
exceeding the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Entities will continue to have the option to perform a qualitative assessment for a reporting
unit to determine if the quantitative impairment test is necessary. ASU No. 2017-04 is effective for the Company in fiscal 2020 and must be applied prospectively.
The Company does not believe the new standard will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02, Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income . The amendments
in ASU No. 2018-02 allow a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. The amendments in ASU No. 2018-02 also require certain disclosures about stranded tax effects. The new standard is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and early adoption in any period is permitted. The Company plans to adopt the new accounting standard in fiscal
2019 and has determined that the adoption of ASU No. 2018-02 will not have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

On December 29, 2017, the Company adopted and applied to all contracts ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers , a comprehensive new
revenue recognition model that requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Company elected the modified retrospective method for the
adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 and its related ASU amendments. Under this method, the Company recognized the cumulative effect of the changes in retained
earnings at the date of adoption, but did not restate the 13 or 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017, which continues to be reported under the accounting standards in
effect for that time period.

The Company performed a review of the requirements of ASU No. 2014-09 and related ASUs in preparation for adoption of the new standard. The Company
reviewed its key revenue streams and related customer contracts and has applied the five-step model of the standard to these revenue streams and compared the
results to its current accounting practices. The majority of the Company’s revenues continue to be recognized in a manner consistent with historical practice. See
Note 2 for further discussion.
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On December 29, 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities , which primarily
affects the accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under fair value option, and the presentation and disclosure requirements of financial instruments.
Upon adoption, the Company made an immaterial cumulative effect adjustment to reclassify the unrealized loss of an equity investment previously classified as
available for sale from accumulated other comprehensive loss to opening retained earnings. All future changes in fair value for this equity security will be
recognized through net earnings. In addition, the Company holds two investments that were previously accounted for under the cost method of accounting, which
under ASU No. 2016-01 were deemed to not have readily determinable fair values and thus were not impacted by the adoption of ASU No. 2016-01. The adoption
of this standard did not have a material impact on such investments or the Company's consolidated financial statements.

On December 29, 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments , which addresses eight specific cash flow issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice. The standard must be applied using a
retrospective transition method for each period presented. The adoption of the new standard did not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

On December 29, 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Restricted Cash . ASU No. 2016-18 requires that a
statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted
cash equivalents. As such, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents are included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning of period and
ending of period total amount shown on the statement of cash flows. ASU No. 2016-18 was applied on a retrospective basis and prior periods were adjusted to
conform to the current period’s presentation. Upon adoption, the Company recorded a $2,438,000 decrease in net cash used in investing activities for the 39 weeks
ended September 28, 2017 related to reclassifying the changes in its restricted cash balance from investing activities to cash and cash equivalent balances within
the consolidated statement of cash flows.

On December 29, 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Clarifying the Definition of a Business , which clarifies the
definition of a business with the objective of adding guidance and providing a more robust framework to assist reporting organizations with evaluating whether
transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The adoption of the new standard did not have an effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On December 29, 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-05, Other Income - Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets (Subtopic 610-
20): Clarifying the Scope of Asset Derecognition Guidance and Accounting for Partial Sales of Nonfinancial Assets . ASU No. 2017-05 clarifies the scope and
accounting of a financial asset that meets the definition of an “in-substance nonfinancial asset” and defines the term “in-substance nonfinancial asset.” It also
covers the transfer of nonfinancial assets to another entity in exchange for a non-controlling ownership interest in that entity. The adoption of the new standard did
not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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On December 29, 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-07, Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic
Pension Cost and Net Periodic Benefit Cost . The ASU requires the service cost component of net periodic benefit cost to be presented in the same income
statement line item as other employee compensation costs arising from services rendered during the period. Other components of the net periodic benefit cost are to
be presented separately, in an appropriately titled line item outside of any subtotal of operating income or disclosed in the footnotes. The standard also limits the
amount eligible for capitalization to the service cost component. ASU No. 2017-07 was applied on a retrospective basis and the prior period was adjusted to
conform to the current period’s presentation. During the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017, expense of $428,000 and $1,284,000, respectively, was
reclassified from operating income to other expense outside of operating income in the consolidated statement of earnings.

On December 29, 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting , to provide
clarity and reduce both the diversity in practice and cost and complexity when applying the guidance in Topic 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation . The
amendments in this update provide guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply
modification accounting. The adoption of the new standard did not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On December 29, 2017, the Company early adopted ASU No. 2017-12, Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities , which amends the hedge
accounting recognition and presentation requirements in Accounting Standards Codification 815, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) . ASU No. 2017-12 is
designed to improve the transparency and understandability of information about an entity’s risk management activities and to reduce the complexity of and
simplifying the application of hedge accounting. The adoption of the new standard did not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 2 — Revenue Recognition
Revenue Recognition Policy

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when, or as, the Company satisfies its performance of obligations by transferring the promised services to the
customer. A service is transferred to a customer when, or as, the customer obtains control of that service. A performance obligation may be satisfied over time or at
a point in time. Revenue from a performance obligation satisfied over time is recognized by measuring the Company’s progress in satisfying the performance
obligation in a manner that depicts the transfer of the services to the customer. Revenue from a performance obligation satisfied at a point in time is recognized at
the point in time that the Company determines the customer obtains control over the promised service. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration
entitled to in exchange for those services.
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The disaggregation of revenues by business segment for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018 is as follows (in thousands):

13 Weeks Ended September 27, 2018
Reportable Segment

Hotels/
Theatres Resorts Corporate Total
Theatre admissions $ 52422 $ - 3 - 3 52,422
Rooms - 34,467 - 34,467
Theatre concessions 35,476 - - 35,476
Food and beverage - 19,333 - 19,333
Other revenues (1) 6,893 12,822 98 19,813
Cost reimbursements 218 8,870 - 9,088
Total revenues $ 95,009 $ 75492 % 98 170,599

39 Weeks Ended September 27, 2018
Reportable Segment

Hotels/
Theatres Resorts Corporate Total
Theatre admissions $ 185,035 $ - 3 - $ 185,035
Rooms - 84,256 - 84,256
Theatre concessions 123,687 - — 123,687
Food and beverage — 53,972 — 53,972
Other revenues (V) 23,591 35,453 318 59,362
Cost reimbursements 1,084 24,692 — 25,776
Total revenues $ 333,397 § 198,373 § 318  § 532,088

(1) Included in other revenues is an immaterial amount related to rental income that is not considered contract revenue from contracts with customers under ASC
No. 2014-09.

The Company recognizes revenue from its rooms as earned on the close of business each day. Revenue from theatre admissions, theatre concessions and food and
beverage sales are recognized at the time of sale.

Revenues from advanced ticket and gift card sales are recorded as deferred revenue and are recognized when tickets or gift cards are redeemed. Gift card breakage
income is recognized based upon historical redemption patterns and represents the balance of gift cards for which the Company believes the likelihood of
redemption by the customer is remote. Gift card breakage income is recorded in other revenues in the consolidated statements of earnings. The adoption of ASU
No. 2014-09 did not have an effect on how revenue is recognized for these arrangements.

Other revenues include management fees for theatres and hotels under management agreements. The management fees are recognized as earned based on the
terms of the agreements. The management fees include variable consideration that is recognized based on the Company’s right to invoice as the amount invoiced
corresponds directly to the value transferred to the customer. Other revenues also include family entertainment center revenues and revenues from Hotels/Resorts
outlets such as spa, ski, golf and parking, each of which are recognized at the time of sale. In addition, other revenues include pre-show advertising income in the
Company’s theatres. Pre-show advertising revenue includes variable consideration, primarily based on attendance levels, that is allocated to distinct time periods
that make up the overall performance obligation. The adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 did not have an effect on how revenue is recognized for these arrangements.
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Cost reimbursements primarily consist of payroll and related expenses at managed properties where the Company is the employer and may include certain
operational and administrative costs as provided for in the Company’s contracts with owners. These costs are reimbursed back to the Company. As these costs have
no added markup, the revenue and related expense have no impact on operating income or net earnings. The adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 did not have an effect
on how revenue is recognized for these arrangements.

The timing of the Company’s revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment by customers. However, the Company typically receives payment within
a very short period of time of when the revenue is recognized. The Company records a receivable when revenue is recognized prior to payment and it has an
unconditional right to payment. Alternatively, when payment precedes the provision for the related services, deferred revenue is recorded until the performance
obligation is satisfied.

Revenues do not include sales tax as the Company considers itself a pass-through conduit for collecting and remitting sales tax.

Adoption of ASU No. 2014-09

Due to adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, on the first day of fiscal 2018, the Company recorded a one-time cumulative effect adjustment to the balance sheet as
follows:

Balance at Balance at
December 28, Cumulative December 29,
2017 Adjustment 2017
(in thousands)
Refundable income taxes $ 15,335 §$ 945 §$ 16,280
Other accrued liabilities 53,291 3,296 56,587
Deferred compensation and other 56,662 217 56,879
Retained earnings 403,206 (2,568) 400,638

The one-time cumulative effect adjustment to the balance sheet is due to a change in accounting for the Company’s loyalty programs. The Company offers a
customer loyalty program to its theatre customers called Magical Movie Rewards. The program allows members to earn points for each dollar spent and access
special offers available only to members. The rewards are redeemable at any Marcus Theatre box office, concession stand or food and beverage venue. The
Company also offers a customer loyalty program to its Hotels and Resorts customers which allows members to earn points for each dollar spent in its restaurants.
The rewards are redeemable at any of the Company’s hotel outlets including spas, restaurants, and golf. Under ASU No. 2014-09, the portion of Theatre admission
revenues, Theatre concession revenues and Food and beverage revenues attributable to loyalty points earned by customers are deferred as a reduction of these
revenues until related reward redemption. Through December 28, 2017, the Company recorded the estimated incremental cost of redeeming loyalty points at the
time they were earned in Advertising and marketing expense. The change had the effect of an immaterial reduction of theatre admission revenues and a
corresponding immaterial increase in theatre concession revenues with an offsetting increase in other long-term liabilities based upon historical customer reward
redemption patterns.

17




In accordance with ASU No. 2014-09, the Company has concluded that it is the principal (as opposed to agent) in the arrangement with third-party internet
ticketing companies in regards to sale of internet tickets to customers, and therefore, recognizes ticket fee revenue based on a gross transaction price. As such,
internet ticket fee revenue is deferred and recognized when the related film exhibition takes place on a gross transaction price basis. Through December 28, 2017,
the Company recorded internet ticket fee revenues net of third-party commission or service fees. The change had the effect of increasing other revenues and other
operating expense but had no impact on net earnings or cash flows from operations.

The adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 had the following effect on our consolidated statement of earnings for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018 (in
thousands):

For the 13 Weeks Ended For the 39 Weeks Ended
September 27, 2018 September 27,2018
ASU No. ASU No.
2014-09 As 2014-09

As Reported Impact Adjusted @ Reported Impact Adjusted @
Revenues:
Theatre admissions $ 52,422 $ (605) $ 53,027 $ 185,035 § (1,961) $ 186,996
Theatre concessions 35,476 503 34,973 123,687 1,467 122,220
Food and beverage 19,333 3 19,330 53,972 23 53,949
Other revenues 19,813 904 18,909 59,362 3,609 55,753
Total revenues 170,599 805 169,794 532,088 3,138 528,950
Costs and expenses:
Theatre operations 48,644 165 48,479 164,452 479 163,973
Theatre concessions 10,168 159 10,009 35,105 469 34,636
Advertising and marketing 6,178 (496) 6,674 17,317 (1,549) 18,866
Other operating expenses 8,969 910 8,059 27,032 3,514 23,518
Total costs and expenses 148,186 738 147,448 463,552 2,913 460,639
Operating income 22,413 67 22,346 68,536 225 68,311
Income taxes 2,626 9 2,617 12,254 48 12,206
Net earnings attributable to The Marcus Corporation 16,231 58 16,173 44,671 177 44,494
(1) The amounts reflect each affected financial statement line item as they would have been reported under US GAAP prior to the adoption of ASU No.

2014-09.
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The adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 had the following effect on our consolidated balance sheet as of September 27, 2018 (in thousands):

ASU No. 2014-09

As Reported Impact Adjusted @
Refundable income taxes $ 3531 $ 945 $ 2,586
Total current assets 57,368 945 56,423
Total assets 986,686 945 985,741
Other accrued liabilities 46,269 3,639 42,630
Total current liabilities 120,981 3,639 117,342
Deferred compensation and other 59,157 99 59,058
Retained Earnings 433,022 (2,793) 435,815
Shareholders’ equity attributable to The Marcus Corporation 482,931 (2,793) 485,724
Total equity 483,036 (2,793) 485,829
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 986,686 945 985,741
@) The amounts reflect each affected financial statement line item as they would have been reported under US GAAP prior to the adoption of ASU No.

2014-09.

The Company had deferred revenue from contracts with customers of $28,643,000 and $36,007,000 as of September 27, 2018 and December 29, 2017,
respectively, which includes the one-time cumulative effect adjustment to the balance sheet on the first day of fiscal 2018. The Company had no contract assets as
of September 27, 2018 and December 28, 2017. During the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018, respectively, the Company recognized revenue of
$1,699,000 and $16,688,000 that was included in deferred revenues as of December 29, 2017. The decrease in deferred revenue from December 29, 2017 to
September 27, 2018 was due to theatre gift card redemptions and advanced movie ticket redemptions during the 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018, offset by an
increase in advanced sales/deposits for group events in the hotels and resorts division.

A significant majority of the Company’s revenue is recorded in less than one year from the original contract. As of September 27, 2018, the amount of transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Company’s advanced tickets sales was $4,396,000 and is reflected in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet as part of deferred revenues, which is included in other accrued liabilities. The Company recognizes revenue as the tickets are
redeemed, which is expected to occur within the next 1.3 years. As of September 27, 2018, the amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Hotels and Resorts loyalty program was $192,000, of which, $73,000 is reflected in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet in deferred
compensation and other. The Company recognizes revenue upon reward redemption, which is expected to occur within the next two years.
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As part of the Company’s adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, the Company elected to use the following practical expedients: (i) not to adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component when the Company expects, at contract inception, that the period between the Company's transfer
of a promised product or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that product or service will be one year or less; (ii) not to assess whether promised
goods or services are performance obligations if they are immaterial in the context of the contract with the customer; (iii) to expense costs as incurred for costs to
obtain contracts when the amortization period would have been one year or less, which mainly includes internal sales and development compensation; (iv) not to
disclose remaining performance obligations when the remaining performance obligations have original expected durations of one year or less; and (v) not to
disclose remaining performance obligations when variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied promise to transfer a service that forms a
single performance obligation (which exists in the Company’s management fee contracts and its pre-show advertising contracts).

3. Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Long-Term Debt - During the 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017, the Company issued $50,000,000 of unsecured senior notes privately placed with three
institutional lenders. The notes bear interest at 4.32% per annum and mature in fiscal 2027. The Company used the net proceeds of the sale of the notes to repay
outstanding indebtedness and for general corporate purposes.

Also during the 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017, a note that matured in January 2017 with a balance of $24,226,000 was repaid and replaced with borrowings
on the Company’s revolving credit facility and a new $15,000,000 mortgage note bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%, requiring monthly principal and interest
payments and maturing in fiscal 2020. The mortgage note is secured by the related land, building and equipment.

The Company utilizes derivatives principally to manage market risks and reduce its exposure resulting from fluctuations in interest rates. The Company formally
documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-management objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge
transactions.

The Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements on March 1, 2018 covering $50,000,000 of floating rate debt. The first agreement has a notional
amount of $25,000,000, expires March 1, 2021, and requires the Company to pay interest at a defined rate of 2.559% while receiving interest at a defined variable
rate of one-month LIBOR (2.125% at September 27, 2018). The second agreement has a notional amount of $25,000,000, expires March 1, 2023, and requires the
Company to pay interest at a defined rate of 2.687% while receiving interest at a defined variable rate of one-month LIBOR (2.125% at September 27, 2018). The
Company recognizes derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value (i.e.,
gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and on the type of hedging
relationship. Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting must be adjusted to fair value through earnings. For derivatives that are designated and qualify as
a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and
reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The Company’s interest rate swap agreements are
considered effective and qualify as cash flow hedges. The Company assesses, both at the inception of each hedge and on an on-going basis, whether the derivatives
that are used in its hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items. As of September 27, 2018, the interest rate
swaps were considered highly effective. The fair value of the interest rate swaps on September 27, 2018 was an asset of $444,000 and was included in other long
term assets in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company does not expect the interest rate swaps to have a material effect on earnings within the next 12 months.
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The Company had an interest rate swap that expired in January 2018. The swap agreement covered $25,000,000 of floating rate debt that required the Company to
pay interest at a defined fixed rate of 0.96% while receiving interest at a defined variable rate of one-month LIBOR. The Company’s interest rate swap agreement
was considered effective and qualified as a cash flow hedge from inception through June 16, 2016, at which time the derivative was undesignated and the balance
in accumulated other comprehensive loss was reclassified into interest expense. As of June 16, 2016, the swap was considered ineffective for accounting purposes
and the change in fair value was recorded as an increase or decrease in interest expense. As such, the $13,000 decrease in fair value of the swap for the 39 weeks
ended September 27, 2018 was recorded to interest expense.

Capital Lease Obligations - During fiscal 2012, the Company entered into a master licensing agreement with CDF2 Holdings, LLC, a subsidiary of Cinedigm
Digital Cinema Corp (CDF2), whereby CDF2 purchased on the Company’s behalf, and then deployed and licensed back to the Company, digital cinema projection
systems (the “systems”) for use by the Company in its theatres. As of September 27, 2018, 642 of the Company’s screens were utilizing the systems under a 10-
year master licensing agreement with CDF2. Included in furniture, fixtures and equipment is $45,510,000 related to the digital systems as of September 27, 2018
and December 28, 2017, which is being amortized over the remaining estimated useful life of the assets. Accumulated amortization of the digital systems was
$39,103,000 and $34,471,000 as of September 27, 2018 and December 28, 2017, respectively.

Under the terms of the master licensing agreement, the Company made an initial one-time payment to CDF2. The Company expects that the balance of CDF2’s
costs to deploy the systems will be covered primarily through the payment of virtual print fees (VPF’s) from film distributors to CDF2 each time a digital movie is
booked on one of the systems deployed on a Company screen. The Company agreed to make an average number of bookings of eligible digital movies on each
screen on which a licensed system has been deployed to provide for a minimum level of VPE’s paid by distributors (standard booking commitment) to CDF2. To
the extent the VPF’s paid by distributors are less than the standard booking commitment, the Company must make a shortfall payment to CDF2. Based upon the
Company’s historical booking patterns, the Company does not expect to make any shortfall payments during the life of the agreement. Accounting Standards
Codification No. 840, Leases , requires that the Company consider the entire amount of the standard booking commitment minimum lease payments for purposes
of determining the capital lease obligation. The maximum amount per year that the Company could be required to pay is approximately $6,163,000 until the
obligation is fully satisfied.

The Company’s capital lease obligation is being reduced as VPF’s are paid by the film distributors to CDF2. The Company has recorded the reduction of the
obligation associated with the payment of VPF’s as a reduction of the interest related to the obligation and the amortization incurred related to the systems, as the
payments represent a specific reimbursement of the cost of the systems by the studios. Based on the Company’s expected minimum number of eligible movies to
be booked, the Company expects the obligation to be reduced by at least $5,140,000 within the next 12 months. This reduction will be recognized as an offset to
amortization and is expected to offset the majority of the amortization of the systems.
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The Company is the obligor of several movie theatre and equipment leases with unaffiliated third parties that qualify for capital lease accounting. Included in
buildings and improvements as of September 27, 2018 and December 28, 2017 is $25,648,000 related to these leases, with accumulated amortization of $3,701,000
and $2,300,000 as of September 27, 2018 and December 28, 2017, respectively. Included in furniture, fixtures and equipment as of September 27, 2018 and
December 28, 2017 is $1,712,000 related to these leases, with accumulated amortization of $438,000 and $255,000 as of September 27, 2018 and December 28,
2017, respectively. The assets are being amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful lives or the remaining lease terms. The Company paid $808,000 and
$2,424,000, respectively, in lease payments on these capital leases during the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018, and $874,000 and $2,424,000,
respectively, during 13 and 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017.

4. Income Taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate, adjusted for earnings (losses) from noncontrolling interests, for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018 was
13.9% and 21.5%, respectively, and was 38.6% and 37.8% for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017, respectively. The decrease in the Company’s
effective income tax rate was primarily the result of the reduction in the federal tax rate from 35% to 21% resulting from the December 22, 2017 signing of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. Additionally, during the 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018, the Company recorded income tax benefits related to excess tax benefits
on share-based compensation as well as for reductions in deferred tax liabilities related to tax accounting method changes the Company made subsequent to the
Tax Cut and Jobs Act of 2017. The Company does not include the income tax expense or benefit related to the net earnings or loss attributable to noncontrolling
interest in its income tax expense as the entities are considered pass-through entities and, as such, the income tax expense or benefit is attributable to its owners.

During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2017, the Company was able to make a reasonable estimate of the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017,
including the reduction in the corporate tax rate and the provisions related to executive compensation and 100% bonus depreciation on qualifying property.
However, given the Act’s broad and complex changes, further clarification, interpretation and regulatory guidance could affect the assumptions the Company used
in making its reasonable estimate. Following the guidance of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, any adjustments
to the Company's estimate will be reported as a component of income tax expense and disclosed in the period when any such adjustments have been determined
within the one-year measurement period. During the 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018, the Company did not make any adjustment to the estimates recorded in
fiscal 2017.

5. Business Segment Information
The Company’s primary operations are reported in the following business segments: Theatres and Hotels/Resorts. Corporate items include amounts not allocable to
the business segments. Corporate revenues consist principally of rent and the corporate operating loss includes general corporate expenses. Corporate information

technology costs and accounting shared services costs are allocated to the business segments based upon several factors, including actual usage and segment
revenues.
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Following is a summary of business segment information for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018 and September 28, 2017 (in thousands):

13 Weeks Ended Hotels/ Corporate

September 27, 2018 Theatres Resorts Items Total
Revenues () $ 95,009 75,492 98 S 170,599
Operating income (loss) 14,457 12,024 (4,068) 22,413
Depreciation and amortization 9,867 4,616 86 14,569
13 Weeks Ended Hotels/ Corporate

September 28, 2017 Theatres Resorts Items Total
Revenues () $ 90,273 71,952 150 $ 162,375
Operating income (loss) 15,861 9,659 (3,657) 21,863
Depreciation and amortization 8,399 4,512 82 12,993
39 Weeks Ended Hotels/ Corporate

September 27,2018 Theatres Resorts Items Total
Revenues (1) $ 333,397 198,373 318§ 532,088
Operating income (loss) 66,317 15,737 (13,518) 68,536
Depreciation and amortization 28,751 13,890 258 42,899
39 Weeks Ended Hotels/ Corporate

September 28,2017 Theatres Resorts Items Total
Revenues (1) $ 296,636 190,903 432 $ 487,971
Operating income (loss) 58,576 12,803 (11,894) 59,485
Depreciation and amortization 24,000 13,270 274 37,544

(1 Revenues include cost reimbursements of $9,088 for the 13 weeks ended September 27, 2018 (Theatres - $218, Hotels/Resorts - $8,870); $8,557 for the
13 weeks ended September 28, 2017 (Theatres - $500, Hotels/Resorts - $8,057); $25,776 for the 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018 (Theatres - $1,084,
Hotels/Resorts - $24,692); and $23,424 for the 39 weeks ended September 28, 2017 (Theatres - $1,659, Hotels/Resorts - $21,765).

6. Subsequent Event

On November 1, 2018, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with VSS-Southern Theatres LLC (Movie Tavern) pursuant to which the Company
will acquire substantially all of the assets and assume certain limited liabilities of its Movie Tavern branded movie theatre business (the “Movie Tavern Business™).
The Movie Tavern Business consists of 22 dine-in theatres located in Texas, Pennsylvania, Georgia, Louisiana, New York, Colorado, Arkansas, Kentucky and
Virginia.

The purchase price for the Movie Tavern Business consists of $30,000,000 in cash, subject to certain adjustments, and 2,450,000 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock. The assets purchased will consist primarily of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain intangible assets. The
transaction is expected to close in the first fiscal quarter of 2019, subject to certain customary closing conditions and approvals, including, among others, early
termination or expiration of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act.
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THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and elsewhere in this Form
10-Q are “forward-looking statements” intended to qualify for the safe harbors from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
including the expectation that the acquisition of the Movie Tavern Business will be accretive to earnings, earnings per share and cash flows in the first 12 months
following the closing of the transaction. These forward-looking statements may generally be identified as such because the context of such statements include
words such as we “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect” or words of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our future plans, objectives or goals are also
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which may cause results to differ materially from those
expected, including, but not limited to, the following: (1) the availability, in terms of both quantity and audience appeal, of motion pictures for our theatre division,
as well as other industry dynamics such as the maintenance of a suitable window between the date such motion pictures are released in theatres and the date they
are released to other distribution channels; (2) the effects of adverse economic conditions in our markets, particularly with respect to our hotels and resorts
division; (3) the effects on our occupancy and room rates of the relative industry supply of available rooms at comparable lodging facilities in our markets; (4) the
effects of competitive conditions in our markets; (5) our ability to achieve expected benefits and performance from our strategic initiatives and acquisitions; (6) the
effects of increasing depreciation expenses, reduced operating profits during major property renovations, impairment losses, and preopening and start-up costs
due to the capital intensive nature of our businesses; (7) the effects of weather conditions, particularly during the winter in the Midwest and in our other markets;
(8) our ability to identify properties to acquire, develop and/or manage and the continuing availability of funds for such development, (9) the adverse impact on
business and consumer spending on travel, leisure and entertainment resulting from terrorist attacks in the United States or other incidents of violence in public
venues such as hotels and movie theatres; (10) a disruption in our business and reputational and economic risks associated with civil securities claims brought by
shareholders; and (11) our ability to timely and successfully integrate the Movie Tavern Business into our own circuit. Shareholders, potential investors and other
readers are urged to consider these factors carefully in evaluating the forward-looking statements and are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-
looking statements. The forward-looking statements made herein are made only as of the date of this Form 10-Q and we undertake no obligation to publicly update
such forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.

» o«

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
General
We report our consolidated and individual segment results of operations on a 52- or 53-week fiscal year ending on the last Thursday in December. Fiscal

2018 is a 52-week year beginning on December 29, 2017 and ending on December 27, 2018. Fiscal 2017 was a 52-week year beginning December 30, 2016 and
ended on December 28, 2017.
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We divide our fiscal year into three 13-week quarters and a final quarter consisting of 13 or 14 weeks. The third quarter of fiscal 2018 consisted of the 13-
week period beginning on June 29, 2018 and ended on September 27, 2018. The third quarter of fiscal 2017 consisted of the 13-week period beginning on June 30,
2017 and ended on September 28, 2017. The first three quarters of fiscal 2018 consisted of the 39-week period beginning on December 29, 2017 and ended on
September 27, 2018. The first three quarters of fiscal 2017 consisted of the 39-week period beginning on December 30, 2016 and ended on September 28, 2017.
Our primary operations are reported in the following two business segments: movie theatres and hotels and resorts.

Implementation of New Accounting Standards

During the first quarter of fiscal 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASU No.
2014-09), a comprehensive new revenue recognition model that requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. We selected the modified
retrospective method for adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 and its related ASU amendments. Under this method, we recognized the cumulative effect of the changes
in retained earnings at the date of adoption and did not restate prior periods.

The adoption of the new standard primarily impacted our accounting for our loyalty programs and internet ticket fee revenue. Adopting this new standard
during the first quarter of fiscal 2018 has had the following impact on our financial statements:

. In accordance with the new guidance, the portion of theatre admission revenues, theatre concession revenues and food and beverage revenues attributable
to loyalty points earned by customers will be deferred as a reduction of these revenues until reward redemption. Through December 28, 2017, we
recorded the estimated incremental cost of redeeming loyalty points at the time they were earned in advertising and marketing expense. Our adoption of
the standard will result in an immaterial reduction of theatre admission revenues and a corresponding immaterial increase in theatre concession revenues
with an offsetting increase in other long-term liabilities based upon historical customer reward redemption patterns.

. Prior to the adoption of the new standard, we recorded internet ticket fee revenues net of third-party commission or service fees. In accordance with ASU
No. 2014-09, we believe that we are the principal (as opposed to agent) in the arrangement with third-party internet ticketing companies in regards to sale
of internet tickets to customers, and therefore, we will now recognize ticket fee revenue based on a gross transaction price. This change will have the
effect of increasing other revenues and other operating expense but will have no impact on net earnings or cash flows from operations.

We recorded a one-time cumulative effect reduction to retained earnings, net of income taxes, of approximately $2.6 million during fiscal 2018 related to
the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09.
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In addition, we adopted ASU No. 2017-07, Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost
and Net Periodic Benefit Cost , during the first quarter of fiscal 2018. The ASU requires the service cost component of net periodic benefit costs to be presented in
the same income statement line item as other employee compensation costs arising from services rendered during the period. Other components of the net periodic
benefit cost are now presented separately in other expense outside of operating income and our prior year results have been restated to conform to the new
presentation. As a result of the adoption of ASU No. 2017-07, $497,000 and $1,489,000, respectively, of other expenses were excluded from operating income
during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 and $428,000 and $1,284,000, respectively, of other expenses were excluded from operating income
during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

Finally, beginning in the fiscal 2018 first quarter, we began appropriately presenting cost reimbursements and reimbursed costs on a gross basis and
presented two new line items to the consolidated statements of earnings. These cost reimbursements and reimbursed costs were previously reported on a net basis.
Reimbursed costs primarily consist of payroll and related expenses at managed properties where we are the employer and may include certain operational and
administrative costs as provided for in our contracts with owners. As these costs have no added markup, the revenue and related expense have no impact on
operating income or net earnings. The vast majority of our cost reimbursements relate to our hotels and resorts division due to the larger number of management
contracts in that division. Our prior year results were restated to conform to the new presentation. Cost reimbursements and reimbursed costs totaled $9.1 million
for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 and $8.6 million for the third quarter of fiscal 2017. Cost reimbursements and reimbursed costs totaled $25.8 million for the first
three quarters of fiscal 2018 and $23.4 million for the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. We believe this correction is immaterial to the consolidated financial
statements.

Overall Results

The following table sets forth revenues, operating income, other income (expense), net earnings and net earnings per common share for the third quarter
and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 (in millions, except for per share and variance percentage data):

Third Quarter First Three Quarters
Variance Variance
F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct. F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct.
Revenues $ 1706 $ 1624 § 8.2 51% § 5321 § 488.0 § 44.1 9.0%
Operating income 224 21.9 0.5 2.5% 68.5 59.5 9.0 15.2%
Other income (expense) 3.6) 4.1 0.5 13.9% (11.5) (10.9) (0.6) -6.3%
Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests - 0.2) 0.2 95.0% 0.1 0.5) 0.6 114.1%
Net earnings attributable to The Marcus Corp. $ 162 $ 110 § 52 479% $§ 447 $ 306 § 141 46.2%
Net earnings per common share — diluted: $ 056 $ 039 § 0.17 436% § 156 $ 108 $ 048 44.4%
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Revenues increased during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017 due
to increased revenues from both our theatre division and our hotels and resorts division. Operating income (earnings before other income/expense and income
taxes) and net earnings attributable to The Marcus Corporation increased during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017 due to
improved operating results from our hotels and resorts division. Operating income and net earnings attributable to The Marcus Corporation increased during the
first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 due to improved operating results from both our theatre division and our hotels
and resorts division. Net earnings attributable to The Marcus Corporation also increased during the fiscal 2018 periods compared to the fiscal 2017 periods due to a
lower effective income tax rate.

Operating results from our theatre division were unfavorably impacted by higher film costs and several one-time costs during the third quarter of fiscal
2018. Operating results from our theatre division were favorably impacted by increased attendance from a stronger slate of movies during the first three quarters of
fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017, as well as an increase in our average ticket price and increased concession sales per person due to our
expanded food and beverage offerings. Two new theatres also favorably impacted revenues and operating income from our theatre division during the first three
quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

Revenues from our hotels and resorts division were favorably impacted by increased room revenues, food and beverage revenues and other revenues,
including management fees, during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. Comparisons of our operating income
during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 to our operating income during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017 from our hotels
and resorts division were favorably impacted by the increased revenues, strong cost controls and the fact that our fiscal 2017 results included preopening expenses
and start-up operating losses from our SafeHouse ® restaurant and bar that we opened in downtown Chicago, Illinois, adjacent to our AC Chicago Downtown
Hotel, on March 1, 2017.

Operating losses from our corporate items, which include amounts not allocable to the business segments, increased during the third quarter and first three
quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017 due in part to increased legal expense and increased pension and 401(k)
expenses. Increased long-term incentive compensation expenses resulting from our improved financial performance and stock performance during the past several
years also contributed to increased operating losses from our corporate items during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018, as did an increase in our
accrual for contributions to our charitable foundation during the fiscal 2018 periods.

We did not have any significant variations in investment income or net equity earnings (loss) from unconsolidated joint ventures during the third quarter
and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017. We recognized losses on disposition of property,
equipment and other assets during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 of $359,000 and $767,000, respectively, due primarily to losses related to
old theatre seats and other items disposed of in conjunction with theatre renovations during the period. We recognized losses on disposition of property, equipment
and other assets during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017 of $449,000 and $420,000, respectively, due primarily to losses related to old theatre
seats and other items disposed of in conjunction with theatre renovations during the periods, as well as a write off of disposed equipment at one of our hotels
during the first quarter of fiscal 2017. These losses during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 were partially offset by several gains related to the sale of two
theatres and the sale of our equity interest in a hotel during fiscal 2017. The timing of periodic sales and disposals of our property and equipment varies from
quarter to quarter, resulting in variations in our reported gains or losses on disposition of property and equipment.
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Our interest expense totaled $3.2 million for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to $3.4 million for the third quarter of fiscal 2017, a decrease of
approximately $200,000, or 5.6%. Our interest expense totaled $10.0 million for the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to $9.5 million for the first three
quarters of fiscal 2017, an increase of approximately $500,000, or 5.8%. The decrease in interest expense during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the
third quarter of fiscal 2017 is due to lower borrowing levels during the fiscal 2018 period, partially offset by a higher average interest rate. The increase in interest
expense during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 was due primarily to a higher average interest rate during
fiscal 2018, as a result of increases in short-term interest rates on our variable rate debt. In addition, on March 1, 2018, we entered into two interest rate swap
agreements, effectively converting $50.0 million in variable rate borrowings to a fixed rate. Changes in our borrowing levels due to variations in our operating
results, capital expenditures, share repurchases and asset sale proceeds, among other items, may impact our actual reported interest expense in future periods, as
would further increases in short-term interest rates and changes in the mix between fixed rate debt and variable rate debt in our debt portfolio.

We reported income tax expense for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 of $2.6 million and $12.3 million, respectively, compared to
$6.9 million and $18.6 million, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017. The decrease in income tax expense during the first
three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017, despite an increase in earnings before income taxes, was the result of the reduction
in the federal tax rate from 35% to 21% resulting from the December 22, 2017 signing of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. Our fiscal 2018 first three quarters
effective income tax rate, after adjusting for earnings from noncontrolling interests that are not tax-effected because the entities involved are tax pass-through
entities, was 21.5%, compared to our fiscal 2017 first three quarters effective income tax rate of 37.8%. Our fiscal 2018 income tax expense was also favorably
impacted during the fiscal 2018 third quarter by income tax benefits related to excess tax benefits on share-based compensation as well as for reductions in
deferred tax liabilities related to tax accounting method changes we made subsequent to the Tax Cut and Jobs Act of 2017. As of the date of this report, we
anticipate that our effective income tax rate for the final quarter of fiscal 2018 will likely return to our expected 25-26% range, excluding any changes in our
liability for unrecognized tax benefits, potential further changes in federal and state income tax rates or other one-time tax benefits. Our actual fiscal 2018 effective
income tax rate may be different from our estimated quarterly rates depending upon actual facts and circumstances.
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The operating results of one majority-owned hotel, The Skirvin Hilton, are included in the hotels and resorts division revenue and operating income
during the fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 periods, and the after-tax net earnings or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests is deducted from or added to net
earnings on the consolidated statements of earnings. The operating results of The Lincoln Marriott Cornhusker Hotel were also included in the hotels and resorts
division revenue and operating income during the fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 periods, but because this hotel was not wholly-owned during the third quarter and
first three quarters of fiscal 2017, the after-tax net earnings or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests for this property was deducted from or added to net
earnings on the consolidated statements of earnings during the fiscal 2017 periods. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017, we purchased the noncontrolling
interest of The Lincoln Marriott Cornhusker Hotel from its former minority owner. We reported net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests of $70,000
during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to a net loss of $495,000 during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

Theatres

The following table sets forth revenues, operating income and operating margin for our theatre division for the third quarter and first three quarters of
fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 (in millions, except for variance percentage and operating margin):

Third Quarter First Three Quarters
Variance Variance
F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct. F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct.
Revenues $§ 950 § 903 § 4.7 52% $ 3334 $§ 2966 § 368 12.4%
Operating income 14.5 15.9 (1.4) -8.9% 66.3 58.6 7.7 13.2%
Operating margin (% of revenues) 15.2% 17.6% 19.9% 19.7%

Our theatre division revenues increased during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters
of fiscal 2017 due primarily to increased attendance at comparable theatres due to a stronger film slate, new theatres that we opened during fiscal 2017, and an
increase in our average ticket price and average concession revenues per person, resulting in increased admission revenues and concession revenues. In addition,
our adoption of the new revenue recognition accounting standard and our change in the presentation of cost reimbursements for managed theatres (described
above) resulted in an increase in theatre division revenues of $500,000 and $2.5 million, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018
compared to the restated third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

Our theatre division operating income and operating margin decreased during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017
due primarily to increased depreciation, higher film costs and several one-time costs. Depreciation costs have increased due to our significant recent investments in
many of our theatres. Film costs increased during the fiscal 2018 third quarter primarily due to an unfavorable mix of films compared to the prior year. The top
films of the fiscal 2018 third quarter film slate were summer blockbuster films and film costs, expressed as a percentage of admission revenues, are generally
greater for blockbuster films. Our top film during the third quarter of fiscal 2017 was a less expensive September film. In addition, comparisons to last year were
negatively impacted by the fact that our fiscal 2017 third quarter film cost benefitted from a one-time adjustment for prior periods related to an arrangement with a
particular studio.
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Our theatre division operating income and operating margin increased during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of
fiscal 2017 due primarily to the increased revenues described above, partially offset by higher film costs and depreciation costs. The increase in theatre division
revenues related to our adoption of the new revenue recognition standard described above and our change in the presentation of cost reimbursements for managed
theatres, both without a related material change in operating income, negatively impacted our operating margin during the fiscal 2018 periods compared to the
fiscal 2017 periods. Preopening expenses of approximately $800,000 related to the opening of two new theatres negatively impacted our operating income and
operating margin during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

The following table provides a further breakdown of the components of revenues for the theatre division for the third quarter and first three quarters of
fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 (in millions, except for variance percentage):

Third Quarter First Three Quarters
Variance Variance
F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct. F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct.

Admission revenues $ 524 $ 502 $ 2.2 43% $ 1850 §$ 1662 $ 188 11.3%
Concession revenues 35.5 333 2.2 6.6% 123.7 109.4 14.3 13.1%
Other revenues 6.9 6.3 0.6 10.5% 23.6 19.3 43 21.7%
94.8 89.8 5.0 5.6% 332.3 294.9 37.4 12.7%

Cost reimbursements 0.2 0.5 (0.3) -56.4% 1.1 1.7 (0.6) -34.7%
Total revenues $ 950 $ 903 §$ 4.7 52% $ 3334 $ 2966 $ 368 12.4%

We opened new theatres in April 2017 and June 2017 that favorably impacted our admission revenues and concession revenues during the first three
quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. Excluding these two new theatres (as well as two nearby theatres that are no longer
comparable to last year because their pricing policies were significantly changed), admission revenues and concession revenues for comparable theatres increased
10.4% and 11.5%, respectively, during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

Conversely, the change in how we recognize revenue related to our Magical Movie Rewards customer loyalty program as a result of our adoption of the
new revenue recognition accounting standard (discussed above) resulted in a decrease in admission revenues of approximately $600,000 and $2.0 million,
respectively, and an increase in concession revenues of approximately $500,000 and $1.5 million, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of
fiscal 2018. Excluding the impact of these changes in revenue recognition from the fiscal 2018 periods, admission revenues increased 5.5% and 12.5%,
respectively, and concession revenues increased 5.1% and 11.8%, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third
quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017.
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According to data received from Rentrak (a national box office reporting service for the theatre industry) and compiled by us to evaluate our fiscal 2018
third quarter and first three quarter results, United States box office receipts (including new theatres) increased 6.9% during our fiscal 2018 third quarter and
increased 10.0% during our fiscal 2018 first three quarters, indicating that our admission revenues during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 underperformed the
industry by 1.4 percentage points and our admission revenues during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 outperformed the industry by 2.5 percentage points, both
after adjusting for the above described impact of the change in accounting for revenues related to our loyalty program. Even though we slightly underperformed the
industry during the most recent quarter, we have still outperformed the industry average during 16 of the last 19 quarters. We believe our underperformance of the
industry average during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 can be attributed to an unfavorable film mix and the impact of major league baseball in several of our key
markets, as further discussed below. The performance of our Marcus Wehrenberg theatres, which we acquired in December 2016, many of which have
subsequently undergone significant renovations, continued to be particularly strong during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the
prior year, contributing to our year-to-date outperformance of the industry average.

Our average ticket price increased 1.3% and 4.6%, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third
quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017. The increases were partially attributable to modest price increases we implemented in October 2017. In addition, the
fact that we have increased our number of premium large format (PLF) screens, along with a corresponding price premium, also contributed to our increased
average ticket price during the fiscal 2018 periods. Conversely, we believe that a change in film product mix had an unfavorable impact on our average ticket price
during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017. Our top film during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 was the PG-rated family
movie Incredibles 2 (resulting in a higher percentage of lower-priced children’s tickets sold), compared to our top film during the third quarter of fiscal 2017,
which was the R-rated film /7 (resulting in a higher percentage of higher-priced adult tickets sold). The increase in average ticket price contributed approximately
$650,000, or 30%, to our comparable theatre admission revenues during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017. The increase
in average ticket price contributed approximately $7.6 million, or 44%, to our comparable theatre admission revenues during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018
compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

Our concession revenues increased during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of
fiscal 2017 due to the addition of new theatres, an increase in attendance at comparable theatres, an increase in our average concession revenues per person and the
above-described increase related to the change in accounting for loyalty program revenues. Our average concession revenues per person increased by 3.5% and
6.3%, respectively, during our third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017. The increase
in our average concession revenues per person contributed approximately $1.2 million, or 53%, to our comparable theatre concession revenues during the third
quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017. The increase in our average concession revenues per person contributed approximately $6.0
million, or 48%, to our comparable theatre concession revenues during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

A change in concession product mix, including increased sales of non-traditional food and beverage items from our increased number of Take Five

Lounge SM Zaffiro’s® Express , Reel Sizzle ® and in-theatre dining outlets, as well as modest selected price increases we introduced in October 2017, were the
primary reasons for our increased average concession sales per person during the fiscal 2018 periods. Conversely, we believe that the above described change in
film product mix during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 likely reduced the growth of our overall average concession sales per person during the fiscal 2018 third
quarter, as family-oriented films such as the top film during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 described above tend not to contribute to sales of non-traditional food
and beverage items as much as adult-oriented films.
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Other revenues increased by approximately $600,000 and $4.3 million, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018
compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017. All of the increase during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 and approximately $3.5 million of the
increase during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 related to the change in how we now report internet surcharge ticketing fees. Prior to the new revenue
recognition standard, we recorded these fees net of third-party commission or service fees. Under the new guidance that we adopted in the first quarter of fiscal
2018 (discussed above), we are recognizing ticket fee revenues based on a gross transaction price. This change had the effect of increasing other revenues and
increasing other operating expense, but had no impact on operating income or net earnings. The remaining increase in other revenues is attributable primarily to
increased preshow advertising income.

Total theatre attendance increased 3.0% and 6.4%, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third
quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017. Excluding the new theatres and, correspondingly, two theatres that are no longer comparable to last year because
their pricing policies were significantly changed as a result of the new theatres we opened nearby, comparable theatre attendance increased 5.9% during the first
three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017, due to a stronger film slate in the fiscal 2018 periods. We believe a combination of
several additional factors continue to contribute to our overall increase in attendance and our above-described industry outperformance during the first three
quarters of fiscal 2018. In addition to the $5 Tuesday promotion that continued to perform well, we believe our fiscal 2018 third quarter and first three quarters

attendance was favorably impacted by increased attendance at theatres that have added our spacious new DreamLounger SM ¢lectric all-recliner seating, our

proprietary Ultra Screen DLX® and Super Screen DLX SMPLF screens and our unique food and beverage outlets described above, particularly at our Marcus
Wehrenberg theatres. We also believe that we continue to recognize the benefits of our customer loyalty program, introduced in March 2014 and which now has
nearly three million members.

Attendance and admission revenues increased during eight of the 13 weeks of the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the comparable weeks during
the third quarter of fiscal 2017, with the majority of the increases occurring in July and August, led by the strong carryover of two films that opened during the
fiscal 2018 second quarter, Incredibles 2 and Jurassic World: Fallen Kingdom , and stronger films in August compared to a relatively weak film slate during
August 2017. Conversely, last year’s top film, /¢, opened in September, creating a very challenging comparison in September 2018. We also believe that the film
mix during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017 may have had a negative impact on our comparative performance versus the
overall industry numbers, particularly during August and September. One of the top films during those two months, Crazy Rich Asians , performed extremely well
on the east and west coasts, but generally underperformed in our Midwestern markets. We also believe that the fact that the major league baseball teams in three of
our key markets, Milwaukee, Chicago and St. Louis, were competing for the playoffs during the final month of their season, September 2018, had a negative
impact on our attendance compared to the industry as a whole.
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Our highest grossing films during the fiscal 2018 third quarter were Incredibles 2 , Jurassic World: Fallen Kingdom , Ant-Man and the Wasp , Mission:
Impossible — Fallout and Hotel Transylvania 3: Summer Vacation . The film slate during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 was weighted slightly less towards strong
blockbuster movies, as evidenced by the fact that our top five films during our fiscal 2018 third quarter accounted for 37% of our total admission revenues,
compared to 48% for the top five films during the third quarter of fiscal 2017, both expressed as a percentage of the total admission revenues for the period. Under
normal circumstances, this reduced reliance on blockbuster films during the fiscal 2018 period should have had the effect of reducing our film rental costs during
the period, but as noted above, this was not the case during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 due to the unusual change in the film product mix compared to the prior
year.

Film product for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018 has, through the date of this report, produced admission revenues greater than the same period of fiscal
2017. Top performing films during this period have included films such as Venom , A Star is Born , Halloween , and Bohemian Rhapsody . Other films scheduled
to be released during the traditionally busy November and December time period that may generate substantial box office interest include Dr. Suess’ The Grinch ,
Fantastic Beasts: The Crimes of Grindelwald , Ralph Breaks the Internet: Wreck-It , Creed Il , Mary Poppins Returns , Bumblebee , Aquaman and Holmes and
Watson . Comparisons to last year’s December film slate may be challenging due to the strong performance of the films Star Wars: The Last Jedi and Jumanji:
Welcome to the Jungle during December 2017. We also have seen some negative impact on October 2018 attendance in our Milwaukee market due to the impact
of playoff baseball. Revenues for the theatre business and the motion picture industry in general are heavily dependent on the general audience appeal of available
films, together with studio marketing, advertising and support campaigns and the maintenance of the current “windows” between the date a film is released in
theatres and the date a film is released to other channels, including video on-demand and DVD. These are factors over which we have no control.

We ended the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 with a total of 884 company-owned screens in 67 theatres and 6 managed screens in one theatre, compared
to 884 company-owned screens in 67 theatres and 11 managed screens in two theatres at the end of the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. We opened a new 10-
screen theatre in Shakopee, Minnesota in April 2017 and a new eight-screen all in-theatre dining theatre, branded BistroPlex SM , in Greendale, Wisconsin in late
June 2017. We ceased managing one five-screen theatre during the second quarter of fiscal 2018 and we closed and sold one eight-screen budget-oriented theatre
during the second quarter of fiscal 2017.
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We converted one Marcus Wehrenberg theatre to all-DreamLounger recliner seating during the first quarter of fiscal 2018, four more theatres, including
one Marcus Wehrenberg theatre, to all-DreamLounger recliner seating during the second quarter of fiscal 2018, and one theatre to all-DreamLounger recliner
seating during the third quarter of fiscal 2018. We are currently in the process of converting one more theatre to all-DreamLounger recliner seating, with
completion expected during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. We opened two new Zaffiro’s Express outlets and one new Take Five Lounge outlet during the
second quarter of fiscal 2018. We also converted five existing screens to Ultra Screen and Super Screen DLX auditoriums during the second quarter of fiscal 2018
and one existing screen to a Super Screen DLX auditorium during the third quarter of fiscal 2018. We have also begun construction on our second BistroPlex to be
located in Brookfield, Wisconsin.

On November 1, 2018, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement™) with VSS-Southern Theatres LLC, Movie Tavern, Inc.,
Movie Tavern Theatres, LLC and TGS Beverage Company, LLC (collectively, “Sellers”) pursuant to which we will acquire substantially all of the assets and
assume certain limited liabilities of Sellers’ Movie Tavern branded movie theatre business (the “Movie Tavern Business”). The Movie Tavern Business consists of
22 dine-in theatres located in Texas, Pennsylvania, Georgia, Louisiana, New York, Colorado, Arkansas, Kentucky and Virginia.

The purchase price for the Movie Tavern Business consists of $30 million in cash, subject to certain adjustments, and 2,450,000 shares of our common
stock. We will finance the cash portion of the purchase price from existing sources of cash. The transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of fiscal 2019.
Completion of the transaction is subject to certain customary closing conditions and approvals, including, among others, early termination or expiration of the
applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act. We anticipate that the acquired Movie Tavern Business will be accretive to earnings, earnings per share
and cash flow in the first 12 months following the closing of the transaction.

There are representations and warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement which were made by the parties to each other as of specific dates. The
assertions embodied in these representations and warranties were made solely for purposes of the Purchase Agreement and may be subject to important
qualifications and limitations agreed to by the parties in connection with negotiating its terms. Moreover, certain representations and warranties may not be
accurate or complete as of any specified date because they are subject to a contractual standard of materiality that is different from certain standards generally
applicable to shareholders or were used for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties rather than establishing matters as facts. Based upon the foregoing
reasons, investors should not rely on the representations and warranties as statements of factual information.

The foregoing description of the Purchase Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
Purchase Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and is incorporated herein by reference.

Hotels and Resorts

The following table sets forth revenues, operating income and operating margin for our hotels and resorts division for the third quarter and first three
quarters of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 (in millions, except for variance percentage and operating margin):

Third Quarter First Three Quarters
Variance Variance
F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct. F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct.
Revenues $ 755 § 719 § 3.6 49% $ 1984 $§ 1909 § 7.5 3.9%
Operating income 12.0 9.7 23 24.5% 15.7 12.8 2.9 22.9%
Operating margin (% of revenues) 15.9% 13.4% 7.9% 6.7%

The following table provides a further breakdown of the components of revenues for the hotels and resorts division for the third quarter and first three
quarters of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 (in millions, except for variance percentage):

Third Quarter First Three Quarters
Variance Variance
F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct. F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct.

Room revenues $ 345 §$§ 328 §$ 1.7 51% $ 842 $ 828 $ 1.4 1.7%
Food/beverage revenues 19.3 18.6 0.7 3.6% 54.0 52.5 1.5 2.8%
Other revenues 12.8 12.4 0.4 3.1% 35.5 33.8 1.7 4.9%
66.6 63.8 2.8 4.3% 173.7 169.1 4.6 2.7%

Cost reimbursements 8.9 8.1 0.8 10.1% 24.7 21.8 2.9 13.4%
Total revenues $ 755 $ 719 § 3.6 49% $ 1984 $ 1909 $ 7.5 3.9%

Division revenues increased during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal
2017 due to increased room revenues, food and beverage revenues, other revenues and increased cost reimbursements from our managed hotels. Room revenues
increased due primarily to increased group business during the fiscal 2018 periods compared to the fiscal 2017 periods. Food and beverage revenues increased
during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 primarily due to our SafeHouse restaurant and bar in Chicago, Illinois, which opened on March 1, 2017. Other
revenues increased during the fiscal 2018 periods due to increased management fees and rental income. Cost reimbursements, described above, also increased
during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017 due to an increase in the number
of management contracts in this division.
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Our hotels and resorts division operating income and operating margin increased during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared
to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2017 due in part to increased management fees, improved performance at several owned hotels and overall
strong cost control management. In addition, comparisons to the fiscal 2017 periods were also favorably impacted by the fact that the prior year results included
preopening expenses and startup operating losses related to the new SafeHouse Chicago.

The following table sets forth certain operating statistics for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, including our average
occupancy percentage (number of occupied rooms as a percentage of available rooms), our average daily room rate, or ADR, and our total revenue per available
room, or RevPAR, for company-owned properties:

Third Quarter @ First Three Quarters @
Variance Variance
F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct. F2018 F2017 Amt. Pct.
Occupancy pct. 84.1% 82.0% 2.1pts 2.6% 76.2% 76.2% -pts -%
ADR $ 16858 $ 16447 § 411 2.5% $ 15162 $ 149.75 §$§ 1.87 1.2%
RevPAR $ 14181 $ 13485 § 696 52% $ 11548 $ 11405 § 1.43 1.3%

(1) These operating statistics represent averages of our eight distinct comparable company-owned hotels and resorts, branded and unbranded, in different
geographic markets with a wide range of individual hotel performance. The statistics are not necessarily representative of any particular hotel or resort.

RevPAR increased at all eight of our company-owned properties during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017 and
four of our eight company-owned properties during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. According to data
received from Smith Travel Research and compiled by us in order to evaluate our fiscal 2018 third quarter and first three quarters results, comparable “upper
upscale” hotels throughout the United States experienced an increase in RevPAR of 2.1% during both our third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018
compared to the same periods last year. Data received from Smith Travel Research for our various “competitive sets” — hotels identified in our specific markets
that we deem to be competitors to our hotels — indicates that these hotels experienced an increase in RevPAR of 6.5% and 2.5%, respectively, during our third
quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the fiscal 2017 comparable periods.

We believe our increased occupancy percentage and ADR during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017, along with
the resulting RevPAR outperformance versus the industry, was due primarily to increased group business. We also believe the same baseball dynamic that
negatively impacted our theatre business may have resulted in increased revenues for our Milwaukee hotels. We believe our slight RevPAR underperformance of
our competitive sets during the third quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017 was likely due to the fact that several hotels in our
competitive sets had favorable comparisons to the prior year due to renovations and other unusual circumstances. Seven of our eight company-owned hotels
reported increased ADR during the fiscal 2018 third quarter compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2017 and five of our eight company-owned hotels reported
increased ADR during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017.
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Looking to future periods, as of the date of this report, our group room revenue bookings for the remaining period in fiscal 2018 - commonly referred to in
the hotels and resorts industry as “group pace” - is running slightly ahead of our group room revenue bookings for the remaining period of fiscal 2017 last year at
this time. In addition, our group pace for fiscal 2019 is also running ahead of where we were last year at this time for fiscal 2018. The impact of playoff baseball in
Milwaukee also benefitted our October 2018 hotel results.

We generally expect our modestly favorable revenue trends to continue in future periods and to track or exceed the overall industry trends, particularly in
our respective markets. Many published reports by those who closely follow the hotel industry, including Smith Travel Research, continue to suggest that the
United States lodging industry will continue to achieve slow but steady growth in RevPAR during the remaining period of 2018 and throughout 2019. There also
appears to be some improvement in sentiment regarding the positive impact that recent regulatory and tax reforms are having on our business customers, which
may be contributing to our improved group pace and we hope will result in increased business travel in the future. Whether the relatively positive trends in the
lodging industry over the last several years will continue depends in large part on the economic environment, as hotel revenues have historically tracked very
closely with traditional macroeconomic statistics such as the Gross Domestic Product. We also continue to monitor hotel supply in our markets, as increased
supply without a corresponding increase in demand may have a negative impact on our results.

In addition to the fact that we began managing the new Omaha Marriott Downtown at The Capitol District hotel in Omaha, Nebraska and the Sheraton
Chapel Hill Hotel in Chapel Hill, North Carolina during the second half of fiscal 2017, our hotels and resorts division operating results are beginning to show the
benefits and should benefit in future periods from three new management contracts that we have recently obtained. In January 2018, we commenced management
of the newly-opened Murieta Inn and Spa in Rancho Murieta, California. In April 2018, we commenced management of the DoubleTree by Hilton Hotel El Paso
Downtown in El Paso, Texas. In August 2018, we commenced management of the newly opened Courtyard by Marriott El Paso Downtown/Convention Center.
These new management contracts have increased our portfolio to 21 owned and managed properties across the country.

Conversely, during fiscal 2017, we ceased management of the Sheraton Madison Hotel in Madison, Wisconsin and The Westin Atlanta Perimeter North
in Atlanta, Georgia due to the sale of these properties. The loss of these management contracts has partially offset the benefits of the new management contracts
described above. The timing and possible disruption of business from our planned renovations at the InterContinental Milwaukee hotel and the Hilton Madison at
Monona Terrace may also have a slight negative impact on our operating results of those two hotels during the remainder of fiscal 2018 and first half of fiscal
2019.

We continue to explore opportunities to monetize selected existing owned hotels in the future. We will consider many factors as we actively review
opportunities to execute this strategy, including income tax considerations, the ability to retain management, pricing and individual market considerations.
Execution of this strategy is also dependent upon a favorable hotel transactional market. In addition, we continue to explore potential growth opportunities. The
timing and nature of the opportunities may vary and include pure management contracts, management contracts with equity, and joint venture investments.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity

Our movie theatre and hotels and resorts businesses each generate significant and consistent daily amounts of cash, subject to previously-noted
seasonality, because each segment’s revenue is derived predominantly from consumer cash purchases. We believe that these relatively consistent and predictable
cash sources, as well as the availability of approximately $108 million of unused credit lines as of the end of our fiscal 2018 third quarter, will be adequate to
support the ongoing operational liquidity needs of our businesses during the remainder of fiscal 2018.

Financial Condition

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $77.1 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018, compared to $50.9 million during the first
three quarters of the fiscal 2017. The $26.2 million increase in cash provided by operating activities was due primarily to increased net earnings and depreciation
and amortization, as well as the favorable timing in the collection of accounts and notes receivable and payment of income taxes, partially offset by the unfavorable
timing in the payment of accounts payable and other accrued liabilities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal
2017.

Net cash used in investing activities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 totaled $46.1 million, compared to $82.1 million during the first three
quarters of fiscal 2017. The decrease in net cash used in investing activities was primarily the result of decreased capital expenditures during the first three quarters
of fiscal 2018 compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. Total cash capital expenditures (including normal continuing capital maintenance and renovation
projects) totaled $45.1 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to $87.3 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. Approximately
$23.5 million of our capital expenditures during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 were related to the development of the previously-described new theatres,
accounting for over one-half of the decrease in capital expenditures during the fiscal 2018 period. We did not incur any acquisition-related capital expenditures
during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 or the first three quarters of fiscal 2017.

Fiscal 2018 first three quarters cash capital expenditures included approximately $37.0 million incurred in our theatre division, including costs associated
with the addition of DreamLounger recliner seating, new Ultra Screen and Super Screen DLX auditoriums and new Zaffiro’s Express and Take Five Lounge
outlets to existing theatres. We also incurred capital expenditures in our hotels and resorts division during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 of approximately
$8.1 million, consisting primarily of normal maintenance capital projects. Fiscal 2017 first three quarters cash capital expenditures included approximately $69.5
million incurred in our theatre division, including previously-described new theatre development costs and costs associated with the addition of DreamLounger
recliner seating, Super Screen DLX auditorium conversions and new Zaffiro’s Express and Reel Sizzle outlets to existing theatres. We also incurred capital
expenditures in our hotels and resorts division during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 of approximately $17.5 million, including costs associated with the
development of our new SafeHouse Chicago location and the development of new villas at the Grand Geneva Resort & Spa.
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Net cash used in financing activities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 totaled $39.1 million compared to net cash provided by financing
activities of $37.0 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. We used excess cash during both periods to reduce our borrowings under our revolving
credit facility. As short-term borrowings became due, we replaced them as necessary with new short-term borrowings. As a result, we added $159.0 million of new
short-term borrowings and we made $177.0 million of repayments on short-term borrowings during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 (net decrease in
borrowings on our credit facility of $18.0 million) compared to $254.0 million of new short-term borrowings and $236.5 million of repayments on short-term
borrowings made during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 (net increase in borrowings on our credit facility of $17.5 million).

We did not issue any new long-term debt during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018. Conversely, proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt totaled
$65.0 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 and included the issuance of $50 million of senior notes. In addition, we repaid a mortgage note that
matured in January 2017 with a balance of $24.2 million as of December 29, 2016 during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 and replaced it with borrowings
under our revolving credit facility and the issuance of a $15.0 million mortgage note bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%, requiring monthly principal and
interest payments and maturing in fiscal 2020. Principal payments on long-term debt were $11.7 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 compared to
$35.9 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017 (including the mortgage note repayment described above). Our debt-to-capitalization ratio (excluding our
capital lease obligations) was 0.36 at September 27, 2018, compared to 0.40 at December 28, 2017.

We repurchased approximately 83,000 shares of our common stock for approximately $2.9 million in conjunction with the exercise of stock options
during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018, compared to 29,000 shares repurchased for approximately $850,000 in conjunction with the exercise of stock options
during the first three quarters of fiscal 2017. As of September 27, 2018, approximately 2.8 million shares remained available for repurchase under prior Board of
Directors repurchase authorizations. We expect that we will execute any future repurchases on the open market or in privately-negotiated transactions, depending
upon a number of factors, including prevailing market conditions.

Dividend payments during the first three quarters of fiscal 2018 totaled $12.3 million compared to dividend payments of $10.1 million during the first
three quarters of fiscal 2017. The increase in dividend payments was the result of a 20.0% increase in our regular quarterly dividend payment initiated in March
2018.

We believe our total capital expenditures for fiscal 2018 will approximate $55-$65 million, barring our pursuance of any growth opportunities that could
arise in the remaining months and depending upon the timing of our payments on several of the various projects incurred by our two divisions. Some of the
payments on projects undertaken during fiscal 2018 may carry over to fiscal 2019. The actual timing and extent of the implementation of all of our current
expansion plans will depend in large part on industry and general economic conditions, our financial performance and available capital, the competitive
environment, evolving customer needs and trends, and the availability of attractive opportunities. It is likely that our plans will continue to evolve and change in
response to these and other factors.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We have not experienced any material changes in our market risk exposures since December 28, 2017.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures

a. Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Based on their evaluations and the evaluation of management, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-
15 and 15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) are effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

b. Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There were no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by
Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risk factors relating to us are contained in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2017. No material change

to such risk factors has occurred during the 39 weeks ended September 27, 2018.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table sets forth information with respect to purchases made by us or on our behalf of our Common Stock during the periods indicated. All

of these repurchases were made in conjunction with the exercise of stock options and the purchase of shares in the open market and pursuant to the publicly
announced repurchase authorization described below.

Total Number of Maximum
Shares Number of
Purchased as Shares that May
Total Number of Part of Publicly  Yet be Purchased
Shares Average Price Announced Under the Plans
Period Purchased Paid per Share Programs (1) or Programs (1)
June 29 — July 26 1,173 $ 33.31 1,173 2,837,624
July 27 — August 30 50,924 37.51 50,924 2,786,700
August 31 — September 27 — — — —
Total 52,097 $ 37.42 52,097 2,786,700
(1) Through September 27, 2018, our Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to approximately 11.7 million shares of our outstanding

Common Stock. Under these authorizations, we may repurchase shares of our Common Stock from time to time in the open market, pursuant to privately
negotiated transactions or otherwise. As of September 27, 2018, we had repurchased approximately 8.9 million shares of our Common Stock under these
authorizations. The repurchased shares are held in our treasury pending potential future issuance in connection with employee benefit, option or stock
ownership plans or other general corporate purposes. These authorizations do not have an expiration date.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Exhibits

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 1. 2018. by and among MMT Texnv, LLC. MMT Lapagava, LLC. The Marcus Corporation, Movie
Tavern, Inc.. Movie Tavern Theaters, LLC, TGS Beverage Company, LLC, and VSS-Southern Theatres LLC. [Schedules and exhibits have been
omitted and The Marcus Corporation agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission a Copy of any omitted schedules
and exhibits upon request.

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350.

The following materials from The Marcus Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27, 2018 are filed herewith,
formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Earnings,
(iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) the Condensed Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

THE MARCUS CORPORATION

DATE: November 6, 2018 By: /s/ Gregory S. Marcus

Gregory S. Marcus
President and Chief Executive Officer

DATE: November 6, 2018 By: /s/ Douglas A. Neis

Douglas A. Neis
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer




Exhibit 2.1

EXECUTION VERSION

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
BY AND AMONG
MMT TEXNY, LLC,
MMT LAPAGAVA, LLC,
THE MARCUS CORPORATION,
VSS-SOUTHERN THEATRES LLC,
MOVIE TAVERN, INC.,
MOVIE TAVERN THEATRES, LLC,
AND
TGS BEVERAGE COMPANY, LLC

DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 1, 2018
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”), dated as of November 1, 2018, is made by and among MMT Texny, LLC, a Texas
limited liability company (“ MMT Texny ”); MMT Lapagava, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company (“ MMT Lapagava ” and, together with MMT Texny,
Buyer ”); The Marcus Corporation, a Wisconsin corporation (“ Marcus ”); Movie Tavern, Inc., a Texas corporation (“ Movie Tavern, Inc. ”); Movie Tavern
Theatres, LLC, a Louisiana limited liability company (“ Movie Tavern LLC ”); TGS Beverage Company, LLC, a Louisiana limited liability company (“ TGS ”,
and together with Movie Tavern, Inc. and Movie Tavern LLC, the “ Companies ”, and each separately, a “ Company ”); and VSS-Southern Theatres LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (““ Parent ). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings ascribed to such terms in Article 1 .

RECITALS:
WHEREAS, each of Movie Tavern, Inc. and Movie Tavern LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent;

WHEREAS, TGS is an Affiliate of Parent and is the holder of certain Permits required for the sale of alcohol at the Theatres located within the State of
Texas;

WHEREAS, Parent and the Companies are engaged in the business of developing and operating the on-site kitchen and dine-in motion picture theatres
(the ““ Business ) at the locations set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto (each a “ Theatre ” and collectively, the “ Theatres );

WHEREAS, the Companies wish to sell, transfer, convey and assign to Buyer, and Buyer wishes to purchase, accept and assume from the Companies, all
of the Companies’ right, title and interest in and to all of the assets owned, used or held for use by the Companies in connection with the operation of the Business,
subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, Parent wishes to sell, transfer, convey and assign to Buyer, and Buyer wishes to purchase, accept and assume from Parent, all of Parent’s
right, title and interest in and to certain assets owned, used or held for use by Parent and its Affiliates (other than the Companies) primarily in connection with the

operation of the Business, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein and for
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties to this Agreement hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Certain Definitions . As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the respective meanings set forth below.

“ Accounting Firm ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i)(B) .




“ Accounting Principles ” means GAAP applied in accordance with the accounting principles, methodologies, procedures and policies followed in the
preparation of the Recent Balance Sheet and specifically described on Exhibit A .

“ Acquired IP ” means (i) the Intellectual Property Registrations; (ii) unregistered trademarks owned or used by Parent (primarily in respect of the
Business) or the Companies; and (iii) all proprietary Software owned by or the use of which is licensed to Parent (primarily in respect of the Business) or the
Companies.

“ Acquired IP Assignment and Assumption Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b)(v) .

“ Acquired IT Systems ” means the IT Systems present in the Theatres that are owned by Parent or the Companies and which, in the case of Parent, are
exclusively used by the Business.

“ Action ” means any claim, charge, controversy, action, cause of action, suit, litigation, arbitration, investigation, audit, opposition, interference, hearing,
complaint, demand or other legal proceeding (whether sounding in contract, tort or otherwise, whether civil or criminal and whether brought at law or in equity)
that is commenced, brought, conducted, tried or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Entity.

“ Actual Adjustment ” (which may be a positive or a negative number) means (x) the Final Cash Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to Section
2.5(d) , minus (y) the Estimated Cash Purchase Price.

“ Affiliate ” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person who directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by,
or is under common control with, such Person. For the purposes of the foregoing, a Person shall be deemed to “control” a specified Person if such Person (or a
Family Member of such Person) possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct the management and policies of such specified Person, whether through the
ownership of voting securities, contract or otherwise, and the terms “controlled” and “controlling” have meanings correlative thereto. For the avoidance of doubt,
at all times prior to the Closing, each Company shall be considered an Affiliate of Parent.

“ Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.
“ Agreement Date ” means the date of this Agreement.

“ Allocation Schedule ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6 .

“ ALTA ” means the American Land Title Association.
“ Ancillary Documents ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2 .

“ Anti-Money Laundering Laws ” means Laws and sanctions that (a) limit the use of or seek the forfeiture of proceeds from illegal transactions, (b) limit
commercial transactions with designated countries or individuals believed to be terrorists, narcotics dealers or otherwise engaged in activities contrary to the
interests of the United States, (c) require identification and documentation of the parties with whom a financial institution conducts business, or (d) are designed to
disrupt the flow of funds to terrorist organizations.




“ Approved Capital Expenditures ” means capital expenditures in the amounts and for the purposes set forth on Schedule 5.4(b)(v) .

“ Approved New Theatre Development Expenses ” means the New Theatre Development Expenses in the amounts and for the purposes set forth on

Schedule 5.4(b)(vi) .

“ Assigned Contracts ” means (a) all Theatre Leases, (b) all Shared Contracts, (c) all Film Equipment Agreements, (d) all Business Contracts and (e) all
Improvement Contracts.

“ Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b)(vii) .
“ Assumed Liabilities ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a) .
“ Balance Sheet Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3 .

“ Be Our Guest Vouchers ” means “be our guest” passes or vouchers offering discounts or entitlements to theatre food and beverage concessions in any
format issued by Parent or any of its Affiliates with respect to the Business or any Theatre.

“ Business ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

“ Business Contracts ” means all Contracts set forth on Schedule 2.1(a)(x) as of the Closing together with all amendments, supplements, agreements and
guarantees related thereto. The Business Contracts do not include the Improvement Contracts, the Theatre Leases, the Shared Contracts or the Film Equipment
Agreements.

“ Business Day ” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which commercial banks in New York, New York and New Orleans, Louisiana are
open for the general transaction of business.

“ Business Employees ” means those Persons employed by (a) the Companies, or (b) Parent or any of its Affiliates (other than the Companies) who, in the
case of this clause (b) , worked primarily for the Business during the six (6) month period immediately prior to Closing.

“ Buyer ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.
“ Buyer Benefit Plan ” means a qualified retirement or welfare benefit plan maintained by Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer.

“ Buyer Bring-Down Certificate ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(c) .

“ Buyer Indemnitee ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a) .




“ Cash and Cash Equivalents ” means all cash and cash equivalents (including marketable securities) of the Companies as of the Effective Time, but
excluding (a) issued but uncleared checks, (b) outgoing wires in transit and (c) Restricted Cash; provided that the aggregate amount of Cash and Cash Equivalents
maintained by Parent and the Companies at each Theatre as of the Closing shall not be less than the Required Cash Amount for such Theatre.

“ Closing ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3 .
“ Closing Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3 .

“ Closing Stock Consideration ” means 2,450,000 shares of Marcus Common Stock.

“ Coca-Cola Inventory ” means all food, beverage and other concession items offered at any Theatre, including related packaging and serving materials,
manufactured or sold by The Coca-Cola Company or bearing any trademark or trade name used by The Coca-Cola Company.

“ Code ” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“ Company ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“ Compensation ” means, with respect to any Person, all salaries, commissions, compensation, consulting fees, bonuses, benefits or other remuneration of
any kind or character whatever, required to be made or that have been made directly or indirectly by the Companies or any Affiliate thereof to such Person or
Affiliates of such Person.

“ Competitor ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.14(a)(i) .

“ Concession Inventory ” means commercially useable and resalable food, beverage (including, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, alcoholic and
non-alcoholic), candy and other concession items of all major category types offered at each Theatre, together with related packaging and serving materials, but
excluding all Coca-Cola Inventory. The amount of Concession Inventory maintained by Parent and the Companies at each Theatre as of the Closing shall consist of
at least the Required Concession Inventory for such Theatre.

“ Concession Inventory Amount ” means, as of any time of determination, the aggregate value of the Concession Inventory located at all Theatres,
including, for the avoidance of doubt, all unopened alcohol inventory at such Theatres, determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles; provided that the
Concession Inventory Amount shall not include, and no value shall be assigned to (a) any Coca-Cola Inventory or (b) any Concession Inventory that is spoiled,
expired, unusable, unsalable, obsolete or no longer used in connection with the ordinary operation of the Business.

“ Confidentiality Agreement ” means the confidentiality agreement, dated as of February 1, 2018, by and between Parent and Buyer.
“ Consideration Ratio ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6 .

“ Consolidated Financial Statements ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3 .




“ Consolidated Net Worth ” means, at any time, (a) the total assets of Buyer and its Subsidiaries which would be shown as assets on a consolidated
balance sheet of Buyer and its Subsidiaries as of such time prepared in accordance with GAAP as historically applied by Buyer, after eliminating all amounts
properly attributable to minority interests, if any, in the stock and surplus of its Subsidiaries, minus (b) the total liabilities of Buyer and its Subsidiaries which
would be shown as liabilities on a consolidated balance sheet of Buyer and its Subsidiaries as of such time prepared in accordance with GAAP as historically
applied by Buyer.

“ Contemplated Transactions ” means the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including (a) the purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets and
the other transactions described in the recitals to this Agreement, (b) the execution, delivery and performance of the Ancillary Documents and (c) the payment of
fees and expenses relating to such transactions.

“ Contract ” means, with respect to any Person, (a) any contract, agreement, deed, mortgage, lease, sublease, license or sublicense, or (b) any other legally
enforceable commitment, promise, undertaking, obligation, arrangement, instrument or understanding, in each case, whether written or oral, to which or by which
such Person is a party or otherwise subject or bound or to which or by which any property, business, operation or right of such Person is subject or bound.

“ Cooperating Parties ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.21 .

“ Courtesy Passes ” means “courtesy passes” offering free admission in any format issued by Parent or any of its Affiliates with respect to the Business or
any Theatre.

 Effective Time ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3 .

“ Employee Benefit Plan ” means (a) each “employee benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA), (b) each welfare, supplemental
unemployment benefit, pension, health or other medical, dental, life, disability or other insurance, (c) each vacation or other paid-time off or fringe benefit, and (d)
each bonus, commission, profit sharing, incentive compensation, deferred compensation, equity or equity-based compensation, employment, consulting, individual
independent contractor, retirement, severance, separation, change in control, retention or other compensation plan, program, policy, Contract, agreement or
arrangement (in each case, whether or not written, covering one or more Persons or subject to ERISA) in effect and covering one or more current or former
employees, directors or individual independent contractors of the Business or the beneficiaries or dependents of any such Persons, and that is sponsored,
maintained or contributed to or required to be contributed to by Parent, any Company or any of their respective Affiliates, or with respect to which Parent, any
Company or any of their respective Affiliates has any Liability.

“ Environmental Laws ” means all Laws relating to (a) pollutants, contaminants or Hazardous Substances, (b) the protection of the environment or natural
resources or human health or safety in respect of exposure to Hazardous Substances, or (c) the use, generation, handling, transport, treatment, distribution, storage,
release, control, cleanup, or disposal of Hazardous Substances or products containing Hazardous Substances.




“ Environmental Liability ” means any Liability arising out of, related to or incurred in connection with any pollution, threat to the environment, exposure
to or manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, generation, transport or handling, disposal, emission, discharge, storage or release of Hazardous
Substance that (a) is related in any way to Parent’s, any Company’s, or any previous owner’s or operator’s, ownership, operation or occupancy of any of the
Leased Premises, or Parent’s or any Company’s ownership, lease, operation or maintenance of the Business or any of the Purchased Assets, including any failure to
comply with any Environmental Laws; (b) migrated onto or from the Leased Premises on or prior to the Closing Date, including any such migration that may
continue after the Closing Date; or (c) in whole or in part occurred, existed, arose out of conditions or circumstances that existed, or were caused, on or before the
Closing Date, in each case, whether or not known by Buyer.

“ Environmental Rights ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.24 .

“ Equity Interest ” means, with respect to any Person, (a) any capital stock, partnership or membership interest, unit of participation or other similar
interest (however designated) in such Person and (b) any option, warrant, purchase right, conversion right, exchange right or other Contract which would entitle
any other Person to acquire any such interest in such Person or otherwise entitle any other Person to share in the equity, profits, earnings, losses or gains of such
Person (including stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or other similar rights).

“ ERISA ” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ Escrow Agent ” means U.S. Bank, National Association.

“ Escrow Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b)(viii) .

“ Escrow Fund ” means the escrow account established by the Escrow Agent pursuant to this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.

“ Escrow Funding Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.19(a) .

“ Estimated Cash Purchase Price ” means an amount in cash equal to (a) $30,000,000, minus (b) the Estimated Closing Indebtedness, minus (c) the
Estimated Transaction Expenses, minus (d) the Estimated Pass Card Liability Amount, minus (e) the Estimated Film Equipment Expenses, plus (f) the Total

Required Cash Amount, plus (g) the Estimated New Theatre Development Expenses, plus (h) the Estimated Concession Inventory Amount, minus (i) the Estimated
Repair Amount, plus (j) the Estimated NCM Buyout Amount.

“ Estimated Closing Indebtedness ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .

“ Estimated Closing Statement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .

“ Estimated Concession Inventory Amount ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .

“ Estimated Film Equipment Expenses ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .

“ Estimated NCM Buyout Amount ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .




“ Estimated New Theatre Development Expenses ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .

“ Estimated Pass Card Liability Amount ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .

 Estimated Repair Amount ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .

“ Estimated Transaction Expenses ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) .

“ Exchange Act ” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
“ Excluded Assets ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b) .

“ Excluded Liabilities ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b) .

“ Existing Permittee ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.18 .
“ Expiration Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.22 .

“ Family Member ” means, with respect to an individual, (a) such Person’s spouse, (b) each brother, sister or child of such Person or such Person’s
spouse, (c) the spouse of any Person described in clause (b) above, (d) each child of the Person described in clauses (a) , (b) and (c) above, (e) each trust created for
the benefit of one or more of the Persons described in clauses (a) through (d) above, and (f) each custodian or guardian of any property of one or more of the
Persons described in clauses (a) through (e) above in his or her capacity as such custodian or guardian.

“ Film Equipment Agreement ” means the GDC Agreement and each other Contract set forth on Schedule 2(a) under which any Film Equipment Expense
is payable.

“ Film Equipment Expense ” means all rental payments, buyout amounts, purchase amounts and other out-of-pocket fees and expenses (a) payable by
Parent or any Company prior to the Closing (and that remain unpaid as of the Closing) or that will become payable by Parent or any Company at or after the
Closing, or (b) payable or that will become payable by Buyer pursuant to any Film Equipment Agreement at or after the Closing, in each case, in connection with
the purchase or lease of any film equipment that is used at any Theatre as of the Closing.
“ Final Cash Purchase Price ” means an amount in cash equal to (a) $30,000,000, minus (b) the Final Closing Indebtedness, minus (c) the Final
Transaction Expenses, minus (d) the Final Pass Card Liability Amount, minus (e) the Final Film Equipment Expenses, plus (f) the Total Required Cash Amount,
plus (g) the Final New Theatre Development Expenses, plus (h) the Final Concession Inventory Amount, minus (i) the Final Repair Amount, plus (j) the Final
NCM Buyout Amount.

“ Final Closing Indebtedness ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Final Closing Statement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .




“ Final Concession Inventory Amount ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Final Film Equipment Expenses ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Final NCM Buyout Amount ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Final New Theatre Development Expenses ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Final Pass Card Liability Amount ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Final Repair Amount ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Final Transaction Expenses ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Financial Statements ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3 .

“ FIRPTA Certificates ™ has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(e) .

“ Fraud ” means common law fraud with respect to the making of the representations and warranties herein.

“ Fundamental Representations ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(a)(i) .

“ GAAP ” means United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on the Agreement Date.

“ GDC Agreement ” means the Exhibitor Self-Financed Agreement, dated July 18, 2011, between GDC Digital Cinema Network (USA) LLC. and Movie
Tavern, Inc., as may be amended, modified, supplemented or restated in accordance with the terms thereof.

“ Gift Cards ” means gift cards or gift certificates, in any format issued by Parent or any of its Affiliates with respect to the Business or any Theatre.

“ Governing Documents ” means the legal document(s) by which any Person (other than an individual) establishes its legal existence or which govern its
internal affairs. For example, the “Governing Documents” of a corporation are its certificate of incorporation and by-laws, the “Governing Documents” of a limited
partnership are its limited partnership agreement and certificate of limited partnership and the “Governing Documents” of a limited liability company are its
operating agreement and certificate of formation, in each case, together with any stockholder, voting, investor rights or other similar agreement among investors.

“ Governmental Entity ” means any United States or foreign (a) federal, state, local, municipal, or other government, (b) governmental or quasi-
governmental entity of any nature (including any governmental agency, branch, department, official, or entity and any court or other tribunal) or (c) body
exercising, or entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory, or taxing authority or power of any nature, including any
mediator, arbitrator or arbitral tribunal, or any national securities exchange.




“ Governmental Order ” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, ruling, decision, verdict, determination or award made, issued or
entered by or with any Governmental Entity.

“ Greensboro Movie Tavern ” means the full kitchen, dine-in motion picture theatres operated by Parent and its Affiliates, including Greensboro Theatres,
LLC, under the “Movie Tavern” brand name at 2700 Vanstory St, Greensboro, North Carolina 27407.

“ Greensboro Movie Tavern IP ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17 .

“ Gross Receipts ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(c) .

“ Hazardous Substance ” means any hazardous material, substance, pollutant, contaminant or other substance or materials that is regulated or for which
liability is or may be imposed or standards of conduct created pursuant to any Environmental Laws, including, without limitation, petroleum, petroleum
byproducts, mold, asbestos in any form that is or could become friable, polychlorinated biphenyls, per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances, perfluorooctanoic acid,
perfluorooctane sulfonate and all substances defined or regulated as “Hazardous”, “Toxic” or a “Pollutant” pursuant to any Environmental Law.

“ HSR Act ” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ Improvement Contracts ” means the Contracts listed on Schedule 2(f) relating to the Improvement Projects, including all annexes, schedules and
exhibits to such Contracts, all as may be amended from time to time in accordance with Sections 5.25(a) and 5.25(b) .

“ Improvement Expenses ” means all reasonably documented out-of-pocket amounts actually paid by Parent, any Company or any of their respective
Affiliates prior to the Closing (including Approved Capital Expenditures), and all reasonably documented out-of-pocket amounts actually paid by Buyer, Marcus
or any of their respective Affiliates after the Closing, in each case, in connection with Improvement Projects. Schedule 2(f) sets forth (a) the agreed upon budgeted
amount of all Improvement Expenses, and (b) the amount of all Improvement Expenses actually paid by Parent, the Companies and their respective Affiliates as of
the Agreement Date.

“ Improvement Projects ” means the Theatre renovation, remodel and luxury conversion projects described on Schedule 2(f) .
“ Improvement Restrictions ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(a) .

“ Improvement Standards  has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(a) .




“ Indebtedness ” means, as of any time of determination, without duplication, the outstanding principal amount of, accrued and unpaid interest on, and
other payment obligations (including any prepayment premiums, expenses, breakage costs, lines of credit, letters of credit, commitments and other fees payable)
arising under, or any other Liabilities of the Business or the Companies consisting of or relating to, (a) indebtedness for borrowed money or indebtedness issued in
substitution or exchange for borrowed money, (b) obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services, (c) indebtedness evidenced by any note, bond,
debenture or other debt security, (d) any lease obligations capitalized by any Company prior to Closing, (e) letters of credit, (f) bankers’ acceptances, surety bonds,
performance bonds and other financial guarantees, (g) interest rate protection agreements, swap agreements, collar agreements and factoring agreements, (h)
obligations and liabilities (whether conditional or unconditional, present or future) arising from any transactions related to the assignment or securitization of
receivables for financing purposes to any third party, including all obligations and liabilities under factoring agreements and similar Contracts executed for the
purposes of obtaining financing, which, in the case of each of clauses (a) through (h) above, is secured by a Lien on any of the Purchased Assets.

“ Indemnified Party ™ has the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(a) .

“ Insurance Policies ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a) .

“ Intangible Property ” means (a) all Acquired IP; (b) all goodwill associated with the Business and the Purchased Assets; and (c) to the extent pertaining
primarily to the Business or any Leased Premises, all business licenses, warranties, security deposits, telephone exchange numbers, plans and specifications, blue
prints, engineering information, research data concerning historic and current research and development, quality assurance and control procedures, design tools and
simulation capability, and all reports, manuals and technical information that Parent or the Companies provide to employees, customers, suppliers, agents or
licensees of the Business.

“ Intellectual Property ” means any and all intellectual property or similar proprietary rights throughout the world, including all of the following:
(a) inventions and discoveries (Whether or not patentable and whether or not reduced to practice), improvements thereto, and patents, patent applications, invention
disclosures, and other rights of invention, worldwide, including any reissues, divisions, continuations and continuations-in-part, provisionals, reexamined patents or
other applications or patents claiming the benefit of the filing date of any such application or patent; (b) trademarks, service marks, trade names, trade dress, logos,
Internet domain name registrations, uniform resource locators and other names and locators associated with the internet, social media accounts or identifiers,
corporate names, product names and slogans, including any common law rights, registrations, and applications for registration for any of the foregoing, and the
goodwill associated with all of the foregoing, worldwide; (c) copyrightable works, copyrights, website content, and other rights of authorship, and any applications,
registrations and renewals in connection therewith, worldwide; (d) trade secrets; and (e) all rights to sue or recover and retain damages and costs (including
attorneys’ fees) for the past, present or future management, misappropriation or other violation of any of the foregoing.

“ Intellectual Property Registrations ” means has the meaning set forth in Section 3.14(a) .

“ Interim Liquor Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.18 .
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“ IT Systems ” means computers, Software, firmware, middleware, servers, workstations, routers, hubs, switches, data communications lines, service
agreements and all other information technology equipment (including laptops and mobile devices), and all associated documentation, owned by, or licensed or
leased to, or purported to be owned by, or licensed or leased to Parent or any Company and which, in the case of Parent, are exclusively used in connection with
the Business.

“ Key Vendor ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7 .

1

“ Knowledge of Buyer ” and any derivative thereof means, as of the applicable date, the actual knowledge of either of Jeff Tomachek, Rolando
Rodriguez, Doug Neis or Mark Gramz, in each case, following reasonable inquiry.

“ Knowledge of Parent ” and any derivative thereof means, as of the applicable date, the actual knowledge of any of John P. Caparella, Ronald Krueger 11
and Jim Wood, in each case, following reasonable inquiry.

“ Landlord Reimbursements ” means all reasonably documented amounts actually received by Parent, any Company or any of their respective Affiliates
prior to the Closing, and all reasonably documented amounts actually received by Buyer, Marcus or any of their respective Affiliates after the Closing, in each
case, from the landlords with respect to the Leased Premises at which the Improvement Projects are being completed as reimbursement for Improvement Expenses
paid by Parent, any Company, Buyer, Marcus or any of their respective Affiliates, as the case may be. Schedule 2(f) sets forth (a) the agreed upon budgeted amount
of all Landlord Reimbursements, and (b) the amount of all Landlord Reimbursements actually received by Parent, the Companies and their respective Affiliates as
of the Agreement Date.

“ Law ” means (a) common law, (b) any United States federal, state or local or any foreign law, statute, standard, ordinance, code, rule, regulation,
resolution, promulgation, judgment, injunction, order, decree, administrative requirement, (c) any Governmental Order, or (d) any other similar provision having
the force or effect of law or any restriction of any Governmental Entity.

“ Leased Premises ” means the Theatres and all other premises described by the Theatre Leases.

“ Leasehold Improvements ” means all right, title and interest of Parent and the Companies in, to and under the leasehold improvements of every kind and
description located on or which are a part of the respective Leased Premises.

“ Leasehold Interests ” means (all and singular) the interests, estates, rights, privileges, titles, easements, options and appurtenances belonging, or in any
way appertaining, to Parent or any Company as tenant under the respective Theatre Lease.

“ Liability ” means, with respect to any Person, any liability or obligation of such Person of any kind whatsoever, whether known or unknown, whether

asserted or unasserted, whether determined, determinable or otherwise, whether absolute or contingent, whether accrued or unaccrued, whether liquidated or
unliquidated, whether due or to become due and whether or not required to be accrued on the financial statements of such Person.
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“ License Period ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17 .
“ License Standards ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17 .

“ Lien ” means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, encumbrance, lien, claim, interest or charge and any other restriction, right or covenant with
respect to, or condition governing the use, construction, voting (in the case of any security or equity interest), transfer or exercise of any other attribute of
ownership (other than, in the case of a security, any restriction on the transfer of such security arising solely under federal and state securities laws).

“ Lien Release ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(b)(ii) .

“ Losses ” means and includes (a) all Liabilities; (b) all losses, damages, judgments, awards, penalties, assessments and settlements; (c) all costs and
expenses (including prejudgment and post-judgment interest in any litigated or arbitrated matter and other interest, court costs and reasonable fees and expenses of
attorneys, consultants and expert witnesses) of investigating, defending or asserting any of the foregoing or of enforcing this Agreement, including as incurred in
connection with any Action.

“ Luxury Reimbursement ” means any reimbursement, repayment or refund, payable by a landlord under a Theatre Lease, of amounts paid by or invoiced
(to the extent such invoiced amount constitutes an Excluded Liability) to Parent, a Company or any of their respective Affiliates prior to Closing, in connection
with the renovation, remodel or luxury conversion of any Theatre.

“ Marcus ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“ Marcus Common Stock ” means The Marcus Corporation Common Stock, par value $1.00 per share, the holders of which are entitled to one (1) vote
per share.

“ Marcus SEC Reports ” means all reports, schedules, forms, statements, prospectuses, registration statements and other documents filed or furnished, as
the case may be, by Marcus to the SEC since December 29, 2016.

“ Material Adverse Effect ” means any change, event, development, condition, circumstance, occurrence or effect that, individually or in the aggregate,
has had or would reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect (a) upon the condition (financial or otherwise), Purchased Assets, Liabilities or results
of operations of the Business, taken as a whole; or (b) upon the ability of Parent or the Companies to consummate the Contemplated Transactions in accordance
with this Agreement; provided , however , that any adverse change, event, development, condition, circumstance, occurrence or effect arising from or relating to
any of the following shall not be taken into account, either alone or in combination in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred for the purposes
of clause (a) : (i) conditions generally affecting the United States economy or credit, securities, currency, financial, banking or capital markets (including any
disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index) in the United States or elsewhere in the world, (ii) any national or international
political or social conditions, including the engagement by the United States in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or
war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack upon the United States, or any of its territories, possessions, or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any
military installation, equipment or personnel of the United States, (iii) changes in GAAP, (iv) changes in any Law or any action required to be taken under Law or
Contract by which any Company (or any of their respective assets or properties) is bound as of the Agreement Date, (v) any change that is generally applicable to
the industries or markets in which the Companies operate, including any weather events, natural or man-made disasters or acts of God, (vi) any failure, in and of
itself, by any Company to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions for any period ending on or after the date of this
Agreement (although subject to the other provisions of this definition, the underlying cause of such failure may be taken into account) or (vii) the taking of any
action expressly contemplated by this Agreement, including the completion of the transactions contemplated hereby; except, in the case of clauses (i) through (v) ,
to the extent that the Companies, taken as a whole, are materially and disproportionately affected thereby relative to other Persons engaged in the same industry as
the Business.
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“ Material Contract ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(b) .
“ MMT Lapagava ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.
“ MMT Texny ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

«

Movie Tavern, Inc. ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“ Movie Tavern LLC ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“ NCM Agreement ” means that certain Network Affiliate Agreement, dated May 12, 2011, between National CineMedia, LLC and VSS-Southern
Theatres LLC.

“ NCM Buyout ” means the payment of all Repayment Amounts and resulting termination of the NCM Agreement with respect to the Theatres pursuant
to Section 14.8 of the NCM Agreement.

“ NCM Buyout Obligation Cap ” means $4,762,000.

“ NCM Buyout Obligations ” means the aggregate amount of all Repayment Amounts paid or payable by Parent or any Company to National CineMedia,
LLC to effect the NCM Buyout.

“ NCM Equipment ” means all Equipment, including all NCM Equipment (as each such term is defined in the NCM Agreement), located at the Theatres.
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“ Net Improvement Expenses Amount ” means an amount equal to the difference of (a) the aggregate amount of all Improvement Expenses, minus (b) the
aggregate amount of all Landlord Reimbursements, calculated in the manner set forth on Schedule 2(f) .

“ Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount ” means an amount equal to the difference of (a) the Net Improvement Expenses Amount, minus (b) the
Net Improvement Expenses Target Amount, calculated in the manner set forth on Schedule 2(f) .

“ Net Improvement Expenses Target Amount ” means $515,000.

“ Network Connection ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.23 .

“ New Liquor Permit ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.18 .
“ New Permittee ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.18 .

“ New Theatre Development ” means the development or construction by Parent or any Company of any motion picture theatre that is not a Theatre on
the Agreement Date.

“ New Theatre Development Expense ” means the amount of Cash or Cash Equivalents actually paid by Parent or any Company during the period
commencing at the close of business on the Agreement Date and ending at the Effective Time in respect of (a) any Approved New Theatre Development Expense
or (b) following the express written consent thereto by Buyer in each instance (which consent, notwithstanding any provision of Section 5.4(a) to the contrary,
Buyer may grant or withhold in its sole discretion), any New Theatre Development.

“ Non-Paying Party ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(b) .

“ Notice of Claim ” means a written notice that identifies the breach of or inaccuracy in any covenant, warranty or representation set forth in this
Agreement or any certificate furnished under this Agreement (including the sections of this Agreement that are the subject of such breach or inaccuracy) or other
indemnification right pursuant to which Losses are being claimed by the Indemnified Party, and the amount asserted for such claim if known (including, if
appropriate, an estimate of all costs and expenses reasonably expected to be incurred by reason of such claim).

“ Qutstanding Repairs ” means those Theatre-level repair issues identified on Schedule 2(b) hereto.

“ Qvernight Transaction ” has the meaning set forth in the Shareholders’ Agreement.

“ Parent ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“ Parent 401(k) Plan  has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9(c) .

“ Parent Bring-Down Certificate ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(d) .

“ Parent Fundamental Representations  has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(a) .
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“ Parent Indemnitee ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(b) .

“ Pass Card Liabilities ” means all Liabilities of the Business and the Companies as of the Closing in respect of Pass Cards, calculated in accordance with
the methodology, including the applicable breakage costs, set forth on Schedule 2(c) hereto.

“ Pass Cards ” means Gift Cards, Premier Tickets and Be Our Guest Vouchers, and shall exclude Courtesy Passes.

“ Pay-Off Letter ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(b) .

“ Paying Party ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(b) .

“ Payment Dispute ” means the ongoing dispute relating to the improper processing of certain debit and credit card transaction fees, as more particularly

described in Schedule 3.8(b) .

“ PCBs ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(f) .

“ Pending Indemnification Claim ” means a claim for indemnification that is the subject of a Notice of Claim given by any Buyer Indemnitee pursuant to
Section 8.3(c) which has not been paid in full pursuant to Section 8.6 or otherwise finally resolved pursuant to a written agreement of the parties.

“ Pending Litigation ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10 .

“ Pennsylvania Liquor Permits ” means the permits, licenses, approvals, certificates issued to Movie Tavern LLC by Governmental Entities in respect of
the lawful sale of alcohol at each Theatre in the State of Pennsylvania.

“ Permits ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.11 .

“ Permitted Liens ” means (a) mechanic’s, materialmen’s, carriers’, repairers’ and other statutory Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of
business for amounts that are not yet due and payable, and (b) Liens for Property Taxes not yet due.

“ Person ” means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, joint stock company, unincorporated organization or association, trust,
joint venture, association, Governmental Entity or other similar entity, whether or not a legal entity.

“ Post-Closing Amounts ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(c) .

“ Pre-Closing Amounts ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(c) .

“ Pre-Closing Taxes ” means (a) Taxes (or the non-payment thereof) of the Companies or Parent, (b) all Taxes of any member of an affiliated,
consolidated, combined or unitary group of which any Company is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date, including pursuant to Treasury Regulation
Section 1.1502-6 or any analogous or similar Law, (c) any and all Taxes of any Person imposed on any Company as a transferee or successor in respect of a
transaction occurring on or before the Closing Date, pursuant to a Contract, or otherwise, (d) any and all Taxes that are the responsibility of Parent and the
Companies pursuant to Section 9.2 .
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“ Premier Tickets ” means “premier tickets” sold in bulk sales offering free admission in any format issued by Parent or any of its Affiliates with respect
to the Business or any Theatre.

“ Property Tax ” means any real property Tax, personal property Tax, ad valorem Tax, replacement Tax or similar Tax levied on real or personal property,
including any interest, penalty, or addition, and whether or not disputed and whether or not imposed by Law, Order or Contract.

“ Proposed Closing Date Calculations ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i) .

“ Proposed Improvement Calculations ™ has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(c) .

“ Proration Period ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(b) .

s

“ Purchase Price ’
Consideration.

means (a) the Final Cash Purchase Price, plus (b) Buyer’s assumption of the Assumed Liabilities, plus (c) the Closing Stock

“ Purchase Price Dispute Notice ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i)(A) .

“ Purchased Assets ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a) .

“ Recent Balance Sheet ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3 .

“ Records and Files ” means all physical and electronic records and files of Parent and the Companies of every kind to the extent related to the ownership,
lease, operation or maintenance of the Business or any of the Purchased Assets, including invoices, customer and vendor lists, customer and vendor email lists and
databases, Pass Card and Courtesy Pass data, blueprints, specifications, designs, drawings, and operating and marketing plans, and all other documents, tapes,
discs, programs or other embodiments of information to the extent related to the ownership, lease, operation or maintenance of the Business or any of the
Purchased Assets, including all employment records and files for the Transferred Employees.

“ Registrable Securities ” means the shares of Marcus Common Stock issuable by Marcus hereunder as Closing Stock Consideration. Any particular
Registrable Securities shall cease to be Registrable Securities (a) when a registration statement with respect to the sale of such securities shall have been declared
effective under the Securities Act and such securities shall have been disposed of in accordance with such registration statement or (b) when such securities, after
having been issued pursuant to Section 2.4 , shall cease to be outstanding.

“ Registration ” means a registration under the Securities Act of the offer and sale to the public of the Registrable Securities under a Registration

LT3

Statement. The terms “ register ”, ““ registered ” and “ registering ” shall have correlative meanings.
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“ Registration Statement ” means a shelf registration statement of Marcus filed with, or to be filed with, the SEC under the Securities Act, including the
related prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, including pre- and post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all material
incorporated by reference in such registration statement other than a registration statement (and related prospectus) filed on Form S-3 or any successor form
thereto.

“ Release ” means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leeching, dumping or disposing into
surface water, ground water, land surface or subsurface strata or ambient air.

“ Repair Amount ” means all Liabilities to be paid or incurred by Buyer, Marcus or any of their respective Affiliates following the Closing to complete
the remediation of all Outstanding Repairs that are not completed in full as of the Closing in accordance with Section 5.6 .

“ Repayment Amounts ” has the meaning assigned to such term in the NCM Agreement.

“ Required Assignment ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(h).

“ Required Cash Amount ” means, with respect to each Theatre, the amount of Cash and Cash Equivalents normally maintained by Parent and the
Companies at such Theatre in the ordinary course of business and consistent with historical practice (taking into account seasonal usage patterns); provided that,
for each Theatre, the Required Cash Amount for such Theatre shall not be less than the amount of Cash and Cash Equivalents set forth on Schedule 2(d) with
respect to such Theatre.

“ Required Concession Inventory ” means, with respect to each Theatre, a normal par level of Concession Inventory (including all major inventory
categories) determined based on the level of Concession Inventory normally maintained by Parent and the Companies at such Theatre in the ordinary course of
business and consistent with historical practice (taking into account seasonal usage patterns); provided , however , that the Required Concession Inventory shall not
include at any Theatre or take into account (a) any Coca-Cola Inventory or (b) any Concession Inventory that is spoiled, expired, unusable, unsalable, obsolete or
no longer used in connection with the ordinary operation of the Business.

«

Required Consent ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(g) .

“ Responsible Party ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(a) .

“ Restricted Cash ” means the amount of cash and cash equivalents of the Companies that, as of the Effective Time, is not freely usable, distributable or
transferable, including any cash or cash equivalents deposited with, pledged to, or held by any banks, financial institutions or other third parties as collateral or
other credit support for any, liabilities or other obligations of the Business or the Companies under or relating to any letters of credit, surety bonds or hedging
agreements.

“ Restricted Period ” means the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the five (5) year anniversary of the Closing Date.
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“ Restricted Territory ” means the geographic territory located within a twelve (12) mile radius of any Theatre or New Theatre Development.

“ Ridgmar [ease ” means that certain Retail Lease, dated July 18, 2001, between RPI Ridgmar Town Square, Ltd. and Movie Tavern, Inc. (as successor-
in-interest to Ridgmar Cinema Tavern, LP), as amended by that certain First Amendment to Retail Lease dated October 15, 2001 and that certain Second
Amendment to Retail Lease dated November 2, 2004, as assigned by that certain Assignment of Lease dated October 27, 2005, and as renewed pursuant to that
certain Renewal of Lease dated January 29, 2014.

“ Ridgmar Theatre ” means the Theatre described in the Ridgmar Lease.

“ SEC ” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“ Securities Act ” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ Shared Contracts ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2 .

“ Shareholders’ Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b)(ix) .

“ Software ” means software, including firmware, programs, source code and object code, and all data files, utilities, application programming interfaces,
tools, algorithms, architecture, files, records, schematics, graphical user interfaces, images, icons, forms, methods of processing, software engines, platforms, data
formats, computerized databases, all versions, updates, corrections, enhancements and modifications thereof, and all other related specifications and
documentation, developer notes, comments and annotations.

“ Specified Representations ” means the representations and warranties of Parent and the Companies set forth in Section 3.12 (Employee Plans), Section
3.16 (Tax Matters) and Section 3.20 (Environmental Matters).

“ Straddle Period ” means any taxable period beginning on or before the Closing Date and ending after the Closing Date.

“ Subject Person ” means any Person that directly or indirectly: (a) accumulates, beneficially or of record, of 50% or more of any class of securities of
Parent, whether by merger, consolidation, sale or other transfer of securities of Parent; or (b) acquires all or substantially all of the assets of Parent.

“ Subsidiary ” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, or other business entity of which (a)
if a corporation, a majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of
directors, managers, or trustees thereof is at the time owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person or a
combination thereof or (b) if a limited liability company, partnership, association, or other business entity (other than a corporation), a majority of the membership,
partnership or other similar ownership interests thereof are at the time owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a
combination thereof and for this purpose, a Person or Persons shall be deemed to own a majority ownership interest in such a business entity (other than a
corporation) if such Person or Persons shall be allocated a majority of such business entity’s gains or losses or shall be a, or control any, managing director, board
of managers or general partner (or other similar governing body) of such business entity (other than a corporation). The term “ Subsidiary ” shall include all
Subsidiaries of such Subsidiary.
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“ Tangible Personal Property ” means all tangible personal property (other than Concession Inventory) located at, affixed or attached to, or placed upon,
or used primarily in connection with the lease, operation, repair or maintenance of, the respective Leased Premises, as applicable, or the operation of the Business,
including all equipment, fixed assets, personal property, office furniture, materials, research and development activities, supplies, service and concession
equipment, heating, ventilating and cooling equipment, furniture, fixtures, cleaning equipment and supplies, alarm systems, screens, projection equipment, theatre
equipment, theatre seats, cash registers, display cases, acoustical wall panels, sound systems, speakers, office equipment and desks, popcorn poppers and storage
bins, linoleum, carpets, drapes, laundry tubs and trays, washers, dryers, iceboxes, refrigerators, heating units, stoves, ovens, water heaters, incinerators, furniture
and furnishings, communication systems.

“ Tax ” means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, franchise, estimated, alternative minimum, add-on minimum, sales, use, transfer,
real property gains, registration, value added, ad valorem, excise, special assessment, customs duties, severance, stamp, occupation, windfall profits, real property,
personal property, escheat, unclaimed property, capital stock, social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, payroll, license, employee, withholding or any
other tax, of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalties or additions to tax in respect of the foregoing (whether disputed or not), whether or not disputed
and whether imposed by Law, Contract or otherwise.

“ Tax Refund ” means any refunds with respect to Taxes paid or incurred by Parent or the Companies, together with any related interest received or due
from the relevant taxing authority.

“ Tax Return ” means any return, claim for refund, report, information return or other document (including schedules or any related or supporting
information) required to be filed with any Governmental Entity in connection with the determination, assessment or collection of any Tax or the administration of
any Laws relating to any Tax.

“ Termination Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(c) .

“ TGS ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“ Theatre(s) ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

“ Theatre Lease ” means the lease, sublease, license or other written agreement (including all amendments, supplements, modifications, assignments,

guarantees, non-disturbance agreements or other agreements related thereto) pursuant to which Parent or any of the Companies is a tenant, subtenant, licensee or
occupant of any Theatre.

“ Third Party Claim ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(a) .
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“ Threshold  has the meaning set forth in Section 8.4(a) .

“ Title Insurance Policy ” means a standard ALTA Form 2006 owner’s policy of title insurance (including ALTA 13 leasehold endorsements) for each of
the Leased Premises, dated as of the Closing Date, in such amounts as Buyer reasonably requires, insuring good and marketable leasehold title to each of the
Leased Premises (expressly including all easements and appurtenances), subject only to Permitted Liens, with all standard exceptions deleted (except for those
standard exceptions that may only be deleted with a current and accurate survey), and including such endorsements as Buyer may reasonably require, including
ALTA 15.1 (non-imputation — additional insured endorsement), ALTA 3.1 (zoning), ALTA 8.2 (commercial environmental protection lien), ALTA 9.2 (CC&Rs),
ALTA 17 (access and entry), ALTA 17.2 (utility access), ALTA 18 (single tax parcel or, if applicable, 18.1 multiple tax parcel), ALTA 19 (contiguity, if
applicable), ALTA 22 (location), ALTA 25 (same as survey), ALTA 26 (subdivision), ALTA 28.2 (encroachments), and ALTA 35.1 (minerals).

“ Total Required Cash Amount ” means the sum of the Required Cash Amounts for all Theatres set forth on Schedule 2(e) .

“ Trademark Assignment and Assumption Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b)(vi).

“ Transaction Expenses ” means, as of any time of determination, without duplication, the unpaid amount of all costs and expenses (including the fees and
expenses of investment bankers, legal counsel, financial and accounting advisors or other representatives and consultants; appraisal fees, costs and expenses; or
travel, lodging, entertainment and associated expenses) incurred by Parent, the Companies or any of their respective Affiliates in connection with, or in anticipation
of, the negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby or in connection with or in anticipation of any alternative transactions considered by Parent or the Companies in respect of the Business.

“ Transfer Taxes ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2 .

“ Transferred Employees ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9(a) .

“ Treasury Regulations ” means the regulations promulgated under the Code by the United States Department of the Treasury.

“ Union ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(a)(vi) .

“ Virtual Print Fees ” means all Virtual Print Fees (as defined in the GDC Agreement) and all similar payments, repayments, reimbursements, refunds,
royalties or commissions payable to Parent or any Company pursuant to any Film Equipment Agreement in respect of any Film Equipment Expenses paid by
Parent or any Company prior to the Closing or included in the calculation of the Final Cash Purchase Price.

“ Vista Segregation ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.23 .
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“ Vista Upgrade ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.23 .

“ VPF Remittance Period ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(a) .

“ WARN Act ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(b)(x) .

ARTICLE 2
PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 2.1. Purchase and Sale of Assets .

(a) Purchased Assets . Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, Parent and the
Companies shall sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Buyer, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens) and Buyer shall purchase and
accept from Parent and the Companies, all of Parent’s and the Companies’ right, title and interest in, to and under the following assets of Parent and the
Companies’ (collectively, the “ Purchased Assets ™), but specifically excluding the Excluded Assets:

(i) all Leasehold Interests and Leasehold Improvements;

(ii) all Tangible Personal Property, excluding the NCM Equipment;

(iii) all Intangible Property;

(iv) the Acquired IT Systems;

W) the Acquired IP;

(vi) all Concession Inventory;

(vii)  the Required Cash Amount at each Theatre;

(viii)  all Permits (including the Pennsylvania Liquor Permits), to the extent transferrable to Buyer;

(ix) all Records and Files;

(x) the Business Contracts;

(xi) the Improvement Contracts;

(xii) subject to Section 5.2 , the Shared Contracts;

(xiii)  pursuant to Section 5.3 , the Film Equipment Agreements; and
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(xiv)  the insurance benefits described in the proviso to Section 2.1(b)(iv) .

(b) Excluded Assets . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the following assets, properties,
rights and interests of Parent and the Companies (collectively, the “ Excluded Assets ), are expressly excluded from the purchase and sale contemplated
hereby, and as such are not included in the Purchased Assets and shall remain the property of Parent or the applicable Company after the Closing:

6) all Tax Returns of Parent and the Companies, and Parent’s and the Companies’ Governing Documents, minute books and
related corporate records;

(ii) all Tax Refunds of Parent or any Company;

(iii) all cash and cash equivalents (other than the Required Cash Amount at each Theatre), including for the avoidance of doubt all
Restricted Cash and bank accounts of Parent and the Companies;

(iv) all Insurance Policies and all insurance benefits related thereto ( provided that, if an insurance claim has been or is made by
Parent or any Company and such claim relates to a Liability that is an Assumed Liability, then any insurance proceeds that Parent or any Company
receives after the Closing (up to the amount of such Assumed Liability) will not be an Excluded Asset and shall be turned over to Buyer);

) all rights of Parent and the Companies under this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents, and the Schedules and Exhibits
hereto and thereto;

(vi) all rights of Parent and the Companies arising prior to the Closing under any Assigned Contract to the extent such rights relate
to an Excluded Liability;

(vii) the personnel records and other records that Parent or any Company is required by applicable Law to retain in its possession;
provided , however , that, to the extent permitted under applicable Law, Parent shall provide Buyer with copies of such records for each Transferred
Employee;

(viii) all Employee Benefit Plans which are sponsored or maintained by Parent or any Company for the benefit of any current or
former employee or individual independent contractor who works or worked in the Business;

(ix) any assets that are consumed, sold or disposed of prior to the Closing in the ordinary course of the Business and consistent
with past practices and in compliance with Section 5.4 ;

(x) all Intellectual Property other than the Acquired IP;

(xi) all IT Systems other than the Acquired IT Systems;
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(xii) all Coca-Cola Inventory;
(xiii)  the NCM Equipment; and
(xiv)  the assets, properties, rights and interests of Parent and the Companies specifically described on Schedule 2.1(b) .

(c) Non-Assignable Contracts . To the extent that any Assigned Contract for which assignment to Buyer is provided herein is not
assignable without the consent of another party as set forth in Schedule 3.8(b) , this Agreement shall not constitute an assignment or an attempted
assignment thereof if such assignment or attempted assignment would constitute a breach thereof. Parent, the Companies and Buyer agree to use their
respective reasonable best efforts to obtain the consent of such other party to the assignment of any such Assigned Contract to Buyer in all cases in
which such consent is or may be required for such assignment. If any such consent shall not be obtained, then Parent and each Company agrees to
cooperate with Buyer in any reasonable arrangement designed to provide for Buyer the benefits intended to be assigned to Buyer under the relevant
Assigned Contract, including enforcement at the cost and for the account of Buyer of any and all rights of Parent or the applicable Company against the
other party thereto arising out of the breach or cancellation thereof by such other party or otherwise. If and to the extent that such arrangement cannot be
made, Buyer, upon notice to Parent, shall have no obligation pursuant to Section 2.2 or otherwise with respect to any such Assigned Contract, in which
case any such Assigned Contract shall be excluded from the Purchased Assets and treated as an Excluded Asset, and the related Liability shall be
excluded from the Assumed Liabilities and treated as an Excluded Liability. Nothing in this Section 2.1(c) shall limit or otherwise affect the conditions
to the obligations of Buyer described in Section 6.2(g) and Section 6.2(h) .

(d) Allocation of Purchased Assets . At the Closing, and except as otherwise agreed by the parties hereto, (i) all Purchased Assets
and Assumed Liabilities located in Texas, New York and Kentucky (including with respect to Leased Premises and the underlying Theatre Leases), will
be transferred to MMT Texny; and (ii) all Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities located in Arkansas, Colorado, Georgia, Louisiana, Pennsylvania
and Virginia (including with respect to Leased Premises, the underlying Theatre Lease), will be transferred to MMT Lapagava.

Section 2.2. Assumption of Liabilities .

(a) Assumed Liabilities . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Buyer shall assume and agree to
pay, perform and discharge, as and when due, the following, and only the following, Liabilities of Parent and the Companies (collectively, the
Assumed Liabilities ):

6) all Liabilities of Parent and the Companies arising from and after the Closing under each Business Contract that is assigned

to Buyer pursuant to Section 2.1 , other than such Liabilities that relate to any failure to perform, improper performance, warranty or other breach,
default or violation by Parent or any Company on or prior to the Closing Date;
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(ii) all Liabilities of Parent and the Companies arising from and after the Closing under each Shared Contract that is assigned to
Buyer pursuant to Section 2.1 and Section 5.2 , other than such Liabilities that (A) do not relate exclusively to the Business or (B) relate to any failure to
perform, improper performance, warranty or other breach, default or violation by Parent or any of its Affiliates on or prior to the Closing Date;

(iii) all Liabilities of Parent and the Companies arising from and after the Closing under each Theatre Lease, other than such
Liabilities that relate to any failure to perform, improper performance, warranty or other breach, default or violation by Parent or any Company on or
prior to the Closing Date;

(iv) all Film Equipment Expenses arising from and after the Closing under each Film Equipment Agreement to the extent included
in the calculation of the Final Cash Purchase Price;

) all Liabilities of Parent and the Companies arising from and after the Closing under each Permit that is assigned to Buyer
pursuant to Section 2.1(a)(viii) , other than such Liabilities that relate to any failure to perform, improper performance or other breach, default or
violation by Parent or any Company on or prior to the Closing Date;

(vi) all Liabilities of Parent and the Companies in respect of Courtesy Passes issued and outstanding as of the Closing; and
(vii) all Pass Card Liabilities to the extent included in the calculation of the Final Pass Card Liability Amount.

(b) Excluded Liabilities . Except as and to the limited extent specifically set forth in Section 2.2(a) , Buyer is not assuming any
Liabilities of Parent or the Companies (including Liabilities related to otherwise Assumed Liabilities arising prior to the Closing) and all such Liabilities
shall be and remain solely the responsibility of Parent and the Companies (collectively, the “ Excluded Liabilities ). Parent or the applicable Company
shall pay, perform and discharge, as and when due, all of the Excluded Liabilities. Without limiting the generality of this Section 2.2(b) , all of the
following shall be Excluded Liabilities: (i) all Indebtedness; (ii) all Transaction Expenses; (iii) all Film Equipment Expenses to the extent not included in
the calculation of the Final Cash Purchase Price; (iv) all Pre-Closing Taxes; (v) all Environmental Liabilities; (vi) all Liabilities related to or arising out
of any Pending Litigation or Excluded Asset; (vii) all Liabilities related to or arising out of the NCM Buyout, including all NCM Buyout Obligations;
and (viii) any payment, expense or fee (including any bonus or other Compensation) that accrues or becomes payable by Parent, any Company or any of
their respective Affiliates to any current or former employee of Parent or any of its Affiliates, any Governmental Entity or any other Person as a result of,
or in connection with, the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any Ancillary Document or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement or any Ancillary Document.
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Section 2.3. The Closing . The purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets (the “ Closing ”) shall take place at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time at the
offices of Ropes & Gray LLP, 1211 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10036, as promptly as practicable following, but in no event later than, the

second (2 “d) Business Day following the satisfaction or waiver of each of the conditions set forth in Article 6 and Section 5.9(a) hereof (other than those
conditions which can be satisfied only at the Closing in accordance with their terms, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions at the Closing), or
at such other time and place as may be agreed to by the parties hereto. The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the “ Closing Date
”. A pre-Closing shall be conducted on the day prior to the scheduled Closing Date at which all documents and other items to be delivered at the Closing will be
inspected and preapproved by all of the parties. The parties intend that the Closing shall be effected, to the extent practicable, by conference call, the electronic
delivery of documents and the prior physical exchange of certain other documents to be held in escrow by outside counsel to the recipient party pending
authorization by the delivering party (or its outside counsel) of their release at the Closing. If the Closing occurs, the Closing shall be deemed to be effective for all
business, accounting, financial, Tax, legal and other purposes as of 12:01 a.m., Central Time on the Closing Date (the “ Effective Time ™).

Section 2.4. Closing Deliveries and Payments .

(a) Delivery of Closing Stock Consideration. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the
Closing, Marcus shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Parent the Closing Stock Consideration in non-certificated book-entry form to Parent’s
designated account.

(b) Marcus and Buyer Closing Deliveries and Payments . Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement, at the Closing, Buyer shall (and Marcus will cause Buyer to):

(6) pay or cause to be paid to Parent and Movie Tavern, Inc. an amount in cash equal to the Estimated Cash Purchase Price as set
forth on the Estimated Closing Statement;

(ii) pay or cause to be paid to each named party debtor set forth on the Estimated Closing Statement the applicable dollar amount,
in cash, necessary to fully repay all Indebtedness owing to such named party debtor as of the Effective Time as set forth on the applicable Pay-Off Letter
and the Estimated Closing Statement;

(iii) pay or cause to be paid to each obligee set forth on the Estimated Closing Statement the applicable dollar amount, in cash,

necessary to fully pay all Transaction Expenses owing to such obligee as of the Effective Time as set forth on any applicable invoice and the Estimated
Closing Statement;

25




(iv) with respect to all Assigned Contracts that are to be assigned to Buyer pursuant to Section 2.1 , deliver to Parent one or more
assignment and assumption agreements in the form of Exhibit B hereto (the “ Assigned Contracts Assignment and Assumption Agreement ”) duly
executed by Buyer, effecting the assignment to and assumption by Buyer of all such Assigned Contracts;

) with respect to the Intangible Property (other than the Acquired IP, which shall be transferred and conveyed pursuant to
clause (vi) below), deliver to Parent an assignment and assumption agreement in the form of Exhibit C hereto (the “ Acquired IP Assignment and
Assumption Agreement ) duly executed by Buyer, effecting the transfer and conveyance of the Intangible Property to Buyer;

(vi) with respect to the Acquired IP, deliver to Parent an assignment and assumption agreement in the form of Exhibit D hereto
(the ““ Trademark Assignment and Assumption Agreement ) duly executed by Buyer, effecting the transfer and conveyance of the Acquired IP to Buyer;

(vii) with respect to all Theatre Leases that are to be assigned to Buyer pursuant to Section 2.1 , deliver to Movie Tavern, Inc. and
Movie Tavern LLC one or more assignment and assumption agreements in the form of Exhibit E hereto (the “ Assignment and Assumption of Lease
Agreement ”) duly executed by Buyer, effecting the assignment to and assumption by Buyer of all such Theatre Leases;

(viii)  deliver to Parent the Escrow Agreement, in the form of Exhibit F hereto (the *“ Escrow Agreement ) duly executed by Buyer

and Marcus;

(ix) deliver to Parent the Shareholders’ Agreement, in the form of Exhibit G hereto (the “ Shareholders’ Agreement ) duly
executed by Buyer and Marcus; and

(x) deliver to Parent the Buyer Bring-Down Certificate duly executed by Buyer and Marcus.

(c) Parent and Company Closing Deliveries . Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the

Closing, Parent and the Companies shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer:
6)] the Assigned Contracts Assignment and Assumption Agreement duly executed by Parent and each applicable Company;
(ii) the Acquired IP Assignment and Assumption Agreement duly executed by Parent and each applicable Company;
(iii) the Trademark Assignment and Assumption Agreement duly executed by Parent and each applicable Company;

(iv) the Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement duly executed by Movie Tavern, Inc. and Movie Tavern LLC;
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) the Escrow Agreement duly executed by Parent;

(vi) the Shareholders’ Agreement duly executed by Parent;

(vii)  the Parent Bring-Down Certificate;

(viii) the FIRPTA Certificates duly executed by Parent and each Company (except that, if a Company is a disregarded entity for
U.S. federal income Tax purposes, such Company’s regarded owner for U.S. federal income Tax purposes shall duly execute any applicable FIRPTA

Certificate);

(ix) the Required Consents, duly executed by Parent or the applicable Company and each counterparty to the Assigned Contracts
to which the Required Consents relate;

(x) the Required Assignments, duly executed by Parent or the applicable Company and each counterparty to the Shared Contract
or Film Equipment Agreement to which the Required Assignments relate;

(xi) estoppel certificates, each in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer, executed by each landlord under the
Theatre Leases and by each owner’s association, declarant or the like under recorded restrictive covenant agreements or declarations affecting the Leased
Premises;

(xii) nondisturbance agreements, each in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer, executed by each holder of a
mortgage, deed of trust or other Lien on the Leased Premises that is prior to the applicable Theatre Lease for such Leased Premises, other than with
respect to any Leased Premises for which a nondisturbance agreement already exists and has been provided to Buyer prior to the date of this Agreement;
provided that such nondisturbance agreement is freely assignable to Buyer (pursuant to its original terms, or as modified or consented);

(xiii)  the Required Cash Amount at each Theatre;

(xiv)  the Required Concession Inventory at each Theatre; and

(xv) written evidence reasonably satisfactory to Buyer of the payment of all Repayment Amounts and the completion of the NCM
Buyout effective as of the Closing.

(d) Payment . All cash amounts payable pursuant to this Section 2.4 shall be paid at Closing by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated in writing by the recipient not less than two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date.
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Section 2.5. Purchase Price Adjustment .

(a) Estimated Closing Statement . Parent shall prepare in good faith and shall provide to Buyer no later than three (3) Business
Days prior to the Closing Date, a written statement (the “ Estimated Closing Statement ), together with reasonably detailed supporting information,
setting forth Parent’s good faith estimates of (i) the aggregate amount of all Indebtedness outstanding and unpaid as of the Closing (the “ Estimated
Closing Indebtedness ), including a breakdown of the amount and obligee with respect to each item of Indebtedness; (ii) the aggregate amount of all
Transaction Expenses outstanding and unpaid as of the Closing (the “ Estimated Transaction Expenses ™), including a breakdown of the amount and
obligee with respect to each Transaction Expense; (iii) the aggregate amount of all Pass Card Liabilities as of the Closing (the “ Estimated Pass Card
Liability Amount ”); (iv) the aggregate amount of all Film Equipment Expenses unpaid (whether or not then due and payable) as of the Closing (the
Estimated Film Equipment Expenses ™), including a breakdown of the amount and obligee with respect to each Film Equipment Expense; (v) the
aggregate amount of all New Theatre Development Expenses (the *“ Estimated New Theatre Development Expenses ); (vi) the Concession Inventory
Amount as of the Closing (the “ Estimated Concession Inventory Amount ”); (vii) the aggregate amount of all Repair Amounts as of the Closing (the
Estimated Repair Amounts ”); (viii) the aggregate amount of all NCM Buyout Obligations (the “ Estimated NCM Buyout Amount ), provided that the
Estimated NCM Buyout Amount shall not exceed (but may be less than) the NCM Buyout Obligation Cap; and (ix) based on clauses (i) through (viii) , a
calculation of the resulting Estimated Cash Purchase Price. The Estimated Closing Statement shall be prepared in accordance with the applicable
Accounting Principles. Prior to Closing, Parent shall consider in good faith any proposed changes to the Estimated Closing Statement proposed by
Buyer.

(b) Pay-Off Letters: Lien Releases . No later than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Parent shall deliver to Buyer
(i) pay-off letters, each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, together with UCC termination statements with respect to all
Indebtedness set forth on the Estimated Closing Statement (each, a “ Pay-Off Letter ”); and (ii) full releases of all Liens securing or in respect of all
Indebtedness set forth on the Estimated Closing Statement (each, a “ Lien Release ). Without limitation, each Pay-Off Letter shall set forth, with respect
to the applicable Indebtedness, the dollar amount necessary to fully repay such Indebtedness at the Closing (including per diem amounts through the
Closing Date), wire-transfer pay-off instructions for such Indebtedness, a reasonably detailed description of any Liens securing or in respect of such
Indebtedness, and contact information for the named party debtor with respect to such Indebtedness.

(c) Determination of Final Cash Purchase Price .

6) No later than ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall prepare and deliver, or cause to be prepared and delivered,
to Parent a written statement (the “ Final Closing Statement ) setting forth the proposed amounts and calculations of (i) the aggregate amount of all
Indebtedness outstanding and unpaid as of the Closing (the *“ Final Closing Indebtedness ™); (ii) the aggregate amount of all Transaction Expenses
outstanding and unpaid as of the Closing (the “ Final Transaction Expenses ”); (iii) the aggregate amount of all Pass Card Liabilities as of the Closing (the
“ Final Pass Card Liability Amount ”); (iv) the aggregate amount of all Film Equipment Expenses unpaid (whether or not then due and payable) as of the
Closing (the “ Final Film Equipment Expenses ”); (v) the aggregate amount of all New Theatre Development Expenses (the “ Final New Theatre
Development Expenses ™); (vi) the Concession Inventory Amount as of the Closing (the *“ Final Concession Inventory Amount ™); (vii) the aggregate
amount of all Repair Amounts as of the Closing (the “ Final Repair Amount ); (viii) the aggregate amount of all NCM Buyout Obligations (the *“ Final
NCM Buyout Amount ™), provided that the Final NCM Buyout Amount shall not exceed (but may be less than) the NCM Buyout Obligation Cap; and (ix)
based on clauses (i) through ( viii ), a calculation of the resulting Final Cash Purchase Price (such amounts and calculations, the “ Proposed Closing Date
Calculations ”). The Final Closing Statement shall be prepared, and the Proposed Closing Date Calculations shall be made, in accordance with the
applicable Accounting Principles.
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(A) If Parent does not give written notice of any dispute describing in reasonable detail the basis for such dispute and its
alternative calculation of each item of the Final Cash Purchase Price in dispute (a “ Purchase Price Dispute Notice ) to Buyer within thirty (30)
days of receiving the Final Closing Statement, the Proposed Closing Date Calculations shall be deemed to be final, in each case, for purposes of
determining the Actual Adjustment. Prior to the end of such thirty (30) day period, Parent may accept the Proposed Closing Date Calculations by
delivering written notice to that effect to Buyer, in which case the Final Cash Purchase Price will be finally determined when such notice is
given.

(B) If Parent delivers a timely Purchase Price Dispute Notice to Buyer, Buyer and Parent shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to resolve the dispute during the thirty (30) day period commencing on the date Buyer receives the Purchase Price Dispute
Notice from Parent. If Parent and Buyer do not agree upon a final resolution with respect to any disputed items within such thirty (30)-day
period, then the remaining items in dispute shall be submitted immediately to Grant Thornton LLP (the “ Accounting Firm ™). The Accounting
Firm shall be instructed to render a determination of the applicable dispute within thirty (30) days after referral of the matter to such Accounting
Firm, which determination must be in writing and must set forth, in reasonable detail, the basis therefor.

© Within ten (10) days after the engagement of the Accounting Firm, Parent and Buyer shall present their respective
positions with respect to the items set forth in the Purchase Price Dispute Notice in the form of a written report a copy of which shall be
delivered to the other party hereto, and (without limiting the rights of Parent and its agents under Section 2.5(c)(ii) ) no ex parte conferences,
oral examinations, testimony, depositions, discovery or other form of evidence gathering or hearings shall be conducted or allowed; provided
that, at the Accounting Firm’s request, or as mutually agreed by Parent and Buyer, Parent and Buyer may meet with the Accounting Firm so long
as representatives of both Parent and Buyer are present. The Accounting Firm’s determination shall be instructed to be based solely on the
written reports submitted to the Accounting Firm by Parent and Buyer, oral submissions by Parent and Buyer at meetings held in compliance
with the prior sentence, and on the definitions and other terms included herein (i.e., not on independent review); provided that, in resolving a
disputed item, the Accounting Firm may not assign a value to any particular item greater than the greatest value for such item or less than the
smallest value for such item, in each case claimed by Buyer or Parent in the written reports presented to the Accounting Firm. The Accounting
Firm’s decision with respect to the matters in dispute shall be final and binding on the parties hereto, and any party may seek to enforce such
decision in a court of competent jurisdiction.
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(D) The terms of appointment and engagement of the Accounting Firm shall be as agreed upon between Parent and
Buyer, and any associated engagement fees shall be initially borne fifty percent (50%) by Parent and fifty percent (50%) by Buyer; provided that
such fees shall ultimately be borne as set forth below. All other costs and expenses incurred by the parties hereto in connection with resolving
any dispute hereunder before the Accounting Firm shall be borne by the party incurring such cost and expense. The fees and disbursements of
the Accounting Firm shall ultimately be allocated among Parent, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, in the same proportion that the
aggregate amount of the disputed items submitted to the Accounting Firm that are unsuccessfully disputed by them (as finally determined by the
Accounting Firm) bears to the total amount of such disputed items so submitted. Such determination of the Accounting Firm shall be conclusive
and binding upon the parties hereto. The Proposed Closing Date Calculations shall be revised as appropriate to reflect the resolution of any
objections thereto pursuant to Section 2.5(c)(1)(A) and, as so revised, such Proposed Closing Date Calculations shall be deemed to set forth the
Final Cash Purchase Price for all purposes hereunder, including the determination of the Actual Adjustment.

(ii) Buyer shall, upon written request by Parent, provide Parent and its accountants and other representatives with reasonable
access to the work papers, schedules, memoranda, and other non-privileged documents and records used by Buyer to calculate the Proposed Closing Date
Calculations at reasonable times during normal business hours during the period of review by Parent of, and in connection with the resolution of any
objections with respect to, the Proposed Closing Date Calculations.

(d) Payment of Actual Adjustment .

6) If the Actual Adjustment is a positive amount, Buyer shall (and Marcus shall cause Buyer to) pay, or shall cause to be paid,
to Parent or Movie Tavern, Inc. the Actual Adjustment by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Parent, in each case,
within five (5) Business Days after the date on which the Final Cash Purchase Price is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.5(d)(i) .
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(ii) If the Actual Adjustment is a negative amount, then within five (5) Business Days after the date on which the Final Cash
Purchase Price is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.5(d)(ii) , at Buyer’s election: (A) Parent shall pay, or shall cause to be paid, to Buyer an
amount equal to the Actual Adjustment; or (B) Buyer and Parent shall deliver a joint written instruction to the Escrow Agent directing the Escrow Agent
to distribute to Buyer cash in the amount of the Actual Adjustment from the Escrow Fund.

Section 2.6. Treatment of Transaction and Purchase Price Allocation . Within ninety (90) days after the calculation and payment, if any, of the
Actual Adjustment, Parent shall deliver a draft schedule allocating the purchase price (as determined for Tax purposes) (the “ Allocation Schedule ) among the
Purchased Assets solely for Tax purposes, including the assets of the Companies, in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code (and any similar provisions of state
or local Law, as appropriate), it being agreed that $1,150,000 of the purchase price (as determined for Tax purposes) shall be allocated to the Pennsylvania Liquor
Permits. Following delivery of the initial draft Allocation Schedule, Buyer and Parent shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any disagreement regarding the
allocation of the purchase price (as determined for Tax purposes) to the Purchased Assets, and to prepare a final Allocation Schedule. If Buyer and Parent fail to
come to an agreement regarding the allocation of the purchase price to any of the Purchased Assets within ninety (90) days after Parent delivers the draft
Allocation Schedule to Buyer, such dispute shall be shall be submitted immediately to the Accounting Firm for resolution. The fees and expenses of the
Accounting Firm shall be borne equally by Parent, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other. The parties shall (a) report, act and file their respective Tax Returns
(including IRS Form 8594) (i) in accordance with such allocation and any adjustments thereto and the tax treatment described above, and (ii) treat the
Contemplated Transactions for US federal income tax purposes as a taxable purchase of assets and not as a reorganization under Section 368 of the Code, and (b)
shall not take any position on a Tax Return or in a Tax audit or similar proceeding inconsistent with clause (a) above, in each case except upon a contrary final
determination by an applicable taxing authority. To the extent that the Purchase Price is adjusted, Parent shall prepare an updated Allocation Schedule in
accordance with the procedure set forth in this Section 2.6 . Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree that the portion of any Estimated Cash Purchase Price
paid (or deemed to be paid for federal income Tax purposes) and the Closing Stock Consideration payable to Movie Tavern, Inc. shall be limited so that the
quotient of the portion of the Estimated Cash Purchase Price payable to Movie Tavern, Inc. divided by the sum of the value of the Closing Stock Consideration and
the Estimated Cash Purchase Price (in each case, payable to Movie Tavern, Inc.) shall be no less than 0.21 (the “ Consideration Ratio ). For purposes of the
Consideration Ratio, the value of the Closing Stock Consideration on the Closing Date shall be estimated by Buyer using any reasonable method. In the event the
Purchase Price (for federal income Tax purposes) is adjusted, the parties agree to adjust the amount of cash paid to Movie Tavern, Inc. so that the Consideration
Ratio remains at or above 0.21, with any excess cash paid to Parent treated as paid to Movie Tavern, Inc. and then subsequently loaned or distributed to Parent.

Section 2.7. Withholding . Notwithstanding other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer shall have the right to deduct and withhold
from any payments to be made hereunder any amounts required to be withheld from such payments. All such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of
this Agreement as having been delivered and paid to the applicable recipient of payment in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made. Buyer
shall notify Parent of any withholding as soon as reasonably practicable, and shall cooperate with Parent to the extent requested using commercially reasonable
efforts to minimize any such withholding, with Parent paying any of Buyer’s out-of-pocket expenses in connection with such efforts.
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Section 2.8. Tax, Utility, Rental and Other Adjustments .

(a) The following items accruing against the Purchased Assets prior to the year in which the Closing occurs shall be paid by
Parent and the Companies, and with respect to the year in which the Closing occurs, shall be apportioned and prorated between Parent and the
Companies, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, as of the Closing Date; provided , however , that, if the precise amount of any item listed
below cannot be ascertained on the Closing Date, apportionment and proration shall be computed on the basis of the amount payable for each respective
item during the year immediately preceding the year in which the Closing occurs and any prorations shall be adjusted thereafter on the basis of the actual
charges for such items for the year in which the Closing occurs, which adjustment shall occur within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt by the party
owing the adjustment of the appropriate documentation supporting the actual charges, including, but not limited to, any billing or substantiation thereof
received from the lessor or sublessor related thereto:

@) Subject to Section 2.8(c) , rent, additional rent, common area maintenance and all other charges payable by Parent or any
Company as tenant under the respective Theatre Leases; provided , however , that any charge payable on a monthly basis which is subject to year-end
adjustment shall be prorated for the month in which the Closing Date occurs and any year-end adjustment thereof shall be paid by (or the refund from the
lessor or sublessor paid to) Parent and the Companies, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, in proportion to their respective payments thereof;
and

(ii) Payments owing by Parent or any Company under the respective Theatre Leases to merchants’ associations or similar
business promotion organizations.

(b) Amounts imposed upon or assessed against each respective Theatre (and not otherwise payable by Parent or any Company as
tenant under the respective Theatre Leases directly to the lessor or sublessor thereunder or payable by lessor or sublessor without any obligation of
payment on the part of Parent or any Company) shall be remitted to the collecting authorities by Parent or the Companies if the same are due and
payable on or before the Closing Date, and by Buyer if due and payable thereafter; provided , however , that amounts imposed upon or assessed against
the Purchased Assets for the lease year or Tax year (whichever is applicable) in which the Closing Date occurs (the “ Proration Period ) shall be
apportioned and prorated between Parent and the Companies, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, on and as of the Closing Date with Buyer
bearing the expense of Buyer’s proportionate share of such amounts which shall be equal to the product obtained by multiplying a fraction, the
numerator being the aggregate of such amounts and the denominator being 365, by the number of days in the Proration Period following the Closing
Date. If any party (the “ Paying Party ) pays or has paid an amount for which the other party (the “ Non-Paying Party ”) is responsible pursuant to the
apportionment set forth in this Section 2.8(b) , the Paying Party shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Non-Paying Party.
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(c) With respect to those Theatre Leases that require any percentage rent payment for the lease year in which the Closing Date
occurs, which percentage rent calculations are summarized on Schedule 2.8(c) , the percentage rent (taking into account any applicable credits or
adjustments) shall be prorated between Parent and the Companies, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, such that each party shall be obligated
to pay its proportionate share of the total percentage rent payable for such lease year. Each party’s proportionate share shall equal such party’s respective
gross receipts, box office receipts or gross sales (as applicable under and as defined in the respective Theatre Lease for determining percentage rent
owed, the “ Gross Receipts ”), divided by the total Gross Receipts, in each case, for that Theatre for such lease year. Within thirty (30) days after the
Closing, Parent and the Companies shall provide Buyer with documentation, reasonably acceptable to Buyer, of the amount of Gross Receipts accruing
for each month prior to the month of Closing, and the approximate amount of Gross Receipts accruing month-to-date for the month of Closing, for the
lease year in which the Closing occurs under each respective Theatre Lease. After Buyer calculates the amount of percentage rent for each Theatre Lease
for the lease year in which the Closing occurs in accordance with the provisions of such Theatre Lease, Buyer shall notify Parent of such percentage rent
amount, and upon receipt of documentation supporting such payment in form reasonably acceptable to Parent, the parties shall make the payments
required by this Section 2.8(c) to the party to whom any amount is due.

(d) Any adjustments to the Purchase Price under this Section 2.8 shall be effected, to the extent then known, by adjusting the
Estimated Cash Purchase Price payable by Buyer at Closing, and to the extent not then known, within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt by the party
owing payment of the appropriate documentation supporting the actual charges, by cash payment from the party owing monies because of the adjustment
to the party benefiting from the adjustments.

Section 2.9. Closing Stock Consideration Adjustments . Without limiting any other the provision in this Agreement, if, from the Agreement

Date until the Closing, the shares of Marcus Common Stock shall have been changed into, or exchanged for, a different number of shares or a different class, by
reason of any stock dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split, combination, exchange of shares, or similar transaction, the Closing Stock
Consideration and any items on which the calculation of the Closing Stock Consideration depends, as the case may be, shall be correspondingly adjusted as
appropriate to provide the holders of the shares of Marcus Common Stock the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such event.

ARTICLE 3
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES REGARDING PARENT AND THE COMPANIES

Parent and the Companies (on a joint and several basis) hereby represent and warrant to Buyer and Marcus that the representations and warranties in this

Article 3 are true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are made on and
as of a specified date, in which case as of such specified date):
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Section 3.1. Organization and Qualification .

(a) Parent and each Company is a corporation, partnership or limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in
good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization. Parent and each Company has the requisite power and authority under its Governing
Documents to own, lease and operate its assets and properties and to carry on its businesses as presently conducted.

(b) Parent and each Company is duly qualified or licensed to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in
which the property and assets owned, leased or operated by it, or the nature of the business conducted by it, makes such qualification or licensing
necessary except where the failure to be so qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of a Company to perform its obligations
under this Agreement.

(c) Each Company has made available to Buyer an accurate and complete copy of each Governing Document of such Company,
in each case, as in effect as of the date of this Agreement.

Section 3.2. Authority . Parent and each Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to (a) own and operate the Purchased Assets
and to carry on the Business as and where currently conducted; and (b) execute and deliver this Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument or
certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (the “ Ancillary Documents ) to which Parent
or such Company is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The
execution and delivery of this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents to which Parent or a Company is a party, the performance by Parent or such
Company of their obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly
authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Parent and the relevant Company. This Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents to which Parent
or a Company is a party have been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by Parent or such Company, as applicable, and constitutes a valid, legal and
binding agreement of Parent or such Company (assuming that this Agreement has been, and the Ancillary Documents to which Parent or such Company is a party
will have been, duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by the other Persons party thereto at or prior to the Closing), enforceable against Parent or such
Company in accordance with their respective terms, except (i) to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and (ii) that the availability of equitable remedies, including
specific performance, is subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding thereof may be brought.
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Section 3.3. Financial Statements . Attached hereto as Schedule 3.3 are correct and complete copies of (a) the unaudited statements of income of
the Business for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017, and an unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Business (the “ Recent Balance Sheet )
for the month ended August 31, 2018 (collectively, the “ Consolidated Financial Statements ” and such August date, the “ Balance Sheet Date ); and (b) separate
unaudited statements of income of each Theatre location, each as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017, and unaudited statements of
income of each Theatre location, for the month ended August 31, 2018 (collectively, together with the Consolidated Financial Statements, the “ Financial
Statements ). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.3 , the Financial Statements (x) have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Principles on a consistent
basis throughout the periods covered thereby and (y) fairly present, in all material respects, the results of operations of the Business and the Theatre locations,
individually and on a combined basis, for periods reflected therein.

Section 3.4. Concession Inventory . All Concession Inventory as of the Closing (a) consists of a quality and quantity that is commercially useable
and saleable in the ordinary course of the Business consistent with past practices at the Theatres (taking into account historical and seasonal usage patterns) of all
major inventory categories; and (b) does not include any Concession Inventory that is spoiled, expired, obsolete or no longer used in connection with the ordinary
operation of the Business.

Section 3.5. Reserved .

Section 3.6. Consents and Approvals; No Violations . Except as set forth on Schedule 3.6 and for compliance with and filings under the HSR
Act, no notices to, filings with, or authorizations, consents or approvals of any Person or Governmental Entity are necessary for the execution, delivery or
performance by Parent or any Company of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which Parent or such Company is a party or the consummation by Parent
or the Companies of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. Neither the execution, delivery or performance by Parent or a Company of this Agreement or
the Ancillary Documents to which Parent or such Company is a party nor the consummation by Parent or such Company of the transactions contemplated hereby
or thereby nor compliance by Parent or such Company with any of the provisions hereof or thereof will (a) conflict with or result in any breach or violation of any
provision of Parent’s or such Company’s Governing Documents, (b) except as set forth on Schedule 3.6 , result in a violation or breach of, require any consent or
notice under, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default or event of default under or give rise to any right of termination,
cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or to a loss of a benefit under, or give rise to any obligation to make any payment under, any of the terms, conditions
or provisions of any Assigned Contract or Permit, (c) subject to compliance with and filings under the HSR Act, violate any Law or (d) except as contemplated by
this Agreement or with respect to Permitted Liens, result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the Purchased Assets.

Section 3.7. Vendors . Set forth on Schedule 3.7 is a list of the top ten (10) largest vendors (measured by dollar volume of purchases) of the
Business during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and the nine (9) month period ended September 30, 2018 (each such vendor, a “ Key Vendor ). Neither
Parent nor any Company has received notice from any Key Vendor to the effect or expressing an intention that any Key Vendor will cancel or terminate its
business relationship with, materially decrease the rate of, or materially change the terms with respect to, supplying goods or services to the Business.
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Section 3.8. Material Contracts .

(a) Schedule 3.8(a) lists each of the following Contracts and other agreements in effect as of the Agreement Date and as of the
Closing:
6) all Contracts for the employment or other engagement of any current officer, director, employee, independent contractor or

other Person by a Company providing for annual base compensation, consulting fees, management fees or advisory fees in excess of $100,000;

(ii) all Contracts relating to Indebtedness or to mortgaging, pledging or otherwise placing a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on
any portion of the Purchased Assets (including, without limitation, any guaranty of or any obligation for borrowed money or other material guaranty);

(iii) all partnership, joint venture or similar Contracts providing for the sharing of profits, revenues or cash flows of the Business
or any Company with another Person;

(iv) all Contracts purporting to prohibit, limit or restrict a Company (or, following the Closing, Buyer or any of its Affiliates) from
freely engaging in any business or the manner or location in which it may engage in any business or which could require the disposition of any material
assets or any line of business of such Company (or, following the Closing, Buyer or any of its Affiliates);

W) the Shared Contracts;

(vi) all collective bargaining agreements, labor contracts or other Contracts covering Business Employees between a Company
and any labor union, works council or other employee representative organization (each, a “ Union );

(vii)  all Contracts with any content distributor or broker providing for the distribution, delivery or booking of films, shorts, trailers
or any other content to be exhibited in any screen included in the Business;

(viii)  all Contracts that relate to the disposition or acquisition of any material business, assets or properties by a Company, or any
merger, sale of stock or other Equity Interests, sale of assets or business combination with respect to a Company;

(ix) all Contracts under which a Company is, or may become, obligated to incur any severance, retention, change of control or
other payment, benefit or other Compensation obligations that would be created, accelerate, accrue, vest or become payable as a result of, or in connection
with, the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any Ancillary Document or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (whether
alone or in connection with any subsequent event);
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(x) all Contracts with a Company, on the one hand, and a Governmental Entity, on the other hand;
(xi) all Contracts with a Key Vendor;

(xii) all Contracts (or group of related Contracts with the same party or related parties) under which a Company is, or is
reasonably likely to become, obligated to pay amounts in excess of $250,000 per annum and which cannot be cancelled by Parent or the Company party
thereto, as applicable, without penalty or without more than thirty (30) days’ notice, other than any Employee Benefit Plans;

(xiii) all Contracts (or group of related Contracts with the same party or related parties) under which a Company is, or is
reasonably likely to become, entitled to receive payment of amounts in excess of $250,000 per annum and which cannot be cancelled by Parent or the
Company party thereto, as applicable, without penalty or without more than thirty (30) days’ notice;

(xiv)  all Contracts between a Company, on the one hand, and Parent or any officer, director or Affiliate of any Company or Parent,
on the other hand;

(xv)  all Contracts relating to the settlement or resolution of any Action in respect of the Business;

(xvi)  all Contracts under which Parent or any Company purports to grant any Person any right to use any Acquired IP or any other
Intellectual Property owned or used by the Companies (other than non-exclusive licenses granted in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice);

(xvii)  all Theatre Leases; and
(xviii) all Film Equipment Agreements.

(b) Parent and the Companies have made available to Buyer accurate and complete copies of each written Contract (or an
accurate and reasonably detailed written description of the material terms of each oral Contract) listed or required to be listed on Schedule 3.8(a)
(collectively, the “ Material Contracts ). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8(b) , each Assigned Contract is in full force and effect and valid and binding
on the applicable Company or Parent, as applicable, and enforceable in accordance with its terms against Parent or such Company, as applicable, and to
the Knowledge of Parent, each other party thereto (subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Laws affecting
generally the enforcement of creditors’ rights and subject to general principles of equity). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8(b) , neither Parent nor any
Company nor, to the Knowledge of Parent, any other party to any Assigned Contract, is in material breach of or default under such Assigned Contract,
and no fact, circumstance, act or omission has occurred that, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder.
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Section 3.9. Absence of Changes . Since the Balance Sheet Date, (a) no event, change, fact, condition or circumstance has occurred or arisen that
has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect, and (b) except as disclosed on Schedule 3.9 , Parent and the Companies have
conducted the Business in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, and none of Parent or any Company has (i) taken any action or omitted to
take any action that would have violated the provisions of Section 5.4 if such provisions had been in effect at all times since August 31, 2018 or (ii) suffered any
material loss, damage, destruction or eminent domain taking, whether or not covered by insurance, with respect to any of the Purchased Assets or the Business.

Section 3.10. Litigation . Except as set forth on Schedule 3.10 , (a) there is no Action pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened or
contemplated, by or against Parent (in respect of the Business) or any Company or any of their respective directors, managers, officers or equity holders (in such
capacity), and (b) to the Knowledge of Parent, there is no basis for any such Actions (all such pending, threatened or contemplated Action, whether or not set forth
on Schedule 3.10 , the “ Pending Litigation ). Neither any Company nor any of the Purchased Assets are subject to any Governmental Order.

Section 3.11. Compliance with Applicable Law; Permits . Except as set forth in Schedule 3.11 , Parent (in respect of the Business) and each
Company is and has been since January 1, 2015 in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws, and neither Parent nor any Company has received
any written notice or, to the Knowledge of Parent, oral notice alleging any failure to comply with any such Laws. The Companies hold and are in compliance in all
material respects with all permits, licenses, approvals, certificates, registrations, listings, clearances, approvals and other authorizations of and from all, and have
made all material declarations and filings with, Governmental Entities necessary for the lawful conduct of the Business (including the sale of alcohol at each
Theatre) as conducted on the Agreement Date and the Closing Date (the “ Permits ). There are no pending disciplinary Actions, unresolved citations or unsatisfied
penalties related to Permits concerning the sale and consumption of alcohol at any Theatre that could materially adversely impact any Theatre or the ability to
maintain or renew any such Permits.

Section 3.12. Employee Plans .

(a) Schedule 3.12(a) lists all material Employee Benefit Plans.

(b) None of the Employee Benefits Plans is a plan subject to Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Sections 412 or 430 of the
Code, including any multiemployer plan (within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA), and no facts or circumstances exist that could result in the
imposition on Buyer (as a successor employer or otherwise) of any liability under Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 or Section 430 of the
Code with respect thereto.
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(c) With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan listed on Schedule 3.12(a) , the Companies have made available to Buyer correct
and complete copies, to the extent applicable, of (i) such plan or benefit (or, if not been reduced to writing, a summary of its material terms), and (ii) the
most recent Internal Revenue Service determination, opinion, or advisory letter, if applicable, for any Employee Benefit Plan that is a 401(k) plan.

(d) Other than as listed in Schedule 3.12(d) , the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, whether
alone or together with any other event, will not entitle any current or former employee, director or individual independent contractor of the Business to
severance pay or any other Compensation. For the avoidance of doubt, any Liability listed or that is required to be listed on Schedule 3.12(d) shall be an
Excluded Liability.

Section 3.13. Labor and Employment Matters .

(a) Schedule 3.13(a) contains a correct and complete list of all Business Employees as of the Agreement Date and sets forth for
each listed individual the following (as applicable): (i) name; (ii) the applicable employer; (iii) title, position or service provided; (iv) hire or engagement
date; (v) current annual base salary or hourly wage rate; (vi) commission, bonus or other incentive-based compensation; (vii) whether such employee is
classified as exempt or non-exempt from overtime pay requirements; and (viii) work location.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13(b) , to the Knowledge of Parent, (i) none of Parent, the Companies or any of their
respective Affiliates is subject to any collective bargaining or other agreement with a Union with respect to any of the Business Employees, and no such
agreement is being negotiated; (ii) as of the date of this Agreement, no union organization campaign is in progress with respect to any Business
Employees, and there has been no such campaign at any time on or after January 1, 2015; and (iii) no Business Employee is represented by a Union, and
no petition has been filed by or on behalf of any such Union with any Governmental Entity seeking recognition of a bargaining representative of any
such Business Employees.

(c) The Companies and their Affiliates are and have been since January 1, 2015 in compliance in all material respects with all
applicable Laws pertaining to employment and employment practices to the extent they relate to the Business Employees.

39




Section 3.14. Intellectual Property .

(a) Schedule 3.14(a) contains a correct and complete list of (i) all Intellectual Property owned by Parent (primarily in respect of
the Business) and the Companies that is subject to any issuance, registration, or application by or with any Governmental Entity or authorized private
registrar in any jurisdiction, including issued patents, registered trademarks, domain names and copyrights, and pending applications for any of the
foregoing (the “ Intellectual Property Registrations ), specifying as to each, as applicable: the title, mark, or design; the jurisdiction by or in which it has
been issued, registered or filed; the patent, registration or application serial number; the issue, registration or filing date; and the current status. Except as
set forth on Schedule 3.14(a) , Parent or the applicable Company owns, licenses or otherwise has a valid right to use, free and clear of all Liens except for
Permitted Liens, all Acquired IP, including but not limited to all Intellectual Property Registrations, of Parent or the Companies used in connection with
the Business.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.14(b) : (i) there are no Actions settled, threatened or pending against Parent or any Company
contesting the use, validity or ownership of Acquired IP, or alleging that Parent or any Company has or is currently infringing, misappropriating or
otherwise violating the Intellectual Property rights of any other Person; and (ii) there are no Actions threatened, pending or settled that have been brought
by Parent or a Company against any Person alleging infringement of any Acquired IP. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.14(b) , (x) the conduct of the
Business as currently conducted and as proposed to be conducted does not infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate any Intellectual Property rights of
any Person, and (y) no Person is currently infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Acquired IP.

() Parent and each Company has taken reasonable steps to safeguard the IT Systems utilized in the operations of the Business,
including the implementation of procedures to ensure that such information technology systems are free from any disabling codes or instructions, timer,
copy protection device, clock, counter or other limiting design or routing and any “back door,” “time bomb,” “Trojan horse,” “worm,” “drop dead
devices,” “virus,” or other software routines or hardware components that, in each case, permit unauthorized access or the unauthorized disablement or
unauthorized erasure of data or other software by a third party, and there have been no successful unauthorized intrusions or breaches of the security of
such information technology systems.

(d) Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.14(d) , since January 1, 2015, none of Parent nor any Company has experienced any
incident in which personal information or other sensitive data was stolen or improperly accessed, and Parent and each Company is not aware of any facts
suggesting the likelihood of the foregoing, including without limitation, any breach of security or receipt of any notices or complaints from any Person
regarding personal information or other data. No notice, action or assertion has been received by Parent or any Company since January 1, 2015 or has
been filed, commenced or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened against any Affiliate of Parent alleging any violation of any Laws relating to data
security.
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Section 3.15. Insurance .

(a) Schedule 3.15(a) contains a true, correct and complete list of all policies of fire, liability, workers’ compensation, property,
casualty and other forms of insurance (including primary, excess and umbrella policies) owned or held by or on behalf of or providing insurance coverage
to the Companies, the Business or any of the Companies’ directors, officers, managers, salespersons, agents, employees or other representatives in their
capacities as such, in each case, as amended or otherwise modified and in effect (the * Insurance Policies ) on the Agreement Date and on the Closing
Date. Schedule 3.15(a) includes the carrier, the description of coverage, the limits of coverage, retention or deductible amounts, amount of annual
premiums, date of expiration and the date through which premiums have been paid with respect to each Insurance Policy and any pending claims in
excess of $10,000.

(b) Each Insurance Policy is valid, outstanding and enforceable, all premiums with respect thereto covering all periods up to and
including the Closing Date have or will have been paid as of the Closing Date, and no notice of cancellation or termination has been received by Parent or
any Company with respect to any such Insurance Policy.

(c) The Insurance Policies are sufficient in all material respects for compliance by the Parent (in respect of the Business) and each
Company with all requirements of applicable Laws, Permits and Contracts.

(d) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.15(d) , neither Parent nor any Company has made any claim under any such Insurance
Policy with respect to which an insurer has, in a written notice to Parent or any Company, questioned, denied or disputed or otherwise reserved its rights

with respect to such coverage, and no insurer has threatened in writing to cancel any such Insurance Policy.

(e) Since January 1, 2015, all general liability policies maintained by or for the benefit of the Companies and the Business have
been “occurrence” policies and not “claims made” policies.

Section 3.16. Tax Matters . Except as set forth on Schedule 3.16 :

(a) the Companies have prepared and duly filed (or have had so prepared and filed on its behalf) with the appropriate domestic
federal, state and local taxing authorities all income Tax Returns and all other material Tax Returns required to be filed with respect to the Companies;

(b) the Companies have timely and fully paid (or have had timely and fully paid on its behalf) all Taxes due and owing by the
Companies (whether or not shown as due on any Tax Return);

(c) the Companies have withheld and paid to the appropriate Governmental Entity all amounts the Companies are obligated to
withhold from amounts owing to any employee, independent contractor, customer, equity interest holder, creditor or other party, and complied with all
material information reporting and backup withholding provisions of applicable Law;

(d) all income Tax Returns and all other material Tax Returns filed by or on behalf of the Companies are true, complete and

correct in all material respects;
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(e) no Company is currently the subject of a Tax audit, examination, suit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to any Taxes,
and to the Knowledge of Parent, none of the foregoing is threatened against or with respect to any Company, and to the Knowledge of Parent there are no
matters under discussion, audit or appeal with any Governmental Entity with respect to Taxes of the Companies;

® no Company has waived or consented to extend the time, or been the beneficiary of any extension of time, in which any Tax
may be assessed or collected by any taxing authority (other than any extension which is no longer in effect or routine extension to file a Tax Return);

(2) no Company has received from any taxing authority any notice of proposed adjustment, deficiency, underpayment of Taxes or
any other such notice which has not since been satisfied by payment or been withdrawn;

(h) no claim has been made by any taxing authority in a jurisdiction where the Companies do not file Tax Returns that any
Company is or may be subject to taxation by or filing requirements with that jurisdiction, which has not been withdrawn or settled;

(1) since the Balance Sheet Date, none of the Companies has incurred any Tax Liability arising from extraordinary gains or losses,
as that term is used in GAAP, outside the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

G4 Parent has delivered to Buyer copies of all federal, state, local and foreign income, franchise and similar Tax Returns,
examination and audit reports and IRS Forms 3115 of the Companies, and all proposed and final assessments, and statements of deficiencies assessed
against, or agreed to by, the Companies since January 1, 2015;

(k) no Company nor any of the Purchased Assets is subject to any Liens for Taxes (other than Permitted Liens);

) no Company has entered into, nor is the beneficiary of, any Contract with any Governmental Entity that provides for any Tax
exemption or incentive to any Company with respect to the Purchased Assets (but excluding any exemption or incentive this is non-discretionary);

(m) no Company has ever been a member of an affiliated, combined, consolidated or unitary Tax group for Tax purposes (other
than a group the common parent of which was the Parent or its direct or indirect parent);

(n) none of Parent or any Company is a “foreign person” as that term is used in Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2;

(0) no Company is, and has ever been, a party to, or a promoter of, a “reportable transaction” within the meaning of
Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b); and
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(p) the Companies have collected all sales Taxes required to be collected, and have remitted, or will remit on a timely basis, such
amounts to the appropriate Governmental Entity (or have timely and properly collected and maintained all resale certificates, exemption certificates and
other documentation required to qualify for any exemption from the collection or payment of sales Taxes imposed or due in connection with the business
of the Companies; provided , however , that Buyer shall not be entitled to rely on any resale certificates, exemption certificates or other documentation
collected by the Companies for sales Tax purposes for any Tax period ending after the Closing Date, other than the portion of a Straddle Period ending on
the Closing Date (or any Tax liability attributable to any such period)).

Section 3.17. Brokers . Except as set forth on Schedule 3.17 , no broker, finder, financial advisor or investment banker is entitled to any broker’s,
finder’s, financial advisor’s, investment banker’s fee or commission or similar payment in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based

upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent or any of its Affiliates or any Company.

Section 3.18. Real and Personal Property .

(a) The Companies do not own any real property. Schedule 3.18(a) sets forth a list of the addresses of all Leased Premises and a
list of all Theatre Leases.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.18(b) :

(1) each Theatre Lease is valid and binding on the Company party thereto, in full force and effect, and enforceable in accordance
with its terms (subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Laws affecting generally the enforcement of creditors’
rights and subject to general principles of equity); there are no existing defaults or any events that with passage of time or the giving of notice, or both,
would constitute an event of default by the tenant under any Theatre Lease or, to the Knowledge of Parent, by any other party to any Theatre Lease;

(i1) there are no written or oral leases, subleases, licenses, concessions, occupancy rights or other Contracts granting to any Person
other than a Company the right to use or occupy any Leased Premises, and there is no Person in possession or occupancy of any Leased Premises other
than the Companies;

(iii) the Leasehold Interests are free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens;

(iv) none of the Leased Premises, nor the condition nor the use thereof by the Companies, including the operation of the Business
of the Companies, contravenes or violates any applicable zoning ordinance or other Law relating to the operation of the Leased Premises;

v) the use of the Leased Premises as currently used is a permitted use by right under applicable zoning and similar Law and is not
a nonconforming use, special use, or conditional use;
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(vi) neither the Companies nor any of their Affiliates has received any notice of any violation of any applicable zoning ordinance
or other Law relating to the operation of the Leased Premises; and

(vii) there are currently in full force and effect duly issued certificates of occupancy permitting the Leased Premises to be legally
used and occupied as the same are currently constituted, and each of the Companies and their Affiliates are and have been since January 1, 2015 in
compliance in all material respects with all restrictions, covenants and agreements related to the Leased Premises.

(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.18(c) , all of the Leased Premises have permanent rights of access to existing publically
dedicated and open roads, and, to the Knowledge of Parent, there is no: (i) condition or circumstance that would, or could reasonably be expected to
prohibit, adversely affect or threaten ordinary rights of access to and from any of the Leased Premises or existing publicly dedicated and open roads; (ii)
planned or proposed increase in assessed valuation of any of the Leased Premises (other than increases in the ordinary course consistent with past
assessments); (iii) public improvements that have been commenced or that are planned that, in either case, may result in a material special assessment
against or otherwise materially adversely affect the value of any of the Leased Premises; or (iv) Leased Premises, or any part thereof, located in any flood
plain, flood hazard area, wetland or coastal control area.

Section 3.19. Title to and Sufficiency and Condition of Purchased Assets . Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.19 :

(a) The Companies have sole and exclusive, good and marketable title to or, in the case of property held under a lease or other
Contract, a sole and exclusive enforceable leasehold interest in or adequate rights to use all of the Purchased Assets, free and clear of all Liens, except for
Permitted Liens.

(b) The buildings, structures, furniture, fixtures, equipment, supplies and other items of Tangible Personal Property included in
the Purchased Assets are in good operating condition and repair, and are adequate for the uses to which they are being put, reasonable wear and tear
excepted.

(c) The Purchased Assets as of the Closing constitute all of the Tangible Personal Property, Intangible Property, IT Systems,
Concession Inventory, Contracts, Permits and other assets that are necessary to conduct (lawfully and in compliance with all Contracts and Permits) the
Business immediately following the Closing in substantially the same manner as the Business is conducted on the Agreement Date and on the Closing
Date.

Section 3.20. Environmental Matters . Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.20 :

(a) the Companies are and have been since January 1, 2013 in compliance in all material respects with all applicable
Environmental Laws, including the possession of (and compliance in all material respects with) all material permits, licenses and authorizations required
for their respective facilities and operations under Environmental Laws;
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(b) except for matters that have been resolved, no Company has received notice of any civil, criminal or administrative Action or
Governmental Order alleging liability under or violation of any Environmental Law, and to the Knowledge of Parent, no such Action or Governmental
Order is threatened;

() there has been no Release of any Hazardous Substance by any Company or in connection with the operation of the Business,
or, to the Knowledge of Parent, otherwise existing, on, at or under any Leased Premises or any other real property formerly owned, leased or otherwise
operated by any Company, in any case in a manner or to an extent that requires any Company to perform investigation, remediation or other response
under any Environmental Law or that could reasonably be expected to result in material liability for any Company under any Environmental Law;

(d) to the Knowledge of Parent, there has been no Release of Hazardous Substances at any third party disposal site in connection
with the operation of the Business (including the disposal of any Hazardous Substances used in connection with the operation of the Business), under
conditions that would reasonably be expected to require remedial action under Environmental Laws;

(e) Parent and the Companies have made available to Buyer copies of all draft and final material written environmental reports in
their possession or control relating to any Leased Premises;

® to the Knowledge of the Parent, no polychlorinated biphenyls or substances containing polychlorinated biphenyls (“ PCBs ),
nor any mold or asbestos or materials containing asbestos, are present in or on any Leased Premises in a condition that the Company is currently required
to abate or remediate pursuant to any Environmental Law, and any PCBs, mold or asbestos previously present in, on or around any Leased Premises that
were removed by or on behalf of any Company were disposed of in accordance with all Environmental Laws; and

(2) to the Knowledge of Parent, there are no active or abandoned aboveground or underground storage tanks located on or under

any Leased Premises, and no Company has owned or operated any aboveground or underground storage tanks at any other real property formerly owned,
leased or operated in connection with the Business, except in accordance with Environmental Law.
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Section 3.21. Transactions with Affiliates . Schedule 3.21 sets forth all Contracts currently in effect between a Company, on the one hand, and
Parent or any officer, director or Affiliate of any Company or Parent, on the other hand. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.21 , the Companies have made no
material payments to, and conducted no material transactions with, any officer, director or Affiliate of any Company or Parent except for compensation of
employees in the ordinary course of business. Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.21 : (a) none of the Companies, Parent or any of their respective Affiliates,
directors, officers or employees possesses, directly or indirectly, any financial or ownership or other material interest in, or is a director, officer or employee of, any
Person (other than a Company) which is a supplier, distributor, licensor, lessor or lessee of any Company; or (b) none of any Company’s or Parents’ respective
Affiliates, directors, officers or employees possesses, directly or indirectly, any financial or ownership or other interest in any assets or properties, tangible or
intangible, which is owned, leased or used by such Company in the conduct of its business. Ownership of one percent (1%) or less of any class of securities of a
company whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act, as amended, shall not be deemed to be a financial interest for purposes of this Section 3.21 .

Section 3.22. Investment Representations .

(a) Parent and each Company has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that Parent and such Company
is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the investment contemplated by this Agreement, and Parent and such Company is able to bear the
economic risk of this investment in the shares of Marcus Common Stock to be delivered to Parent or such Company pursuant to this Agreement
(including a complete loss of Parent’s or such Company’s investment or a reduction in the price of Marcus Common Stock while it is held by Parent or
such Company). Parent and each Company is an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act.

(b) Parent and each Company is acquiring the shares of Marcus Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement solely for Parent’s or
such Company’s own account.

Section 3.23. No Other Representations or Warranties . Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article 3 , Buyer
acknowledges that Parent and the Companies do not, nor does any other Person on behalf of Parent or the Companies make any other express or implied
representation or warranty with respect to Parent, the Companies or any of its or their Affiliates or the Business, or with respect to any other information provided
to Buyer and its Affiliates or representatives in connection with this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby,
including as to the accuracy or completeness of any information (including any projections, estimates or other forward-looking information) provided (including in
any management presentations, information memoranda, supplemental information or other materials) or otherwise made available with respect to Parent as to the
probable success or profitability of the Business. Marcus and Buyer expressly disclaim any and all other representations and warranties, whether express or
implied. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS Article 3 , MARCUS, BUYER AND THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES HEREBY DISCLAIM
ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 3.23 shall not prevent or limit a cause of action based
upon, or relieve any party from any liability on account of Fraud by Parent or any Company.
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ARTICLE 4
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
OF BUYER AND MARCUS

Buyer and Marcus (on a joint and several basis) hereby represent and warrant to Parent and the Companies that the representations and warranties in this
Article 4 are true and correct as of the date of this Agreement (except to the extent such representations and warranties are made on and as of a specified date, in
which case as of such specified date):

Section 4.1. Organization . Buyer is a limited liability company, duly formed or organized, validly existing and in good standing (or equivalent
status) under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and has all requisite power and authority to carry on its businesses as now being conducted, except
where the failure to have such power or authority would not prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Marcus is a
corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (or equivalent status) under the laws of the State of Wisconsin and has all requisite power and
authority to carry on its businesses as now being conducted, except where the failure to have such power or authority would not prevent the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.2. Authority . Each of Buyer and Marcus has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each
Ancillary Document to which it is a party and to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and each of the
Ancillary Documents to which Buyer or Marcus is a party and the performance by Buyer or Marcus of its obligations hereunder and thereunder has been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Buyer and Marcus, as applicable, and no other proceeding (including by its respective equity holders) on
the part of Buyer or Marcus is necessary to authorize this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents to which Buyer or Marcus is party or to consummate
the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. This Agreement and each Ancillary Document to which Buyer or Marcus is a party has been duly and validly
executed and delivered by Buyer or Marcus, as applicable, and constitutes a valid, legal and binding agreement of Buyer or Marcus (assuming this Agreement has
been and the Ancillary Documents to which Buyer or Marcus is party will have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the other parties thereto at or prior
to the Closing), enforceable against Buyer or Marcus, as applicable, in accordance with their respective terms, except (a) to the extent that enforceability may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Law affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and (b) that the
availability of equitable remedies, including specific performance, is subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding thereof may be brought.

Section 4.3. Marcus Common Stock . The shares of Marcus Common Stock issuable hereunder, when issued and delivered in accordance with the
terms hereof, will have been validly issued and will be fully paid and non-assessable and the issuance thereof will not be subject to any Lien, except as may be set
forth in the Shareholders’ Agreement or under applicable securities Laws. Marcus is eligible to use Form S-3 to register the resale of the Marcus Common Stock
issuable hereunder as contemplated in the Shareholders’ Agreement.
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Section 4.4. Compliance with Laws . The Estimated Cash Purchase Price and any other cash amounts paid by Buyer or Marcus hereunder were
not directly or indirectly derived from activities that contravene any Laws, including Anti-Money Laundering Laws. Neither Marcus nor Buyer is in breach or
default of any provisions of its Governing Documents.

Section 4.5. Consents and Approvals; No Violations . No material notices to, filings with, or authorization, consent or approval of any
Governmental Entity is necessary for the execution, delivery or performance by Buyer or Marcus of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which Buyer or
Marcus is a party or the consummation by Buyer or Marcus of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except for those set forth on Schedule 4.5 and for
compliance with and filings under the HSR Act, the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. Neither the execution, delivery or performance by Buyer or Marcus of
this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Buyer or Marcus is a party nor the consummation by Buyer or Marcus of the transactions contemplated
hereby will (a) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of Buyer’s or Marcus’s Governing Documents, (b) except as set forth on Schedule 4.5 , result
in a violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or
acceleration under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease, license, Contract, agreement or other instrument or
obligation to which Buyer or Marcus is a party, or (c) subject to compliance with and filings under the HSR Act, the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, violate
any order, writ, injunction, decree, Law, statute, rule or regulation of any Governmental Entity applicable to Buyer or Marcus, except in the case of clauses (b) and
(c) above, for violations which would not prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.6. Brokers . Except as set forth on Schedule 4.6 , no broker, finder, financial advisor or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage,
finder’s, financial advisor’s or investment banker’s fee or commission or similar payment in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer or Marcus or any of their respective Affiliates for which Parent or any Company may become liable.

Section 4.7. Sufficiency of Funds . Buyer has, or will have as of the Closing, sufficient cash on hand or other sources of immediately available
funds to enable it to make payment of the Estimated Cash Purchase Price and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including any Actual
Adjustment.

Section 4.8. Net Worth . At and immediately prior to Closing, Buyer shall have a Consolidated Net Worth of at least $38.5 million.
Section 4.9. Marcus SEC Filings . Marcus has filed with or furnished to the SEC all required Marcus SEC Reports since December 29, 2016. As

of its filing date (or, if amended or supplemented, as of the date of the most recent amendment or supplement filed prior to the Agreement Date), each Marcus SEC
Report complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as the case may be. As of its filing date (or, if
amended or supplemented, as of the date of the most recent amendment or supplement filed prior to the Agreement Date), each Marcus SEC Report filed or
furnished pursuant to the Exchange Act did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading in any material respect.
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Section 4.10. Litigation . There is no Action before any Governmental Entity pending or, to the Knowledge of Buyer, threatened, against Marcus or
Buyer, or affecting any of their properties or assets, which, if determined adversely to Marcus or Buyer, would have a material adverse effect on Marcus or Buyer’s
ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by, and discharge their obligations under, this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5
COVENANTS
Section 5.1. Commercially Reasonable Efforts; Notices and Consents .
(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, from the Agreement Date until the Closing, or the earlier termination of

this Agreement pursuant to Article 7 , each of the parties hereto shall, to the extent not prohibited by applicable Law, use its commercially reasonable
efforts to take or cause to be taken all actions, to file or cause to be filed all documents, to give or cause to be given all notices to Governmental Entities or
other Persons, to obtain or cause to be obtained all authorizations, consents (including all Required Consents and Required Assignments), waivers,
approvals, permits or orders from Governmental Entities or other Persons, and to do or cause to be done all other things necessary, proper or advisable, in
order to consummate and make effective the Contemplated Transactions as promptly as reasonably practicable following the date (and in any event,
within five (5) Business Days) of this Agreement (including satisfaction, but not waiver, of the closing conditions set forth in Article 6 ) and to allow the
Business to be operated following the Closing in the same manner as it is operated prior to the Closing. All HSR Act filing fees will be paid one-half by
Buyer and one-half by Parent. Each party hereto shall make one or more appropriate filings, if necessary, pursuant to the HSR Act (which filings shall
specifically request early termination of the waiting period prescribed by the HSR Act) with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
promptly (and in any event, within five (5) Business Days) after the date of this Agreement and shall supply as promptly as practicable to the appropriate
Governmental Entities any additional information and documentary material that may be requested pursuant to the HSR Act; provided , however , that
none of Buyer or any of its Affiliates shall be required under any circumstances to: (i) sell, license or otherwise dispose of, or hold separate and agreeing
to sell, license or otherwise dispose of (A) any entities, assets or facilities of any Company before or after the Closing or (B) any entity, facility or asset of
Buyer or its Affiliates before or after the Closing; (ii) terminate, amend or assign existing relationships and contractual rights and obligations; or (iii)
amend, assign or terminate existing licenses or other agreements or enter into new licenses or other Contracts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties
hereto agree that the commercially reasonable efforts of the parties shall not include (1) the defense of any lawsuits or other legal Actions, whether
judicial or administrative, that challenges this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (2) any payment of
any money or other consideration or the grant any other material accommodation or concession to any Person by Buyer or any of its Affiliates.
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(b) Each of the parties hereto shall permit counsel for the other parties hereto reasonable opportunity to review in advance, and
consider in good faith the views of the other parties hereto in connection with, any proposed written communication to any Governmental Entity relating
to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each of the parties hereto agrees not to participate in any substantive meeting or discussion, either in
person or by telephone with any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement unless it consults with the
other parties hereto in advance and, to the extent not prohibited by such Governmental Entity, gives such other parties the opportunity to attend and
participate in such meeting or discussion.

Section 5.2. Shared Contracts . Parent currently provides to the Business the benefits of certain Contracts listed on Schedule 5.2 (such contracts,
the “ Shared Contracts ). At Closing, Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) separate the Shared Contracts listed on Part A of Schedule 5.2 and
assign to Buyer the post-Closing rights and Liabilities, other than Excluded Liabilities, under such Shared Contracts solely with respect to the Companies (with
Parent and its Affiliates retaining the rights and remaining obligated for the Liabilities under such Shared Contracts with respect to any Person other than the
Companies in accordance with the terms of each such Shared Contract), and (b) assign to Buyer all post-Closing rights and Liabilities, other than Excluded
Liabilities, under the Shared Contracts listed on Part B of Schedule 5.2 . In the event that any Shared Contract cannot be so separated or assigned to Buyer, Parent
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to continue to provide the benefit of such Shared Contract to Buyer, at Parent’s sole cost and expense, until such time as
the Shared Contract can be lawfully and validly assigned to Buyer or Buyer otherwise enters into a substantially similar Contract with respect to its business.

Section 5.3. Virtual Print Fees .
(a) Film Equipment Agreements . At the Closing, Buyer shall assume all rights and obligations of Parent or the Companies, as

applicable, under the GDC Agreement and each other Film Equipment Agreement to which Parent or any of the Companies is a party. During the period
commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the earlier of (x) three (3) years after the Closing Date and (y) the expiration of the current term of the
applicable Film Equipment Agreement (the “ VPF Remittance Period ), Buyer shall not take any action to terminate or amend in any manner adverse to
Parent or the Companies any material provision of any Film Equipment Agreement, or otherwise knowingly take or omit any action that, pursuant to the
express provisions of any Film Equipment Agreement, would result in the termination or reduction of any Virtual Print Fees payable to Parent or the
Companies thereunder in accordance with Section 5.3(b) .

50




(b) Virtual Print Fees . During the VPF Remittance Period, Buyer and its Affiliates shall promptly, and in any event within ten
(10) days of receipt, remit to Parent all Virtual Print Fees actually received by Buyer or its Affiliates under any Film Equipment Agreement, in each case,
net of (i) all Taxes incurred by or imposed upon Buyer or any of its Affiliates in respect of such Virtual Print Fees, and (ii) all reasonable out-of-pocket
fees or expenses incurred by Buyer or any of its Affiliates to obtain and remit such Virtual Print Fees to Parent. For the avoidance of doubt, none of Buyer
or any of its Affiliates shall have any obligation to take or omit any action to obtain any Virtual Print Fees, other than (A) acts or omissions expressly
contemplated by this Section 5.3 and (B) acts or omissions that are required of Buyer or any of its Affiliates after the Closing pursuant to the express
provisions of any Film Equipment Agreement.

Section 5.4. Operation of the Business .

(a) Conduct of the Business Generally . From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, or the earlier termination of this
Agreement in accordance with Article 7 , without the prior written consent of Buyer, and except to the extent specifically described on Schedule 5.4(a) ,
the Companies and Parent shall:

(1) conduct the Business only in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with all applicable Laws;

(ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the value, cash flows and profitability of the Business as a going concern, and
the value and condition of the Purchased Assets;

(iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact their respective business organizations and relationships with third
parties (including lessors, licensors, suppliers and customers) and employees;

(iv) maintain levels of Concession Inventory (including all major inventory categories) at each Theatre that are consistent with the
historical operation of the Business, taking into account seasonal usage patterns; and

) maintain insurance coverage with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets no less favorable than in effect as of the
Agreement Date.
(b) Specific Prohibitions . Without limiting the generality or effect of Section 5.4(a) , from the date of this Agreement until the

Closing, or the earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article 7 , without the prior written consent of Buyer (which, in the case of clause
(vi) below, Buyer may grant or withhold in its sole discretion), and except to the extent specifically described on Schedule 5.4(a) , neither Parent nor any
Company shall, and Parent and the Companies shall cause their respective Affiliates not to:

(1) amend or modify any provision of the Governing Documents of any Company;
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(i1) sell, license, lease, transfer, assign, abandon or otherwise dispose of any of the Purchased Assets, or mortgage, pledge or
impose any Lien upon any of the Purchased Assets, other than the sale of Concession Inventory in the ordinary course of business;

(iii) cause or permit any Company to make any acquisition of all or any material part of the assets, properties, capital stock or other
Equity Interests or business of any other Person;

(iv) adopt a plan of liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation or other reorganization;

) other than Approved Capital Expenditures, cause or permit any Company to make any single capital expenditure or series of
related capital expenditures in excess of $100,000 individually or in the aggregate;

(vi) without limiting clause (v) above, other than Approved New Theatre Development Expenses, cause or permit any Company to
pay or incur any New Theatre Development Expense;

(vii) cause or permit any Company to incur any Indebtedness or guaranty the Indebtedness of any other Person, other than
Indebtedness and borrowings under lines of credit in place on the Agreement Date in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(viii) hire any Business Employee or independent contractor with annual base compensation or consulting fees in excess of
$100,000, or terminate the employment or service of any Business Employee or independent contractor with annual base compensation or consulting fees
in excess of $200,000;

(ix) implement any increase to the Compensation of any Business Employee, other than increases in Compensation implemented
in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice;

(x) implement any Business Employee layoffs which would implicate the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of
1988 or any similar Law (collectively, the “ WARN Act ”), or enter into, amend or extend any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with any
Union;

(xi) enter into, adopt, terminate, modify, supplement, renew or amend any Material Contract or any Contract included in the
Assigned Contracts as of the Agreement Date;

(xii) (A) file any amended Tax Return, (B) enter into any closing agreement with respect to Taxes or settle any Tax audit or
proceeding relating to the Companies, (C) consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment relating
to the Companies (other than one arising from an extension of time to file a Tax Return), or (D) settle or compromise of any Tax liability, except in each
case of clauses (A) through (D), to the extent relating to (x) any real or personal property Tax applicable to the Purchased Assets, or (y) sales and use
Taxes of the Companies;
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(xiii)  directly or indirectly (A) solicit, initiate or encourage (including by way of furnishing information that has not been previously
publicly disseminated), or take any other action designed to facilitate, any inquiries or the making of any proposal which constitutes, or may reasonably
be expected to lead to, any proposal or any sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition of the Business, any of the Purchased Assets or any Equity
Interests of any Company, or (B) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding any proposal or any sale, transfer, assignment or other
disposition of the Business, any of the Purchased Assets or any Equity Interests of any Company;

(xiv)  issue any Courtesy Passes, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past issuances; or
(xv)  agree, whether orally or in writing, or cause or instruct any third party, to do any of the foregoing.

Section 5.5. Leasehold Improvements . From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, or the earlier termination of this Agreement in
accordance with Article 7 , Parent and each Company shall reasonably cooperate with Buyer, and at the request of Buyer, use commercially reasonable efforts to
promptly take or cause to be taken such actions as are reasonably necessary to assist Buyer in negotiating with landlords certain leasehold improvements to Leased
Premises or such other modifications to Theatre Leases as Buyer shall reasonably require.

Section 5.6. Outstanding Repairs . From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, or the earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance
with Article 7 , Parent and each Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to remediate the Outstanding Repairs as promptly as reasonably practicable.
All Outstanding Repairs shall be completed (a) at the sole expense of Parent and the Companies, (b) in accordance with the specifications set forth in Schedule 2(b)
, (¢) in compliance with all applicable Laws, (d) in a good and workmanlike manner by legally permitted and qualified professionals experienced in performing the
respective types of repairs included within the Outstanding Repairs, and (e) at such times and in such a manner as to minimize the disruption to the Business at
each affected Theatre.

Section 5.7. Title Insurance Policies . From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, or the earlier termination of this Agreement in
accordance with Article 7 , Parent and each Company shall reasonably cooperate with Buyer, and at the request of Buyer, take or cause to be taken such actions as
are reasonably necessary to permit Buyer, to have issued at Closing a Title Insurance Policy for each of the Leased Premises. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Parent and each Company shall execute or obtain and deliver to Buyer or the title company, as applicable, all certificates, releases, satisfactions,
amendments, affidavits, indemnities, agreements and other deliveries (including, without limitation, a non-imputation indemnity and a memorandum of each
Theatre Lease in form and substance suitable for recording) as are reasonably necessary to cause the title company to issue a Title Insurance Policy at Closing for
each of the Leased Premises.
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Section 5.8. Access to Premises . From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, or the earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance
with Article 7 , the Companies shall permit Buyer and its representatives to have access (at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice) to representatives of the
Companies and to all premises, properties (including for the purposes of environmental inspection), books, records (including Tax records of such Companies),
Contracts, financial and operating data and other information and documents to the extent relating to the Business or any of the Purchased Assets, and to make such
copies of such books, records, Contracts, data, information and documents as Buyer or its representatives may reasonably request.

Section 5.9. Employees and Employee Benefits .
(a) No later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Parent shall provide Buyer with an updated version of

Schedule 3.13(a) . Buyer shall, or shall cause an Affiliate of Buyer to, offer employment, no later than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date,
effective immediately following the Closing, to such Business Employees as Buyer shall identify on Schedule 5.9(a) (the Business Employees who accept
such employment and commence employment with Buyer immediately following the Closing, the *“ Transferred Employees ). If a Business Employee is
listed on Schedule 5.9(a) immediately prior to the Closing, then, effective immediately prior to the Closing, Parent and the applicable Company shall
terminate such individual’s employment and all severance obligations (if any) with respect to such individual shall be the responsibility of Parent. In the
event that (i) Schedule 5.9(a) does not include such number of Business Employees as is necessary to avoid triggering obligations or liability under the
WARN Act by reason of the termination by Parent or the applicable Company of all Business Employees, and/or (ii) the offers of employment made by
Buyer or an Affiliate to Business Employees are not on sufficient terms and conditions to avoid triggering obligations or liability under the WARN Act,
Parent shall have the option to delay the Closing Date by sixty five (65) days from the then scheduled Closing Date (or such longer notice period as is
required under any state or local WARN Act). Notwithstanding the forgoing or any other provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer shall be
under no obligation to hire any present or former employee of Parent or any Company.

(b) To the extent Parent has provided adequate records to Buyer to permit it to comply with this Section 5.9(b) , with respect to
any Buyer Benefit Plans for the benefit of any Transferred Employee, effective as of the Closing, Buyer shall, or shall cause an Affiliate to, recognize all
service of the Transferred Employees with the Companies or their Affiliates, as if such service were with Buyer, for vesting and eligibility but not accrual
purposes; provided , however , that (i) such service shall not be recognized to the extent that (A) such recognition would result in a duplication of benefits
or (B) such service was not recognized under the corresponding Employee Benefit Plan, and (ii) in the case of any such Buyer Benefit Plans that are
governed by an insurance policy, to the consent of the relevant insurance carrier, if required.
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(c) With respect to the 401(k) plan covering the Transferred Employees, prior to the Closing Date (the ““ Parent 401(k) Plan ™),
Parent shall (or shall cause its Affiliate that sponsors such plan to) amend such plan to (i) fully vest all of the Transferred Employees in their accounts
under the plan, and (ii) to make all employer contributions for the Transferred Employees in respect of the period through the Closing Date, without
regard to any provision of the plan requiring that the Transferred Employees be employed on the last day of the plan year, have completed a minimum
number of hours of service, or satisfied any similar allocation requirement in order to receive such employer contribution. Effective as soon as
administratively feasible following the Closing, Buyer shall make reasonable efforts (i) to cause a Buyer Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified
under Section 401(a) of the Code to accept eligible rollover distributions (within the meaning of Section 402(c) of the Code) from a Transferred
Employee with respect to such Transferred Employee’s vested account balance under the Parent 401(k) Plan and (ii) to accept rollovers of outstanding
Parent 401(k) Plan loans, if so elected by the Transferred Employee.

(d) Neither Buyer nor any Affiliate thereof shall be deemed a successor plan sponsor with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan,
and Parent and the Companies shall retain all Liabilities under such plans and shall remain obligated for all claims, benefits, and benefit entitlements
under such plans and benefits. Furthermore, Parent and the Companies shall be responsible for all obligations to the Transferred Employees for the
payment of all wages and other remuneration due with respect to their services to Parent, the Companies and each of their respective Affiliates through
the Closing, including, but not limited to, severance, and shall pay (i) pro rata bonus payments under Employee Benefit Plans for periods through the
Closing, and (ii) to the extent required by applicable Law, all accrued but unused paid-time off benefits, including but not limited to vacation, for periods
through the Closing (such that neither Buyer nor any Affiliate thereof shall assume or otherwise incur any Liability associated with such benefits).

(e) Parent and the Companies shall, or shall cause an Affiliate to, provide health care continuation coverage under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) to all Business Employees (other than the Transferred Employees), and all other former
employees of Parent and the Companies, and all other COBRA qualified beneficiaries with respect thereto, for the maximum period required by COBRA
(without regard to any shortening of such period due to plan termination) such that neither Buyer nor any Affiliate thereof shall assume or otherwise be
liable, in any manner, for any COBRA obligations of Parent or the Companies in respect of such Business Employees.

® This Section 5.9 shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each of the parties to this Agreement, and nothing in
this Section 5.9 , express or implied, shall confer upon any other Person any rights or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this
Section 5.9 . Nothing contained herein, express or implied, shall be construed to establish, amend or modify any benefit plan, program, agreement or
arrangement. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the terms set forth in this Section 5.9 shall not create any right in any Transferred Employee
or any other Person to any continued employment with Buyer or any of its Affiliates or compensation or benefits of any nature or kind whatsoever.
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Section 5.10. Notice of Developments . From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, or the earlier termination of this Agreement in
accordance with Article 7 , the Companies and Parent shall promptly (and in any event prior to the Closing) notify Buyer in writing upon the Companies or Parent
becoming aware: (a) that any representation or warranty made by the Companies or Parent in this Agreement was when made, or has subsequently become, untrue
or inaccurate in any material respect, (b) of the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event the occurrence or non-occurrence of which has caused or may
reasonably be expected to cause any condition to the obligations of any party hereto to effect the Contemplated Transactions not to be satisfied, (c) of the failure of
the Companies or any Parent to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by the Companies or Parent pursuant
to this Agreement or any Ancillary Document, (d) of any notice or other communication from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be
required in connection with the Contemplated Transactions, (e¢) of any notice or other communication from any Governmental Entity in connection with the
Contemplated Transactions, (f) of the commencement or initiation or threat of commencement or initiation of any Action regarding the Contemplated Transactions
or otherwise involving any Company or the Business, (g) of any material development in any pending Action regarding the Contemplated Transactions or
otherwise involving any Company or the Business, or (h) of any other material development affecting the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the
Business. The delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section 5.10 shall not cure any breach of any representation or warranty requiring disclosure of such matter or
any breach of any covenant, condition or agreement contained in this Agreement or any Ancillary Document or otherwise limit or affect the rights of, or the
remedies available to, Buyer, including the rights and remedies specified in Article 2 , Article 6 , Article 7 , Article 8 or Article 9 of this Agreement. For the
avoidance of doubt, the closing conditions set forth in Article 6 , and the indemnification provisions of Article 8 , shall be read without giving effect to any update
to the Schedules or other written notices delivered pursuant to this Section 5.10 .

Section 5.11. Pass Cards . Buyer agrees to honor in accordance with their terms all outstanding Pass Cards issued prior to the Closing, in each case,
to the extent the Pass Card Liabilities with respect thereto are included in the calculation of the Final Pass Card Liability Amount. Notwithstanding Section 2.2(a)
(vi) or this Section 5.11 , Buyer shall have no obligation to honor any Courtesy Passes.

Section 5.12. Further Assurances . Subject to the limitations on Buyer’s and its Affiliates’ obligations set forth in Section 5.1(a) , from and after
the Closing Date, as and when requested by any party and at such requesting party’s expense, each of the parties hereto shall do, execute, acknowledge and deliver
all such further acts, assurances, deeds, assignments, transfers, conveyances and other instruments and papers as may be reasonably required or appropriate to carry
out the Contemplated Transactions.

Section 5.13. No Public Disclosure . The parties hereto shall not, and shall cause their Affiliates, representatives and advisors not to, issue or make
any press release or public announcement related to this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby without the prior
approval of the other parties, unless such disclosure is required by Law or the rules or regulations of any national securities exchange on which the securities of
such party or its Affiliates are traded or is made in connection with the enforcement of any right or remedy relating to this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents or
the transactions contemplated thereby.
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Section 5.14. Protective Covenants .

(a) During the Restricted Period, none of Parent or any Company shall, nor shall Parent or any Company permit any of its
respective controlled Affiliates to, directly or indirectly:

(1) engage in, continue in or carry on any motion picture theatre or motion picture exhibition business, including owning or
controlling any financial interest in any Person which is so engaged (each, a “ Competitor ), within the Restricted Territory; or

(i1) other than to the extent necessary to comply with its obligations under Section 5.2 , encourage any current supplier or customer
of the Business to terminate, curtail or adversely modify its business relationship with the Business, including, without limitation, soliciting suppliers or
customers on behalf of or otherwise serving as an intermediary for a Competitor with operations within the Restricted Territory;

provided that Section 5.14(a) shall not (i) prohibit the ownership of (A) Marcus Common Stock or (B) securities of other corporations that are listed on a national
securities exchange or traded in the national over-the-counter market in an amount that shall not exceed 5% of the outstanding shares of any such other corporation,
(ii) apply to Parent or any Affiliate of Parent (other than a Company), respectively, if Parent or any such Affiliate is sold on or after the Agreement Date to a third
party purchaser, or (iii) apply to the Greensboro Movie Tavern. Parent and each Company acknowledge and agree that Buyer may sell, assign or otherwise transfer
this covenant not to compete, in whole or in part, to any Person that purchases the Business or all or substantially all of the Purchased Assets and that (subject to
clause (ii) of the preceding sentence) this covenant not to compete shall apply to any successor of Parent or any Company and each Subject Person.

(b) During the Restricted Period, none of Parent or any Company shall, nor shall Parent or any Company permit any of its
respective controlled Affiliates to, directly or indirectly: (i) hire or solicit a Transferred Employee; (ii) encourage any Transferred Employee to leave his
or her employment with Buyer or Buyer’s Affiliates; or (iii) hire any Transferred Employee who has left his or her employment with Buyer or Buyer’s
Affiliates, except, in each case, pursuant to a general solicitation or advertisement which is not directed specifically to any Transferred Employees;
provided that nothing in this Section 5.14(b) shall (i) apply to any Affiliates of Parent (other than a Company) sold on or after the Agreement Date to a
third party purchaser, or (ii) prevent Parent or any of its Affiliates (other than a Company) from hiring or soliciting (x) any Transferred Employee whose
employment has been terminated by Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer (as applicable), or (y) any Transferred Employee whose employment has been
terminated by such Transferred Employee at least thirty (30) days prior to such Transferred Employee being hired or solicited by Parent or an Affiliate
(other than a Company) of Parent.
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(c) Parent and each Company acknowledges that a breach or threatened breach of this Section 5.14 may give rise to irreparable
harm to Buyer and the Buyer Indemnitees, for which monetary damages may not be an adequate remedy, and hereby agrees that in the event of a breach
or a threatened breach by Parent or such Company of any such obligations, Buyer and each Buyer Indemnitee shall, in addition to any and all other rights
and remedies that may be available to it in respect of such breach, be entitled to seek equitable relief, including a temporary restraining order, an
injunction, specific performance and any other relief that may be available from a court of competent jurisdiction without any requirement to post bond.
The Restricted Period will be extended by the same time period as the duration of any breach by Parent of its covenants in this Section 5.14 , subject to
any contrary determination by a court of competent jurisdiction.

(d) Parent and each Company acknowledge that the restrictions contained in this Section 5.14 are reasonable and necessary to
protect the legitimate interests of Buyer and constitute a material inducement to Buyer to enter into this Agreement and consummate the Contemplated
Transactions. In the event that any covenant contained in this Section 5.14 should ever be adjudicated to exceed the time, geographic, product or service
or other limitations permitted by applicable Law in any jurisdiction, then any court is expressly empowered to reform such covenant, and such covenant
shall be deemed reformed, in such jurisdiction to the maximum time, geographic, product or service or other limitations permitted by applicable Law. The
covenants contained in this Section 5.14 and each provision of this Section 5.14 are severable and distinct covenants and provisions. The invalidity or
unenforceability of any such covenant or provision as written shall not invalidate or render unenforceable the remaining covenants or provisions, and any
such invalidity or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such covenant or provision in any other jurisdiction.

Section 5.15. Payment Dispute . During the Restricted Period, Buyer and its Affiliates shall promptly, and in any event within ten (10) days of

receipt, remit to Parent all amounts actually received by Buyer or its Affiliates as a result of the Payment Dispute to the extent such amounts are attributable to any
debit or credit card transaction completed by the Business prior to the Effective Time, in each case, net of (a) all Taxes incurred by or imposed upon Buyer or any
of its Affiliates in respect of such amount, and (b) all reasonable out-of-pocket fees or expenses incurred by Buyer or any of its Affiliates to obtain such amount
and remit such amount to Parent. For the avoidance of doubt, none of Buyer or any of its Affiliates shall have any obligation to prosecute, defend or otherwise
participate in, or expend any amount of money in furtherance of, the Payment Dispute following the Closing.
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Section 5.16. Luxury Reimbursements . Within five (5) Business Days after the date on which the Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount is
finally determined pursuant to Section 5.25(c) , Buyer and its Affiliates shall remit to Parent all Luxury Reimbursements actually received by Buyer or its
Affiliates during the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the date on which the Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount is finally
determined pursuant to Section 5.25(c) , net of (a) all Taxes incurred by or imposed upon Buyer or any of its Affiliates in respect of such Luxury Reimbursements,
(b) all reasonable out-of-pocket fees or expenses incurred by Buyer or any of its Affiliates to obtain or remit such Luxury Reimbursements to Parent, and (c) all
Luxury Reimbursements retained by Buyer pursuant to Section 5.25(d) ; provided that, if the sum of clauses (a) , (b) and (c) above is greater than the aggregate
amount of all Luxury Reimbursements actually received by Buyer or its Affiliates during such period, then Buyer shall have no obligation to remit any Luxury
Reimbursements to Parent or any Affiliate of Parent. For the avoidance of doubt, none of Buyer or any of its Affiliates shall have any obligation to take or omit any
action to obtain any Luxury Reimbursement, other than such acts or omissions that are required of Buyer or any of its Affiliates after the Closing pursuant to the
express provisions of the Theatre Lease to which such Luxury Reimbursement relates.

Section 5.17. Greensboro Movie Tavern License . In consideration of the Contemplated Transactions, effective at Closing, Buyer hereby grants to
Parent and Greensboro Theatres, LLC a limited, non-exclusive, non-sublicensable, non-transferable, royalty-free license to use the Intellectual Property used at and
in connection with the Greensboro Movie Tavern during the thirty (30)-day period immediately preceding the Closing (the “ Greensboro Movie Tavern IP ™) in
connection with the operation of the Greensboro Movie Tavern for a period of one hundred twenty (120) days after the Closing (the “ License Period ). During the
License Period, Parent and Greensboro Theatres, LLC shall use the Greensboro Movie Tavern IP only (a) in the manner and for the purpose that Parent and
Greensboro Theatres, LLC used such Greensboro Movie Tavern IP at and in connection with the Greensboro Movie Tavern during the thirty (30)-day period
immediately preceding the Agreement Date, and (b) in a manner that meets or exceeds the established standard of high-quality use associated with the Greensboro
Movie Tavern IP (the “ License Standards ). If, at any time during the License Period, Buyer reasonably determines that Parent or Greensboro Theatres, LLC is
using any of the Greensboro Movie Tavern IP in a manner or for a purpose that violates the License Standards or otherwise adversely impacts the reputation or
goodwill of any of the Acquired IP, then Buyer shall provide written notice to Parent of such determination and Parent and Greensboro Theatres, LLC shall have
(10) Business Days following receipt of such notice to cure such violation to the reasonable satisfaction of Buyer. If Parent and Greensboro Theatres, LLC are
unable to cure such violation to the reasonable satisfaction of Buyer prior to the expiration of such ten (10) Business Day cure period, then Buyer, by delivery of
written notice of termination to Parent, may terminate the license granted under this Section 5.17 with immediate effect. Parent shall phase out its use of all
Greensboro Movie Tavern IP, as promptly as practicable, and in any event Parent shall, prior to the expiration of the License Period (at which time the license
granted under this Section 5.17 shall automatically terminate), discontinue the use of all Greensboro Movie Tavern IP, including in all advertising, labeling,
signage, stationery, inventory and other mediums at or relating to the Greensboro Movie Tavern or otherwise.

59




Section 5.18. Alcoholic Beverage Permits . To the extent permitted by applicable Law, Parent and each applicable Company shall transfer, or
cause to be transferred, to Buyer or its designee, at Closing, all alcoholic beverage Permits which are in their respective names and which are necessary for the
operation of each Theatre (and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or elsewhere, to the extent that applicable Laws prohibit the transfer of any portion
of Concession Inventory connected with the same, then Buyer or its designee shall be required to purchase the Concession Inventory, but the transfer of
Concession Inventory shall be appropriately limited or reduced as necessary to comply with such applicable Laws without otherwise delaying Closing or reducing
the Purchase Price, and such matters shall in no event constitute any breach or default by Parent or the Companies or any failure of a condition hereunder). Parent,
each Company, Buyer and Marcus shall reasonably cooperate with the other, and each shall execute or cause to be executed such transfer forms, Permit
applications and other documents as may be necessary to affect such transfers and/or to permit Buyer to obtain New Liquor Permits. If applicable Law does not
permit the transfer of any alcoholic beverage Permits used by each Theatre, then Parent, each Company, Buyer and Marcus agree that they will promptly execute
or cause to be executed all transfer forms, applications and other documents required by applicable Governmental Entities in order to affect such transfer or
issuance of New Liquor Permits at the earliest date possible consistent with applicable Laws, such that (a) all existing alcoholic beverage Permits (and/or such
related Concession Inventory) used in connection with each Theatre shall be transferred to Buyer or its designee, or (b) Buyer or its designee obtains the New
Liquor Permits. If: (x) each alcoholic beverage Permit held by Parent or the Companies and used at any Theatre has not been transferred to Buyer or Buyer’s
designee at or prior to Closing; or, (y) despite commercially reasonable efforts by Buyer, any New Liquor Permit has not been issued to Buyer or Buyer’s designee
that would permit Buyer and its Affiliates the ability to lawfully serve alcohol at each Theatre on and after the Closing, then, subject to applicable Laws, Parent and
each Company (as applicable) shall cause the holder of each alcoholic beverage Permit used by any Theatre (each an ““ Existing Permittee ™) to enter into an
interim liquor agreement (an “ Interim Liquor Agreement ) or any other such license agreements, management agreements and/or other interim agreements, in
each case, in form reasonably acceptable to Parent, with Buyer or Buyer’s designee as may be reasonably necessary for the continuation of the sale and
consumption of alcoholic beverages at each Theatre after the Closing and before such time as Buyer or Buyer’s designee (the “ New Permittee ™) obtains new
alcohol beverage Permits (each a “ New Liquor Permit ”, and collectively, the “ New Liquor Permits ) provided, however, the obligation of Parent and each
Company to cooperate and keep open the liquor facilities of each Theatre shall terminate one hundred eighty (180) days after the Closing Date, or earlier, if Buyer
or Buyer’s designee obtains all of the New Liquor Permits at an earlier date. At such time after Closing as all New Liquor Permits are obtained, each Existing
Permittee will convey, at no additional costs, all Concession Inventory that constitutes alcoholic beverages to New Permittee by a conveyance document in form
reasonably acceptable to Buyer and in accordance with the requirements of applicable Laws. During the effectiveness of any Interim Liquor Agreement, each
Existing Permittee that is a party to an Interim Liquor Agreement shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, at Buyer’s expense, and to the extent Parent and the
Companies do not have Insurance Policies that provide for dram shop liability coverage, then prior to Closing, Parent and the Companies shall obtain insurance
policies that provide coverage in an amount not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $8,000,000 in the aggregate, for each Existing Permittee that is a party to
an Interim Liquor Agreement all Insurance Policies that provide coverage for dram shop liability during the effectiveness of the Interim Liquor Agreement. Parent
and Buyer shall use good faith efforts to agree on the form of the Interim Liquor Agreement during the period of time commencing as of the Agreement Date and
the Closing Date. This Section 5.18 shall survive the Closing.
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Section 5.19. Escrow Funding: Disbursements .

(a) Not more than one (1) Business Day following the date on which the first Overnight Transaction is consummated pursuant to
the Shareholders’ Agreement (the “ Escrow Funding Date ), Parent shall pay or cause to be paid to the Escrow Agent an amount in cash equal to
$10,000,000, to be held in the Escrow Fund subject to, and disbursed from the Escrow Fund as provided in, this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.

(b) On April 16, 2020, the parties shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to disburse to Parent an amount such that the funds then
remaining in the Escrow Fund, after giving effect to such disbursement, would equal the sum of $5,000,000, plus the aggregate amount of all Pending
Indemnification Claims as of such date. On the date that is thirty-six (36) months following the Closing Date, the parties shall jointly instruct the Escrow
Agent to disburse to Parent an amount such that the funds then remaining in the Escrow Fund, after giving effect to such disbursement, would equal the
sum of $2,500,000, plus the aggregate amount of all Pending Indemnification Claims as of such date. On the date that is forty-eight (48) months following
the Closing Date, the parties shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to disburse to Parent an amount such that the funds then remaining in the Escrow
Fund, after giving effect to such disbursement, would equal the sum of $0, plus the aggregate amount of all Pending Indemnification Claims as of such
date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Parent, any Company or any other Person be required to contribute any additional amount to the
Escrow Fund at any time following the Escrow Funding Date.

Section 5.20. Registered Marcus Common Stock . On or prior to the earlier of (a) the Closing Date, and (b) the 59 th day following the date of this
Agreement, Marcus shall file with the SEC a Registration Statement to register the resale of the Registrable Securities. Marcus shall use its commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the Registration Statement filed pursuant to the preceding sentence to be declared effective by the SEC as soon as practicable following
the filing thereof (but in any event prior to the Closing) and to maintain the effectiveness of such Registration Statement until the date as of which all Registrable
Securities have been sold pursuant to such Registration Statement or sold pursuant to another Registration Statement filed under the Securities Act. Marcus shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to prepare and file with the SEC such amendments and supplements to any such Registration Statement and the prospectus
included therein as may be necessary to keep any such Registration Statement continuously effective (and available for use) throughout such period and to ensure
that any such Registration Statement and prospectus does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. Marcus shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take such other reasonable actions
(including, causing such securities to be listed or quoted on a national securities exchange) as may be reasonably necessary to facilitate the resale of such securities
pursuant to any such Registration Statement. Marcus shall bear all expenses incurred by it in connection with the performance of its obligations expressly set forth
in this Section 5.20 , including all registration and filing fees, fees and expenses of compliance with securities or “blue sky” laws, listing application fees, printing
expenses, transfer agent’s and registrar’s fees, costs of distributing prospectuses in preliminary and final form as well as any supplements thereto, and fees and
disbursements of counsel for, and all independent certified public accountants and other persons retained by, Marcus.
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Section 5.21. Cooperation with Pending Litigation . At all times when any amount remains in the Escrow Fund, Buyer shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to reasonably cooperate with Parent and its Affiliates with respect to the Pending Litigation, including, without limitation, by making available,
upon Parent’s reasonable request, including for interviews and preparation sessions prior to depositions and trial, the Business’ then current directors, officers and
employees (whether as witnesses or otherwise) and any books, records or other documents within their respective possession, custody or control that Buyer has the
reasonable and legally permissible ability to make available, to the extent that such person or books, records or other documents are reasonably required in
connection with any Pending Litigation. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provisions of this Agreement to the contrary (a) Parent and the Companies
shall be responsible for all out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred by Buyer, any of its Affiliates or any of their respective directors, officers or employees (the
Cooperating Parties ) in taking or causing to be taken any action pursuant to this Section 5.21 , and Parent and the Companies shall advance all such fees and
expenses to the Cooperating Parties such that no Cooperating Party shall be required to pay or incur any such fees or expenses; (b) no Cooperating Party shall be
required to take any action pursuant to this Section 5.21 outside of normal business hours or in any circumstance in which the taking of such action would
reasonably be expected to result in any Loss to, or otherwise have an adverse impact on, the Business, any of the Purchased Assets or the ability of any Buyer
Indemnitee to seek or obtain any indemnification to which it may be entitled pursuant to Article 8 , including taking any action in respect of a Pending Litigation
that involves any party to an Assigned Contract or any other person or entity having material business dealings with the Business; (c) Parent and the Companies,
jointly and severally, shall indemnify and hold harmless each Cooperating Party from any and all Losses incurred by a Cooperating Party as a result of any action
taken or omitted by such Cooperating Party at the direction or request of Parent or any Company pursuant to this Section 5.21 ; and (d) no Cooperating Party shall
have any fiduciary or other express or implied duty to Parent, any Company or any of their respective Affiliates, all such duties being owed exclusively to Marcus
and Buyer. Without limiting the foregoing, and in consideration for the Cooperating Parties’ performance of their obligations under this Section 5.21 , Parent and
the Companies, on behalf of themselves and each of their respective Affiliates, agree not to (i) compromise or settle any Pending Litigation, or (ii) threaten or
commence (including by way of counterclaim or interpleader) any Action against the counterparty to an Assigned Contract in respect of such Assigned Contract,
if, in the case of each of clauses (i) and (ii) , such settlement or compromise, or the threat or commencement of such Action, would reasonably be expected to result
in any Loss to, or otherwise have an adverse impact on, the Business or any of the Purchased Assets. Parent and the Companies shall provide written notice to
Buyer not less than five (5) Business Days prior to taking any action described in clause (i) or (ii) above.

Section 5.22. Closure and Shutdown of Ridgmar Theatre . Any time prior to, and not more than one (1) Business Day following, the date on
which the current term of the Ridgmar Lease expires (the “ Expiration Date ), Parent and the applicable Company shall take all such action as is required to
validly terminate the Ridgmar Lease in accordance with its terms with effect as of the Expiration Date. On and after the Expiration Date, Parent and the applicable
Company shall permanently terminate all Business operations at the Ridgmar Theatre. As soon as reasonably practicable following the Expiration Date, Parent and
the applicable Company shall take or cause to be taken all actions reasonably necessary to (a) remove or have removed all signage and other Business identifiers at
the Ridgmar Theatre and (b) to the extent within the reasonable control of Parent and the applicable Company, to remove or have removed all references to the
Ridgmar Theatre from all Business websites, telephone directories, digital and print advertisements, and marketing materials. All actions taken pursuant to this
Section 5.22 shall be taken at the sole expense of Parent and the applicable Company, and any Liabilities incurred in connection with or that result from such
actions shall be Excluded Liabilities.
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Section 5.23. IT Transition . Commencing as promptly as practicable following the Agreement Date, (a) Parent and the Companies shall grant to
Marcus and Buyer read-only access to the Movie Tavern Vista environment and the Movie Tavern Aloha environment; and (b) the appropriate representatives of
Marcus and Buyer, on the one hand, and Parent and the Companies, on the other hand, shall meet from time to time (but no less than weekly) via telephone or in
person at a mutually convenient location to establish and execute a mutually agreed upon course of action (i) to segregate the Movie Tavern Vista environment
from the Southern Theatres Vista environment and to transfer the hosting of the Movie Tavern Vista environment to a mutually agreed upon third-party hosting
provider (the “ Vista Segregation ™), (ii) to install data and power cabling at all Theatres necessary to facilitate the installation of Buyer’s employee time clock and
a computer at each site in mutually agreed upon locations and (iii) to establish network connectivity between Parent’s and the Companies’ SD-WAN network and
Marcus’ and Buyer’s MPLS network (the “ Network Connection ). Following the Agreement Date, Parent and the Companies (at their expense) shall promptly
complete testing of the available upgrade of the Movie Tavern Vista Cinema to version 5.02 (the “ Vista Upgrade ), followed up with implementation of the Vista
Upgrade to the Movie Tavern Vista environment. Not less than ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing, Parent and the Companies shall grant to Marcus and
Buyer full access to the Movie Tavern Vista environment and the Movie Tavern Aloha environment to allow Marcus and Buyer to configure such environments to
Marcus’ and Buyer’s specifications and to install Marcus and Buyer customized integrations. Without limiting the foregoing, from the date of this Agreement until
the Closing, or the earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article 7 , each of Buyer and Marcus, on the one hand, and Parent and the Companies
on the other hand, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to complete the Vista Segregation and the Vista Upgrade, and to establish the Network Connection, in
each case, as promptly as reasonably practicable following the date hereof.

Section 5.24. Environmental Claims . Buyer acknowledges that the Excluded Assets include all rights of Parent and the Companies arising prior to
the Closing under the Theatre Leases to the extent such rights relate to an Excluded Liability, including any rights to indemnification expressly provided for
thereunder in respect of Environmental Liabilities (the “ Environmental Rights ). From and after the Closing, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
assist the Companies in asserting any Environmental Rights or recovering any damages or other amounts to which they may be entitled under the Theatre Leases,
including by using commercially reasonable efforts to promptly take or cause to be taken such actions as may be reasonably requested by Parent or any Company
in order to obtain, on a Company’s behalf, recovery of any amounts in respect of Environmental Liabilities in respect of the period prior to Closing; provided ,
however , that Buyer shall not be required to commence any Action, expend any amount of money other than de minimis amounts (unless such amounts are
advanced by Parent or the Companies), or otherwise provide such assistance or take any actions in respect of the foregoing where such assistance or actions would
reasonably be expected to result in any Loss to, or otherwise have an adverse impact on, the Business or any of the Purchased Assets.
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Section 5.25. Improvement Projects .

(a) Prior to the Closing, Parent and the Companies shall use commercially reasonable efforts to complete or cause to be completed
all Improvement Projects as promptly as reasonably practicable. All Improvement Projects completed or caused to be completed by Parent and the
Companies prior to the Closing shall be completed (i) in compliance with the terms and conditions of, and in accordance with the drawings and
specifications set forth in, the applicable Improvement Contracts and the applicable Theatre Lease; (ii) in compliance with all applicable Laws; (iii) in a
good and workmanlike manner by legally permitted and qualified professionals experienced in performing the respective types improvements included
within the Improvement Projects; (iv) using at least the same quality of products and materials as were used in connection with the construction project
completed at the Trexlertown Movie Tavern Theatre prior to the Agreement Date; and (v) at such times and in such a manner as to minimize the
disruption to the Business at each affected Theatre ( clauses (i) through (v) inclusive, the “ Improvement Standards ”). In completing the Improvement
Projects prior to the Closing, Parent and the Companies shall not, and shall cause their respective Affiliates not to, without the prior written consent of
Buyer in each instance (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (A) terminate or amend any Improvement Contract or
Theatre Lease or waive any material provision thereof; (B) enter into any change order with respect an Improvement Contract; (C) incur Improvement
Expenses with respect to any Improvement Project in excess of the agreed upon budgeted amounts for such Improvement Project set forth in Schedule
2(f) ; or (D) amend any Lease, or enter into any other Contract with a landlord, that would have the effect of reducing the Landlord Reimbursements with
respect to any Improvement Project to an amount less than the agreed upon budgeted amounts for such Landlord Reimbursements set forth in Schedule
2(f) (clauses (A) through (D) inclusive, the “ Improvement Restrictions ). Following prior notice from Buyer, Parent and the Companies shall provide
Buyer reasonable access to the Leased Premises at which the Improvement Projects are being completed (together with invoices or any other
documentation relating to the Improvement Expenses incurred with respect to such Improvement Projects) to monitor the progress and cost of the
Improvement Projects.

(b) Following the Closing, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to complete or cause to be completed all uncompleted
Improvement Projects as promptly as reasonably practicable. All Improvement Projects completed or caused to be completed by Buyer following the
Closing shall be completed in accordance with the Improvement Standards. In completing the Improvement Projects following the Closing, Buyer shall
not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, without the prior written consent of Parent in each instance (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed), take any action included within the Improvement Restrictions. Following prior notice from Parent, Marcus and Buyer shall
provide Parent and its representatives reasonable access to the Leased Premises at which the Improvement Projects are being completed (together with
invoices or any other documentation relating to the Improvement Expenses incurred with respect to such Improvement Projects) to monitor the progress
and cost of the Improvement Projects.
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(c) At the Closing, Parent and the Companies shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer a correct and complete statement of
all Improvement Expenses paid, and all Landlord Reimbursements received (or reasonably expected to be received), by Parent and the Companies prior to
the Closing (the “ Pre-Closing Amounts ), including reasonable supporting written evidence of all such Improvement Expenses and Landlord
Reimbursements. As soon as reasonably practicable following the completion of the last Improvement Project to be completed, Buyer shall deliver or
cause to be delivered to Parent (i) a correct and complete statement of all Improvement Expenses paid, and all Landlord Reimbursements received (or
reasonably expected to be received), by Buyer following the Closing (the “ Post-Closing Amounts ), including reasonable supporting written evidence of
all such Improvement Expenses and Landlord Reimbursements; and (ii) based on such Post-Closing Amounts and the Pre-Closing Amounts, a calculation
of (A) the aggregate amount of all Improvement Expenses, (B) the aggregate amount of all Landlord Reimbursements, (C) the Net Improvement
Expenses Amount and (D) the Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount (the “ Proposed Improvement Calculations ). In the event of any dispute
among the parties with respect to the Proposed Improvement Calculations, including the Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount, such dispute shall
be resolved in accordance with the procedures described in Section 2.5(¢c) mutatis mutandis .

(d) If the Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount is a positive number, then (i) Buyer shall be entitled to retain all Luxury
Reimbursements actually received by Buyer and its Affiliates prior to the date on which the Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount is finally
determined pursuant to Section 5.25(c) up to the amount of the Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount, and (ii) if such retained Luxury
Reimbursements are less than the Net Improvement Expenses Overage Amount, then within five (5) Business Days after the date on which the Net
Improvement Expenses Overage Amount is finally determined pursuant to Section 5.25(c) , Buyer and Parent shall deliver a joint written instruction to
the Escrow Agent directing the Escrow Agent to distribute to Buyer cash in the amount of such shortfall from the Escrow Fund.

ARTICLE 6
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 6.1. Conditions to Obligations of all Parties . The obligations of each party to consummate the Contemplated Transactions shall be
subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of the following condition:

(a) There shall be in effect no Law or Governmental Order, and no Action will be pending or threatened which seeks a
Governmental Order, which would (i) prevent consummation of any of the Contemplated Transactions or (ii) result in any of the Contemplated
Transactions being rescinded following consummation.
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(b) Any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have
expired or been terminated.

Section 6.2. Conditions to Obligations of Buyer and Marcus . The obligations of Buyer and Marcus to consummate the Contemplated
Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction, or, to the extent permitted by Law, waiver by Buyer and Marcus of each of the following conditions:

(a) (i) The representations and warranties of the Companies and Parent contained in Section 3.1 (Organization and Qualification),
Section 3.2 (Authority), clause (a) of Section 3.6 (No Violations), Section 3.17 (Brokers), and Section 3.19(a) (Title to Purchased Assets) (collectively,
the “ Parent Fundamental Representations ) shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and on the Closing Date with the
same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are made on and as of a
specified date, in which case the same shall continue on the Closing Date to be true and correct as of the specified date) except de minimis inaccuracies;
and (ii) all other representations and warranties of the Companies and Parent contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects
as of the date of this Agreement and on the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the Closing Date (except to the
extent such representations and warranties are made on and as of a specified date, in which case the same shall continue on the Closing Date to be true
and correct in all material respects as of the specified date); provided that, for the purposes of the foregoing clause (ii) , the qualifications as to materiality
contained in such representations and warranties shall not be given effect.

(b) The Companies and Parent shall have performed in all material respects all covenants and agreements required by this
Agreement to be performed by the Companies and Parent on or prior to the Closing, including the delivery of all documents and instruments required to
be delivered by Parent pursuant to Section 2.4(c) .

(©) Since the Agreement Date, no Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred.
(d) Parent shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate (the “ Parent Bring-Down Certificate ”) of an authorized officer of Parent

and each of the Companies dated as of the Closing Date to the effect that each of the conditions specified above in Section 6.2(a) , Section 6.2(b) and
Section 6.2(c) have been satisfied.

(e) Parent shall have delivered to Buyer one or more certificates in the form of Exhibit H , dated as of the Closing Date,
conforming to the requirements of Treasury Regulations Section 1.445-2(b) that Movie Tavern LLC is an entity disregarded as separate from its owner
and that its owner is not a foreign person within the meaning of Section 1445 of the Code and Movie Tavern, Inc. is not a foreign person within the
meaning of Section 1445 of the Code (the “ FIRPTA Certificates ).
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® Buyer or its designee shall have received New Liquor Permits from each applicable Governmental Entity that authorize (i)
Buyer or its designee the ability to lawfully sell alcoholic beverages at each Theatre; and (ii) customers of each Theatre to consume alcoholic beverages
on site, provided that if Buyer is unable to obtain New Liquor Permits for any Theatre prior to Closing, then Parent or the Companies, as applicable, shall
have delivered executed counterparts to each Interim Liquor Agreement to permit Buyer or its designee the ability to lawfully sell alcoholic beverages at
each Theatre and to permit the consumption of alcohol at each Theatre. For purposes of clarity, the terms and conditions of any Interim Liquor Agreement
shall conform to the requirements set forth in Section 5.18 .

(2) Parent shall have delivered to Buyer executed counterparts of all notices and consents required in connection with the
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions under all Assigned Contracts listed on Schedule 6.2(g) (each, a “ Required Consent ).

(h) Parent shall have delivered to Buyer executed counterparts of all consents and new or amended Contracts required to effect the
separation and assignment to Buyer the benefits of all Film Equipment Agreements and Shared Contracts listed on Part A of Schedule 5.2 (each, a

Required Assignment ).

(1) All Liens respecting the Purchased Assets, other than Permitted Liens, shall have been released, including by delivery of the
Lien Releases to Buyer.

G4 The Vista Segregation shall have been completed, and the Network Connection shall have been established.
Section 6.3. Conditions to Obligations of the Companies and Parent . The obligations of the Companies and Parent to consummate the

Contemplated Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction, or, to the extent permitted by Law, waiver by Parent and the Companies of each of the following
conditions:

(a) (i) The representations and warranties of Marcus and Buyer contained in Section 4.1 (Organization), Section 4.2 (Authority)
and Section 4.3 (Marcus Common Stock) (collectively, together with the Parent Fundamental Representations, the “ Fundamental Representations ™) shall
be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and on the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though made on and as of the
Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are made on and as of a specified date, in which case the same shall continue on
the Closing Date to be true and correct as of the specified date) except de minimis inaccuracies, and (ii) all other representations and warranties contained
in Article 4 shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and on the Closing Date with the same force and effect as though
made on and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are made on and as of a specified date, in which case the
same shall continue on the Closing Date to be true and correct as of the specified date) except to the extent the failure of such representations and
warranties to be true and correct as of such dates has not and would not reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impair or materially delay the
ability of Buyer to consummate the Contemplated Transactions; provided that, for the purposes of the foregoing clause (ii) , the qualifications as to
materiality contained in such representations and warranties shall not be given effect.
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(b) Buyer and Marcus shall have performed in all material respects all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to be
performed by Buyer or Marcus on or prior to the Closing, including the delivery of all documents and instruments required to be delivered by Buyer or
Marcus pursuant to Section 2.4(a) .

() Buyer shall have delivered to Parent a certificate (the “ Buyer Bring-Down Certificate ) of an authorized officer of Buyer and
Marcus dated as of the Closing Date to the effect that each of the conditions specified above in Section 6.3(a) and Section 6.3(b) have been satisfied.

(d) Marcus shall have completed the Registration of the Registrable Securities and such Registration shall be ongoing.
ARTICLE 7
TERMINATION
Section 7.1. Termination of Agreement . This Agreement may be terminated and the Contemplated Transactions may be abandoned at any time
prior to the Closing:
(a) by mutual written consent of Buyer and Parent;
(b) by either Buyer or Parent if a final nonappealable Governmental Order permanently enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the

Contemplated Transactions has been issued by a Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction;

(c) by either Buyer or Parent if the Closing has not occurred on or before 5:00 p.m., New York time, on May 1, 2019, which date
may be extended from time to time by mutual written consent of Buyer and Parent (such date, as so extended from time to time, the “ Termination Date
”); provided that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(c) shall not be available to Buyer if the failure of Buyer to fulfill or breach
by Buyer of any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Closing to occur on or before such date and shall
not be available to Parent if the failure of a Company or Parent to fulfill or breach by any Company or Parent of any obligation under this Agreement has
been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Closing to occur on or before such date and time, and provided , further , that, if the only remaining
unsatisfied condition to Closing on the Termination Date is the condition to Closing set forth in Section 6.2(j) , then the Termination Date shall be
automatically extended for an additional thirty (30) days;
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(d) by Parent if (i) any of the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement fail to be true and correct such
that the condition set forth in Section 6.3(a) would not be satisfied, or (ii) Buyer shall have breached or failed to comply with any of its obligations under
this Agreement such that the condition set forth in Section 6.3(b) would not be satisfied (in either case, other than as a result of a material breach by any
Company or Parent of any of its or their obligations under this Agreement) and such failure or breach with respect to any such representation, warranty or
obligation cannot be cured or, if curable, shall continue unremedied for a period of twenty (20) days after Buyer has received written notice from Parent
of the occurrence of such failure or breach ( provided that in no event shall such twenty (20) day period extend beyond the Termination Date); or

(e) by Buyer if (i) any of the representations and warranties of any Company or Parent contained in this Agreement fail to be true
and correct such that the condition set forth in Section 6.2(a) would not be satisfied, or (ii) any Company or Parent shall have breached or failed to comply
with any of its obligations under this Agreement such that the condition set forth in Section 6.2(b) would not be satisfied (in either case, other than as a
result of a material breach by Buyer of any of its obligations under this Agreement) and such failure or breach with respect to any such representation,
warranty or obligation cannot be cured or, if curable, shall continue unremedied for a period of twenty (20) days after Parent has received written notice
from Buyer of the occurrence of such failure or breach ( provided that in no event shall such twenty (20) day period extend beyond the Termination Date).

Any party desiring to terminate this Agreement shall give written notice of such termination to the other parties.

Section 7.2. Effect of Termination . In the event of a termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 , this Agreement (other than the
provisions of this Article 7. Section 3.17 (No Brokers), Section 4.6 (No Brokers), Section 5.13 (No Public Disclosure), Section 10.3 (Governing Law), Section 10.4
(Jurisdiction and Venue), Section 10.5 (Fees and Expenses) and Section 10.14 (Waiver of Jury Trial), which shall survive such termination) shall then be null and
void and have no further force and effect and all other rights and liabilities of the parties hereunder will terminate without any liability of any party to any other
party, except for liabilities arising in respect of material breaches under this Agreement or Fraud by any party prior to such termination.

ARTICLE 8
SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS; INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.1. Survival of Representations and Covenants . The representations and warranties of the Companies, Parent, Buyer and Marcus
contained in Article 3 and Article 4 or in any certificate or in any certificate delivered by one party to another party pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the
Closing until April 15, 2020; provided that the Specified Representations shall survive the Closing until the date that is sixty (60) days after the expiration of the
applicable statute of limitations, and the Fundamental Representations shall survive the Closing until the date that is sixty (60) months following the Closing Date;
and provided , further , that if any breach, act, omission, disclosure or failure to disclose shall form the basis for a claim for indemnification for breach of more
than one representation or warranty and such claims for indemnification have different periods of survival hereunder, then the expiration of the survival period of
one claim shall not affect the right of any Person entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Agreement to make a claim for indemnification based on the breach of
representation or warranty still surviving. Claims for indemnification under Section 8.2(a)(iii) and (iv) shall survive the Closing until the date that is sixty (60)
months following the Closing Date. The covenants contained in this Agreement shall survive in accordance with their terms and, unless a specific survival period is
set forth in the context of any such covenant, terminate only when and if such covenants are fully performed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claims asserted in
good faith with reasonable specificity and in writing by notice from the non-breaching party to the breaching party prior to the expiration of the applicable survival
period shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of such survival period and such claims shall survive until finally resolved.
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Section 8.2. General Indemnification .

(a) Subject to the other provisions of this Article 8 , from and after the Closing, Parent and the Companies, jointly and severally,
shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Buyer and its Affiliates (including Marcus) and each of such Person’s respective successors, assigns, officers,
directors, employees, members, partners, equity holders, representatives, fiduciaries, managers and agents (each a “ Buyer Indemnitee ”’) from and against
any and all Losses suffered or incurred as a result of or arising from or relating to (i) any breach of, or inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty made
by any Company or Parent in Article 3 or in any certificate or Interim Liquor Agreement delivered by any Company or Parent pursuant to this Agreement
(ignoring, for purposes of determining the existence of any such inaccuracy or breach or the amount of Losses with respect thereto, any “materiality,”
“Material Adverse Effect” or similar qualifier set forth in such representation or warranty); (ii) any breach by any Company or Parent of any of its
covenants or agreements contained herein; (iii) any Excluded Liability; and (iv) Fraud.

(b) Subject to the other provisions of this Article 8 , from and after the Closing, Buyer and Marcus, jointly and severally, shall
indemnify, defend and hold Parent and its Affiliates (including the Companies) and each of such Person’s respective officers, directors, employees, and
agents (each a “ Parent Indemnitee ) harmless from any Loss suffered or incurred as a result of or arising from or relating to (i) any breach of any
representation or warranty made by Buyer or Marcus in Article 4 of this Agreement (ignoring, for purposes of determining the existence of any such
inaccuracy or breach or the amount of claims with respect thereto, any “materiality,” or similar qualifier set forth in such representation or warranty); (ii)
any breach by Buyer or Marcus of any of its covenants or agreements contained herein; and (iii) any Assumed Liability.

(c) The obligations to indemnify and hold harmless pursuant to this Section 8.2 shall survive the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby for the applicable period set forth in Section 8.1 and shall then expire, except that claims for indemnification with respect to which
written notice to the applicable Responsible Party was provided by the applicable Indemnified Party prior to the end of such applicable period, shall
survive until final resolution thereof.
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Section 8.3. Third Party Claims; Notice of Other Claims .

(a) If an Action by a Person who is not a party hereto or an Affiliate thereof (a *“ Third Party Claim ) is made in writing against
any Person entitled to indemnification pursuant to Section 8.2 (an ““ Indemnified Party ”), and if such Indemnified Party intends to seek indemnity with
respect thereto under this Article 8 , such Indemnified Party shall promptly give a Notice of Claim to the party obligated to indemnify such Indemnified
Party (such notified party, the  Responsible Party ”); provided that the failure to give such Notice of Claim shall not relieve the Responsible Party of its
obligations hereunder, except to the extent that the Responsible Party is actually and materially prejudiced thereby. The Responsible Party shall have
thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice to assume (by written notice to the Indemnified Party) the conduct and control, through counsel reasonably
acceptable to the Indemnified Party and at the expense of the Responsible Party, of the settlement or defense thereof, and the Indemnified Party shall
cooperate with the Responsible Party in connection therewith; provided that the Responsible Party acknowledges in writing that it has an indemnification
obligation hereunder with respect to any Losses that may be incurred by the Indemnified Party in connection with the Third Party Claim; and provided ,
further , that the Responsible Party shall not be entitled to assume the defense of a Third Party Claim if (i) such Third Party Claim seeks an injunction or
other equitable relief against any Indemnified Party, (ii) an Indemnified Party is advised by counsel that an actual or potential conflict exists between the
Indemnified Party and the Responsible Party in connection with the defense of the Third Party Claim, (iii) the Third Party Claim relates to or otherwise
arises in connection with any criminal or regulatory enforcement action (other than an action with respect to Taxes), investigation, suit or proceeding or
(iv) settlement of, an adverse judgment with respect to, or conduct of the defense of the Third Party Claim by the Responsible Party is, in the good faith
judgment of the Indemnified Party, likely to be adverse to the Indemnified Party’s reputation or continuing business interests. If the Responsible Party
assumes control of the defense of any Third Party Claim, then the Responsible Party shall permit the Indemnified Party to participate in such settlement or
defense through counsel chosen by such Indemnified Party (the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be borne by such Indemnified Party). For the
avoidance of doubt, any fees and expenses of separate counsel retained by any Indemnified Party that are incurred after the expiration of the thirty (30)
day period set forth above and prior to the Responsible Party’s assumption of control of the defense of the Third Party Claim shall be subject to
indemnification hereunder. So long as the Responsible Party is reasonably and diligently contesting any such claim in good faith, the Indemnified Party
shall not pay or settle any such claim. If the Responsible Party elects to conduct the defense and settlement of a Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party
shall retain the right to pay or settle such Third Party Claim; provided that, in such event, it shall waive any right to indemnity hereunder for all Losses
related to such claim unless the Responsible Party shall have consented to such payment or settlement (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed). The Responsible Party shall not, except with the consent of the Indemnified Party compromise, enter into any settlement or
consent to entry of any judgment that (w) imposes any injunctive relief or other equitable relief against the Indemnified Party, (x) does not include as a
term thereof the giving by the Person(s) asserting such claim to all Indemnified Parties of an express and unconditional release from all liability with
respect to such claim, (y) requires any monetary payment (other than a payment subject to the Threshold) which is not concurrently paid in full by the
Responsible Party or (z) involves any finding or admission of any violation of any Law or the rights of any Persons. If the Responsible Party does not
notify the Indemnified Party within thirty (30) days after the receipt of the Indemnified Party’s Notice of Claim hereunder that it elects to undertake the
defense thereof, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to contest, settle or compromise the claim but shall not thereby waive any right to indemnity
therefor pursuant to this Agreement.
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(b) All of the parties hereto shall cooperate in the defense or prosecution of any Third Party Claim in respect of which indemnity
may be sought hereunder and the Indemnified Party (or a duly authorized representative of such party) shall furnish such records, information and
testimony, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, trials and appeals, as may be reasonably requested in connection therewith;
provided that, if the interests of the parties become adverse to one another, then the parties shall comply with the applicable rules of discovery and shall
not be permitted to rely on this Section 8.3(b) .

(c) In the event that any Indemnified Party wishes to make a claim for indemnification under this Article 8 , the Indemnified Party
shall give a Notice of Claim to the Responsible Party within any applicable time limitations contained in Section 8.1 . Any such notice shall describe (i)
the breach or inaccuracy, Excluded Liability or Fraud upon which such claim is based in reasonable detail in light of the facts then known to the
Indemnified Party and (ii) the Indemnified Party’s reasonable good faith estimate of the amount of Losses related to such breach or inaccuracy, Excluded
Liability or Fraud for which the Indemnified Party may be entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Article 8 ; provided that no defect in the
information contained in such notice from the Indemnified Party to the Responsible Party will relieve such Responsible Party from any obligation under
this Article 8 , except to the extent such failure to include information actually and materially prejudices such Responsible Party.

Section 8.4. Limitations on Indemnification Obligations . The rights to indemnification pursuant to the provisions of Section 8.2 are subject to
the following limitations:

(a) the Buyer Indemnitees shall not be entitled to recover Losses pursuant to clause (i) of Section 8.2(a) until the total amount
which the Buyer Indemnitees would be entitled to recover under clause (i) of Section 8.2(a) (as limited by the other provisions of this Section 8.4 )
exceeds $650,000 (the *“ Threshold ), in which case the Buyer Indemnitees shall only be entitled to recover Losses in excess of such amount, and in no
event shall the aggregate recovery of Losses by Buyer Indemnitees pursuant to clause (i) of Section 8.2(a) exceed $10,000,000, subject to the other
limitations set forth in this Section 8.4 ; provided that this Section 8.4(a) shall not apply to Losses suffered or incurred as a result of or arising from or
relating to any breach of, or inaccuracy in any Fundamental Representation.
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(b) with respect to any Losses for which the Buyer Indemnitees may be entitled to indemnification pursuant to clause (i) of
Section 8.2(a) , Parent shall not be liable for any individual or series of related Losses which do not exceed $50,000 (which Losses shall not be counted
towards the Threshold); provided that this Section 8.4(b) shall not apply to Losses suffered or incurred as a result of or arising from or relating to any
breach of or inaccuracy in any Fundamental Representation.

(c) in no event shall the aggregate recovery of Losses by Buyer Indemnitees pursuant to clause (i) of Section 8.2(a) with respect to
any breach of a Fundamental Representation, or pursuant to any of clauses (ii) , (iii) or (iv) of Section 8.2(a) , exceed the Purchase Price, in each case,
subject to the other limitations set forth in this Section 8.4 ;

(d) the amount of any Losses recoverable by Buyer Indemnitee pursuant to Section 8.2(a) shall be determined net of (i) the
amount of any such Losses that were set forth on the Final Closing Statement and included in the calculation of the Final Cash Purchase Price pursuant to
Section 2.5(c) ; (ii) the amount of any indemnification payment actually received by any Buyer Indemnitee from any third party in respect of such Losses;
and (iii) the amount of any insurance proceeds actually received by any Buyer Indemnitee from any third party insurer with respect to such Losses, in
each case of clause (ii) and (iii) , net of any deductibles or other reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Buyer Indemnitee in procuring such
recovery; provided , however , that (A) if Parent or any Company pays to any Buyer Indemnitee an amount in respect of Losses and any Buyer
Indemnitee thereafter receives from a third party a sum in respect of such Losses, then Buyer shall promptly tender to Parent an amount equal to the lesser
of such sum and the amount that Parent or such Company paid in respect of such Losses; and (B) Buyer shall, and shall cause the other Buyer
Indemnitees to, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain available recoveries as contemplated by clauses (ii) and (iii) of this Section 8.4(d) ;
provided that such commercially reasonable efforts shall not obligate Buyer or any Buyer Indemnitee to expend any amount of money other than de
minimis amounts (unless such other amounts are advanced by Parent or the Companies), commence any Action, or otherwise take any action that could
reasonably be expected to have an adverse impact on the Business;

(e) no party shall be liable for any punitive or exemplary damages (except to the extent paid in connection with a Third Party
Claim or Fraud); and

® the Buyer Indemnitees shall not be entitled to recover Losses pursuant to clause (iii) of Section 8.2(a) in respect of any
Environmental Liability that is discovered through or during any intrusive or subsurface investigations or other sampling of environmental media
undertaken other than (i) in connection with any necessary or ordinary course maintenance or repairs, (ii) in connection with any improvement, remodel
or development activity at any Theatre, (iii) as required by Law or at the direction of a Governmental Entity, or (iv) as deemed necessary or advisable by
Buyer based on the advice of counsel.
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Section 8.5. Exclusive Remedy . Notwithstanding anything else contained in this Agreement to the contrary but subject to Section 10.16 , the
provisions of this Article 8 shall be the exclusive remedy for the parties hereto for any misrepresentation or breach of this Agreement.

Section 8.6. Manner of Payment .

(a) Any amount payable by Parent and the Companies to any Buyer Indemnitee pursuant to clause (i) of Section 8.2(a) (including
any amounts adjudicated due upon judgment or other judicial or arbitral determination, unless appealed, or agreed to be paid by settlement or compromise
of a Third Party Claim, and after giving effect to the limitations on indemnification set forth in Section 8.4 ) shall be paid exclusively from the then
remaining balance of the Escrow Fund, by release of funds to such Buyer Indemnitee by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Escrow Agreement, and the release of such funds shall accordingly reduce the balance of the Escrow Fund; provided that this Section 8.6(a) shall not
apply to the amount of any Losses suffered or incurred by any Buyer Indemnitee as a result of or arising from or relating to any breach of or inaccuracy in
any Fundamental Representation.

(b) Any amount payable by Parent and the Companies to any Buyer Indemnitee pursuant to (i) clause (i) of Section 8.2(a) in
respect of any Losses suffered or incurred by any Buyer Indemnitee as a result of or arising from or relating to any breach of or inaccuracy in any
Fundamental Representation, or (ii) any of clauses (ii) , (iii) or (iv) of Section 8.2(a) (in each case, including any amounts adjudicated due upon judgment
or other judicial or arbitral determination, unless appealed, or agreed to be paid by settlement or compromise of a Third Party Claim, and after giving
effect to the limitations on indemnification set forth in Section 8.4 ) shall be paid first from the then remaining balance of the Escrow Fund, by release of
funds to such Buyer Indemnitee by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Escrow Agreement, and the release of such funds shall
accordingly reduce the balance of the Escrow Fund, and in the event that the then remaining balance of the Escrow Fund is insufficient to pay the entire
amount payable to the Buyer Indemnitee, Parent and the Companies, jointly and severally, shall pay the remaining amount payable to the Buyer
Indemnitee by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by the applicable Buyer Indemnitee within fifteen (15)
days after the determination thereof (or, at the option of the applicable Buyer Indemnitee, by setoff of other amounts owing to Parent or any Company
hereunder, including any positive Actual Adjustment, Virtual Print Fees, Luxury Reimbursements or Payment Dispute recoveries). Any amount payable
by Buyer to any Parent Indemnitee pursuant to this Article 8 (including any amounts adjudicated due upon judgment or other judicial or arbitral
determination, unless appealed, or agreed to be paid by settlement or compromise of a Third Party Claim) shall be paid by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated in writing by the applicable Parent Indemnitee within fifteen (15) days after the determination thereof.
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Section 8.7. Treatment of Indemnification Payments . Each party will treat indemnification payments pursuant to this Article 8 as adjustments to
the Final Cash Purchase Price for all purposes, unless applicable Law requires otherwise.

Section 8.8. Mitigation . Each party shall take all actions required by applicable Law to mitigate all Losses incurred or reasonably expected to be
incurred by it or any Indemnified Party it controls upon becoming aware of any fact, event of circumstance which has resulted in, or would reasonably be expected
to give rise to, any such Loss. The parties shall reasonably cooperate with each other to the extent permitted by applicable Law with respect to resolving any claim
or liability underlying any Loss with respect to which one party is obligated to indemnify any Person hereunder.

ARTICLE 9
TAX MATTERS
Section 9.1. Payroll . The parties agree to use the “standard procedure” set forth in Revenue Procedure 2004-53 with respect to wage reporting.

The parties agree that, with respect to each Transferred Employee, Parent or the applicable Company and Buyer respectively meet the definition of “predecessor”
and “successor” as defined in the Treas. Reg. Section 31.3121(a)(1)-(b). The parties agree to reasonably cooperate with each other with respect to payroll reporting
matters.

Section 9.2. Transfer Taxes . Parent shall be responsible for and shall pay all local, foreign or other excise, sales, use, value added, transfer
(including real property transfer or gains), stamp, documentary, filing, recordation and other similar Taxes and fees that may be incurred in connection with the
Contemplated Transactions, together with any inflation adjustment, interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any inflation adjustment or interest with
respect to such additions or penalties (collectively, “ Transfer Taxes ™). Parent shall, at its own cost, prepare and timely file or cause to be filed all necessary
documentation and Tax Returns with respect to such Transfer Taxes and provide copies thereof to Buyer; provided that Buyer shall join in the execution of any
such Tax Returns or other documentation if required by applicable Law.

Section 9.3. Cooperation on Tax Matters . The parties and their respective Affiliates will reasonably cooperate, as and to the extent reasonably
requested by any party hereto, in connection with any Tax matters relating to the Companies (including by the provision of reasonably relevant records or
information). The party requesting such cooperation will pay the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the other parties.

ARTICLE 10
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 10.1. Entire Agreement; Assignment . This Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules attached hereto) and the Ancillary

Documents constitute the entire agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all other prior agreements and
understandings, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof (including the Confidentiality Agreement). Neither this
Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned, delegated or otherwise transferred by Buyer, on the one hand, or Parent, on
the other hand (whether by operation of Law or otherwise), without the prior written consent of Parent or Buyer, respectively; provided that Buyer may assign its
rights and delegate its obligations under this Agreement to any Affiliate of Buyer without the written consent of Parent; and provided , further , that no such
assignment shall relieve the Buyer of any liability or obligation hereunder. Any attempted assignment of this Agreement not in accordance with the terms of this
Section 10.1 shall be null and void.
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Section 10.2. Notices . All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly given (a) upon delivery in person, (b) on the first Business Day following the day on which the same has been sent (charges prepaid) by reputable
national overnight air courier service for next day delivery or (c) on the date of transmission by E-mail (in .pdf format) if transmitted prior to 5:00 pm (Eastern
time) on a Business Day (and otherwise on the first Business Day following such date); provided that the sender also sends a confirming copy in the manner
described by clause (b) on the date of such transmission, in each case to the other parties hereto at the address or E-mail address, as applicable, as follows:

If to Buyer or Marcus, to :

The Marcus Corporation

100 East Wisconsin Avenue

Milwaukee, WI 53202

Attention: Thomas F. Kissinger, General Counsel
E-mail: tomkissinger@marcuscorp.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to Buyer) to :

Steven R. Barth

Spencer T. Moats

Foley & Lardner LLP

777 East Wisconsin Avenue

Milwaukee, WI 53202

Facsimile: (414) 297-4900

E-mail: sbarth@foley.com
smoats@foley.com

If to Parent or the Companies, to :

c/o Veronis Suhler Stevenson
390 Park Avenue, 13 ' Floor
New York, NY 10022
Attention: Trent Hickman
E-mail: hickmant@vss.com
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with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to Parent) to :

VSS-Southern Holdings LLC
935 Gravier St., Suite 1200
New Orleans, LA 70112

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to Parent) to :

Ropes & Gray LLP

1211 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036

Attention: Joshua Leuchtenburg and Carl Marcellino
E-mail: joshua.leuchtenburg@ropesgray.com;
carl.marcellino@ropesgray.com

or to such other address, facsimile number or e-mail address, as applicable, as the party to whom notice is given may have previously furnished to the other parties
in writing in the manner set forth above.

Section 10.3. Governing Law . This Agreement, the rights of the parties hereunder and any Action in any way arising out of or relating to this
Agreement, the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (whether at law or in equity, and
whether sounding in contract or in tort or otherwise) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect
to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the law of
any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.

Section 10.4. Jurisdiction and Venue . Subject to the dispute resolution procedures provided in Section 2.5(d) , each of the parties hereto submits
to the exclusive jurisdiction first in any federal court, and second to any state court, in either case, located in the city of Wilmington, Delaware in any Action
arising out of or relating to this Agreement, agrees that all claims in respect of the Action may be heard and determined in any such court and agrees not to bring
any Action arising out of or relating to this Agreement in any other court. Each of the parties hereto waives any defense of inconvenient forum to the maintenance
of any Action so brought and waives any bond, surety or other security that might be required of any other party with respect thereto. Each party hereto agrees that
service of summons and complaint or any other process that might be served in any Action may be made on such party by sending or delivering a copy of the
process to the party to be served at the address of the party and in the manner provided for the giving of notices in Section 10.2 . Nothing in this Section 10.4 ,
however, shall affect the right of any party to serve legal process in any other manner permitted by Law. Each party hereto agrees that a final, non-appealable
judgment in any Action so brought shall be conclusive and may be enforced by suit on the judgment in any jurisdiction or in any other manner provided by Law.
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Section 10.5. Fees and Expenses . Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including the
fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants and appraisal fees, costs and expenses, shall be paid by the party hereto incurring such fees
or expenses.

Section 10.6. Construction; Interpretation . The term “this Agreement” means this Asset Purchase Agreement together with all Schedules and
Exhibits hereto, as the same may from time to time be amended, modified, supplemented or restated in accordance with the terms hereof. The headings contained
in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. No party hereto, nor its
respective counsel, shall be deemed the drafter of this Agreement for purposes of construing or enforcing the provisions hereof, and all provisions of this
Agreement shall be construed according to their fair meaning and not strictly for or against any party, and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or
disfavoring any Person by virtue of its authorship of any provision of this Agreement. Unless otherwise indicated to the contrary herein by the context or use
thereof: (a) the words, “herein,” “hereto,” “hereof” and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole, including the Schedules and Exhibits, and not
to any particular section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or clause contained in this Agreement; (b) masculine gender shall also include the feminine and
neutral genders, and vice versa; (¢) words importing the singular shall also include the plural, and vice versa; (d) the words “include,” “includes” or “including”
shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; (e) the word “extent” in the phrase “to the extent” shall mean the degree to which a subject or
other thing extends, and such phrase shall not mean simply “if”; (f) the words “dollar” and “$” mean dollars in the lawful currency of the United States of America;
and (g) the word “or” shall not be deemed to be exclusive (i.e., “or” shall mean “and/or”).

Section 10.7. Exhibits and Schedules . All Exhibits and Schedules hereto are hereby incorporated into this Agreement and are hereby made a part
hereof as if set out in full in this Agreement. Any item disclosed on any Schedule referenced by a particular section in this Agreement shall be deemed to have been
disclosed with respect to each other section in this Agreement with respect to which the relevance of such disclosure to such other section is reasonably apparent on
its face. The specification of any dollar amount in the representations or warranties contained in this Agreement or the inclusion of any specific item in any
Schedule is not intended to imply that such amounts, or higher or lower amounts or the items so included or other items, are or are not material, and no party shall
use the fact of the setting of such amounts or the inclusion of any such item in any dispute or controversy as to whether any obligation, items or matter not
described herein or included in a Schedule is or is not material for purposes of this Agreement.

Section 10.8. Parties in Interest . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each party and its successors and
permitted assigns and, except as provided in Article 8 , nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other person any
rights, benefits or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the Buyer Indemnitees and Parent
Indemnitees not party hereto are intended third party beneficiaries of, and shall have the right to enforce, Article 8 of this Agreement, and (ii) the third parties not
party hereto that are referred to in Section 10.15 are intended third party beneficiaries of, and shall have the right to enforce, Section 10.15 of this Agreement.
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Section 10.9. Severability . Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and valid
under applicable Law, but if any term or other provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable under applicable Law, all other provisions
of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any
manner materially adverse to any party hereto. Upon such determination that any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable
under applicable Law, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible
in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

Section 10.10. Amendment . Subject to applicable Law, this Agreement may be amended or modified only by written agreement executed and
delivered by duly authorized officers of Buyer, on the one hand, and Parent, on the other hand. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except as
provided in the immediately preceding the sentence and any purported amendment by any party or parties hereto effected in a manner which does not comply with
this Section 10.10 shall be null and void.

Section 10.11. Extension; Waiver . Parent may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of Buyer contained
herein, (b) waive any breaches of, or inaccuracies in, the representations and warranties of Buyer contained herein or (c) waive compliance by Buyer with any of
the agreements or conditions contained herein. Buyer may, at any time, (x) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the
Companies or Parent contained herein, (y) waive any breaches of, or inaccuracies in, the representations and warranties of the Companies or Parent contained
herein or in any document, certificate or writing delivered by the Companies or Parent pursuant hereto or (z) waive compliance by the Companies or Parent with
any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any agreement on the part of any party hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth
in a written instrument signed on behalf of such party. Any waiver of any term or condition shall not be construed as a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach or
a prior or subsequent waiver of the same term or condition, or a waiver of any other term or condition of this Agreement. The failure of any party hereto to assert
any of its rights hereunder shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.

Section 10.12. Counterparts: Facsimile Signatures . This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to
be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by
facsimile, E-mail or scanned pages shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart to this Agreement.

Section 10.13. Further Cooperation . Subject to the limitations on Buyer’s and its Affiliates’ obligations set forth in Section 5.1(a) , from and after
the Closing Date, each party shall execute and deliver such documents and take such other actions as another party reasonably requests to fully consummate the
Contemplated Transactions.
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Section 10.14. Waiver of Jury Trial . The parties to this Agreement each hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any right to trial by
jury of any Action (a) arising under this Agreement or (b) in any way connected with or related or incidental to the dealings of the parties hereto in respect of this
Agreement or any of the transactions related hereto, in each case, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and whether in contract, tort, equity, or otherwise.
Each of the parties to this Agreement hereby agrees and consents that any such Action shall be decided by court trial without a jury and that the parties to this
Agreement may file an original counterpart of a copy of this Agreement with any court as written evidence of the consent of the parties hereto to the waiver of their
right to trial by jury.

Section 10.15. No Recourse . No shareholder or member (other than, in the case of the Companies, Parent), director, manager, officer, employee or
agent of Parent or the Companies shall have any responsibility or obligation with respect to any Liability or agreement of Parent or the Companies under this
Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement (unless such Person is a party thereto). No shareholder or member (other than, in the case of Buyer, Marcus), director,
manager, officer, employee or agent of Buyer or Marcus shall have any responsibility or obligation with respect to any Liability or agreement of Buyer or Marcus
under this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement (unless such Person is a party thereto).

Section 10.16. Remedies . The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage for which monetary damages, even if available, may not be an adequate
remedy, may occur in the event that the parties hereto do not perform the provisions of this Agreement (including failing to take such actions as are required of it
hereunder to consummate this Agreement) in accordance with its specified terms or otherwise breach such provisions. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree
that each party hereto shall be entitled to seek an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce
specifically the terms and provisions hereof, this being in addition to any other remedy to which such party is entitled at law or in equity.

| Signature Pages Follow |
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each of the parties has caused this Asset Purchase Agreement to be duly executed on its behalf as of the day and year first
above written.

COMPANIES: MOVIE TAVERN, INC.

By: /s/ James W. Wood

Name: James W. Wood
Title: Chief Financial Officer

MOVIE TAVERN THEATRES, LLC

By: /s/ James W. Wood

Name: James W. Wood
Title: Chief Financial Officer

TGS BEVERAGE COMPANY, LLC
By: /s/ James W. Wood

Name: James W. Wood
Title: Member-Manager

[ Asset Purchase Agreement |




BUYER: MMT TEXNY, LLC

By: Marcus Cinemas of Wisconsin, LLC,
its Sole Member

By: /s/ Thomas F. Kissinger

Name: Thomas F. Kissinger
Title: President

MMT LAPAGAVA, LLC

By: Marcus Midwest, LLC,
its Sole Member

By: /s/ Thomas F. Kissinger

Name: Thomas F. Kissinger
Title: President

MARCUS: THE MARCUS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Thomas F. Kissinger

Name: Thomas F. Kissinger
Title: Senior Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
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PARENT:

VSS-SOUTHERN THEATRES LLC

By: /s/ John Peter Caparella, Jr.

Name: John Peter Caparella, Jr.
Title: Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ James W. Wood

Name: James W. Wood
Title: Chief Financial Officer

[ Asset Purchase Agreement ]




Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Rule 13a-14(a)
or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Gregory S. Marcus, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Marcus Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

DATE: November 6, 2018
By: /s/ Gregory S. Marcus

Gregory S. Marcus
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Rule 13a-14(a)
or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Douglas A. Neis, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Marcus Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

DATE: November 6, 2018

By: /s/ Douglas A. Neis
Douglas A. Neis
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer




Exhibit 32

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350

Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. §1350, we, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of The Marcus Corporation
(the “Company™), hereby certify, based on our knowledge, that the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company (the “Report”) fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Gregory S. Marcus
Gregory S. Marcus
President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Douglas A. Neis
Douglas A. Neis
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Date: November 6, 2018




